The ladies' physician : a guide for women in the treatment of their ailments / by a London physician.

Contributors

London physician.

Publication/Creation

London : Cassell, 1891.

Persistent URL

https://wellcomecollection.org/works/ub4ypqyc

License and attribution

This work has been identified as being free of known restrictions under copyright law, including all related and neighbouring rights and is being made available under the Creative Commons, Public Domain Mark.

You can copy, modify, distribute and perform the work, even for commercial purposes, without asking permission.



Wellcome Collection 183 Euston Road London NW1 2BE UK T +44 (0)20 7611 8722 E library@wellcomecollection.org https://wellcomecollection.org



The Library of the Wellcome Institute for the History of Medicine

MEDICAL SOCIETY OF LONDON DEPOSIT

Accession Number

Press Mark

LADIES'



Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2015

https://archive.org/details/b20393842



THE

LADIES' PHYSICIAN.

A Guide for Momen

IN THE

TREATMENT OF THEIR AILMENTS.

BY A LONDON PHYSICIAN.

NINTH EDITION.

CANCELLED

CASSELL & COMPANY, LIMITED: LONDON, PARIS & MELBOURNE.

1891.

[ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.]

14786850

NOTE.—This Volume contains an account only of those ailments which are peculiar to the Female sex. For ordinary ailments common to both sexes, the Diseases of Children, Hints on Nursing and the Management of Health, the reader is referred to the "FAMILY PHYSICIAN," issued by the same Publishers.

New and Revised Edition. Royal Svo, 1,088 pages, cloth, 21s.; roxburgh, 25s. THE FAMILY PHYSICIAN: A Modern Manual of Domestic Medicine. BY PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF THE PRINCIPAL

LONDON HOSPITALS.

Cassell & Company, Limited : London, Paris & Melbourne.



CONTENTS.

CHAPTER I.

PUBERTY .- Importance of-Age at which Menstruation first appears-Conditions which affect it-Climate-Race-Hereditary Tendencies-Social Position-Habitation-Change of Figure preceding the Appearance of Menstruation-Diet at this Period-Clothing-Exercise. . .

CHAPTER II.

SYMPTOMS OF MENSTRUATION-DISOBDERS OF MENSTRUATION. -Scantiness or Absence of-Causes of such Condition-Treatment-Suppression of Menstruation-Causes of-Consumption-Disease of Kidneys-Green Sickness and Pallor-Treatment-Hæmorrhage and other Discharges-Mental Emotion-Treatment . . 13

CHAPTER III.

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION (continued). - Flooding, or Menorrhagia, Causes of-Fibroid Tumours of the Womb -Polypus of the Womb-Cancer of the Uterus-Ulceration of the Womb-Subinvolution-Good Effects of Nursing-Evil Effects of Over-nursing-Inflammation of the Womb-Inversion of the Womb-Hæmorrhage into the Tissues in the Neighbourhood of the Womb . . 44

PAGE

· CONTENTS

CHAPTER IV.

PAGE

167

910

CHAPTER V.

THE	WHITES-	DISCHARGES-HOW				TO	USE	IN-	100				
J	ECTIONS									•	•	128	,

CHAPTER VI.

SUBSTANCES EXPELLED FROM THE WOMB-MOLES, &C. . . 142

CHAPTER VII.

CHAPTER VIII.

DISORDERS OF MICTURITION	•	
CHAPTER IX.		
ENLARGEMENT OF THE ABDOMEN-OVARIAN TUMOURS	•	171
CHAPTER X.		
THE SIGNS OF PREGNANCY	•	, 180
CHAPTER XI.		

THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY			• •	•	
---------------------------	--	--	-----	---	--

CONTENTS.

CHAPTER XII.

CHAPTER XIII.

MISCARRIAGE OR ABORTION.—Causes of—Symptoms of . 241

CHAPTER XIV.

THE MANAGEMENT OF	FΗ	REC	NANC	Y	-Food-	-Clo	thing	-Baths	
-Exercise-Sleep	,								250

CHAPTER XV.

CHAPTER XVI.

MANAGEMENT OF THE NEW-BORN INFANT.—Clothing—Food— Wet-nurse — Feeding-bottles — Sleep, Cleanliness, and Bathing—Light, Air, and Exercise—Diseases of Infancy . 277

CHAPTER XVII.

MONTHLY NURSING .

. 293



v

PAGE



+0+-

CHAPTER I.

PUBERTY.

Importance of—Age at which Menstruation first appears—Conditions which affect it—Climate—Race—Hereditary Tendencies —Social Position—Habitation—Change of Figure preceding the Appearance of Menstruation—Diet at this Period—Clothing—Exercise.

PUBERTY — the time of transition from girlhood to womanhood—forms one of the most important epochs in the life of the human female. It is a time when great demands are made upon the constitution, in consequence of the rapid development of the intellectual, the emotional, and the generative systems. It is one peculiarly liable to disturbance of the physiological processes which naturally go on in the body, and to attacks of disease. Marked care should be taken of the young girl at this period, with a view to favour the natural processes which are taking place, to ward off evil influences, and establish the general health as well as the functions of special organs. One of the most marked of the latter is the discharge, every

month, of a sanguineous fluid from the generative organs-or menstruation. When this function is naturally and healthily established, it is generally and rightly considered that a great crisis has been passed. When, on the other hand, it is not established at the proper time, or but imperfectly, the condition of the young subject is regarded as one of anxiety. Every mother should be acquainted with the physiology of this subject and this period, in order that she may know what to expect, understand the meaning and value of certain peculiar symptoms which not unfrequently make their appearance at this epoch, recognise those of evil omen, and place her child in . the most favourable conditions to pass through a time which must always be regarded as one of considerable anxiety in a favourable manner.

At this period, physical and moral care and education are of peculiar importance, for lack of either may result in disease, which can with difficulty be eradicated; while, on the other hand, both the mind and body are in such a plastic state that by proper treatment they can be moulded, in a great measure, according to desire.

The above observations are more or less true of infancy, childhood, and the whole period of growth and development, but they are especially true of the time when a function which is acted upon by, and

PUBERTY.

reacts upon, all the other functions of the organism in such a marked and mysterious manner as the function of the organs of generation is being developed and established.

We will, therefore, in this chapter briefly describe the changes which take place at this period, and point out the general home treatment that is likely to lead to a favourable issue.

The Age at which Menstruation first appears .--This varies considerably in different individuals. The average age, calculated from observations made in a very large number of cases, is in this country about the fifteenth year. It may, however, appear much earlier, and may be retarded to a much later age. Indeed, instances are known in which infants have suffered from a monthly discharge of sanguineous fluid from the genital organs, accompanied by all the symptoms of menstruation. On the other hand, cases are on record in which the appearance of the menstrual function has been delayed until after the thirtieth year. Both are, however, of great rarity, and should be regarded rather as curiosities than as normal evolutions. It is, at the same time, well to bear in mind the possibility of such occurrences, especially as mothers are liable to become over-anxious about a retarded puberty, and desirous to force the appearance of what the young girl is not yet prepared for. There are other rare cases

4

in which menstruation never appears throughout life, or where it is established only after marriage or after pregnancy. The cases where the function is never performed are, probably, instances of deficient development, or absence of some of the organs of generation; while those in which it is established only after marriage are cases in which those organs have not attained full development before marriage was contracted.

There are several conditions which appear to exercise a marked influence on the time of the first appearance of this monthly flow. Amongst these the most important are climate, race, hereditary tendencies, social position, and town and country life.

Climate.—In our own climate there is, it is true, a great variation in the time of the appearance of the first flow in different women, but, as has been said, the average age is about the fifteenth year. In hot countries, as India, the average age is about thirteen; while in cold climates, as in the North of Europe, menstruation is not established until about the seventeenth year. Moreover, in hot climates girls pass into womanhood, and women become old, at an earlier period of life than those who dwell in colder climates.

Race.—Inasmuch as different races inhabit different climates, it is difficult to attach to race and climate the exact influence each exercises on the first appearance of the menstruation. Both usually act together, and

PUBERTY.

the influence of each is in the same direction; yet it cannot be doubted that race plays a marked influence in determining the first performance of the function we are considering; for Englishwomen brought up in India menstruate for the first time about fifteen, while the Hindoo women are regular at the age of twelve or thirteen. Observations made in several nations prove the same thing; but none are more striking than the one just mentioned.

Hereditary Tendencies.—The females of some families menstruate early, while in those of other families the function is late in its appearance. Occasionally the daughter becomes regular for the first time at the same age that the menstruation first appeared in the mother. This may happen in two or three generations, though, owing to numerous causes, it occurs only rarely.

Social Position has a determining influence on the date of the first appearance of the catamenia, or menstruation. Girls of the higher classes of society, who lead luxurious, sedentary lives, whose diet is rich, stimulating, and abundant, are regular at a somewhat earlier age than those whose fare is scanty, who work hard, and are accustomed to muscular exercise, &c.

The last element which exerts an influence on the appearance of the monthly flow which we shall mention is *Habitation*. Those who live in large towns, and who are subject to the exciting influences of the social life of cities, menstruate earlier than women who live in the country.

All these conditions should be kept in mind when the time of puberty is approaching, so as to have some idea of the time when the appearance of the monthly flux may be expected, and to relieve any anxiety that may be felt on account of its precocity or retardation.

The quantity of the discharge varies much in different women, and consequently it is impossible to fix the exact amount proper to any individual subject. The personal experience of the female herself alone can do this. In some the flow is habitually scanty, lasting a day or two only; while in others it is profuse, lasting seven or eight days. In the great majority of cases, however, it lasts from three to five days. By the Mosaic law, five days was fixed as its duration. It is not improbable, however, that, owing to peculiarities of the race and the climate inhabited by them at the time the laws were given, its duration was somewhat more prolonged than it is usually in our country.

In many cases menstruation makes its appearance suddenly and unexpectedly, without any previous warning. In some cases accidents, falls, over-exertion, or horse-riding, may determine the first flux. A girl should always be forewarned against being frightened when this happens, by being duly and properly

MENSTRUATION.

informed beforehand of the changes that are taking place in her system, and of what she may expect. This is the mother's duty; and the due performance of it may not unfrequently save from very serious consequences. It has happened that the flux has taken a girl unawares, that she has become frightened, thought herself injured, and bathed herself with cold water, checked the flow, and thus caused very serious illness. This is due only to gross negligence of duty on the part of those who have charge of her; for it should never be possible for her to find herself in such an unfortunate and cruel position.

Usually, however, Nature warns both mother and daughter of what is coming : changes that cannot be misinterpreted by the initiated take place in the organisation of the young girl, which point out that the period of transition to womanhood is approaching.

The form—no longer thin, angular, and clumsy becomes plump, rounded, and graceful. The gait becomes firm and animated. The chest enlarges, the hips grow broader, the breasts develop and become full and round. The whole body, indeed, partakes in the process of development—the girl becomes **a** woman.

Besides interpreting the meaning of these changes to her daughter, a mother may do much to favour the normal performance of the function of menstruation,

and to preserve and establish the health of her child at this critical period. Her efforts should be directed to physical and moral training. With regard to the latter we shall say little or nothing, but the former falls in an especial manner within our province. And first of all of

Food.-The rapid growth of the body, the development of its various organs, and especially of the system of generation, demand an abundant supply of nourishing material. By this is not meant luxurious living; that would be productive of mischief. Besides laying the foundation for habits of indulgence and of ease, it has, as has already been mentioned, a tendency to bring about a too early advent of menstruation, before the system is properly prepared for the drain which that function entails, and before the organs concerned in its performance have attained the degree of maturity requisite for its healthy continuance. It is not luxurious living, then, but plain, wholesome nutritious food should be the fare of the young girl who is approaching the period of puberty: meat twice a day, plainly cooked, with vegetables, milk, and fruit puddings. Stimulants-even beerare, as a rule, quite unnecessary.

Clothing.—Girls should be warmly clad from an early period. They should wear flannel next the skin, a flannel vest, and drawers drawn closely, but

MENSTRUATION.

not tightly, round the leg, just below the knee. Warm clothing is particularly necessary when puberty appears: especially should exposure to severe cold when imperfectly clad be avoided during the menstrual epochs. Imprudence in this respect may be productive of severe mischief, as will be pointed out in the next chapter. It is better to wear flannel next the skin than to interpose linen between, because the former not only prevents the dispersion of the heat of the body, and so preserves the general warmth, but it also gently stimulates the cutaneous surface, favours the circulation as well as perspiration in it; and when, after exertion, while the skin is acting freely, exposure to cold becomes necessary, suppression of perspiration, together with the evils that may result from it, is far less likely to happen.

Stays are very generally worn, and there is no objection to their use, provided only they are properly made. Indeed, they may be of great service, in giving support to a feeble spine, and in helping the full expansion of the upper part of the chest. They should be made to fit the body, should not press on one part unduly, and, of course, should not be tight. It is hardly necessary here to refer to the evils of tight lacing; the fashion has, fortunately, long ago passed, and a very small waist is no longer regarded as elegant or natural to woman.

With regard to other clothing, it should vary according to the season of the year. During the hot days of summer errors are more likely to be committed than at other times, because of ignorance, or neglect of the difference in temperature in the day and in the evenings. This difference renders clothes which are ample during the heat of the day quite insufficient for the cool of the evening.

Whether stays be worn or not, clothes should not be tied too tightly round the waist. With a view to avoid the necessity of this, hooks should be fastened to the stays, in order to support the clothes and prevent them from slipping, and the tying should be sufficient only to retain them on these hooks. Whatever may be said in favour of the evening dress which is at present in use, it cannot be denied that exposure of so much of the upper part of the body is, in our climate, fraught with great danger. Slight draughts in hot rooms frequently give rise to severe colds, and the ordinary evening dress is only too favourable to the effective action of such currents of cold air. In such circumstances great care should be taken to cover the shoulders after any exercise which heats the blood and causes free perspiration.

Exercise.—During the whole period of growth and development the young girl should take regular daily physical exercise. It favours the processes which go

MENSTRUATION.

on in the body, facilitates nutritive changes, and renders regular and uniform the play of all the functions. Indeed, without exercise there cannot be health. All exercise at command should be undertaken—walking, riding, swimming, dancing. Walking is within the reach of all, and is sufficient to maintain robust health. It should not be taken immediately after a full meal, but in the morning or in the middle of the day, so as to have the combined effects of exercise, of good air, and the stimulating influence of the sun. Riding, when possible, is one of the best forms of physical exercise. It should not, however, be taken to the exclusion of walking.

Swimming is luxurious as well as bracing. The time that different persons can remain in the water with benefit varies much with the vigour of the constitution and the power of endurance. After being in water for some time the body becomes colder, but this should not be allowed to be carried to any considerable extent; for the good effects of swimming depend not only upon the actual muscular effort made, but also on the reaction which should be established after leaving the water. If this reaction fails, swimming and all forms of bathing are injurious. The duration of the bath should be regulated so as to ensure such reaction. This varies much; and some persons may remain in the water for hours, others for minutes,

while some can only take a single plunge. After bathing, the skin should be thoroughly dried and rubbed well with a rough towel, so that the whole surface becomes warm and red. Then a glow is felt all over the surface, and a pleasant feeling of lightness and activity. When this occurs, bathing does good; but when it fails, bathing should be given up.

Dancing is not only a graceful, but a most healthful exercise. It is, unfortunately, in this country associated with late hours, hot rooms, and bad hygienic conditions, and the evils resulting from these associations more than counterbalance the good derived from the exercise. For this reason we do not hesitate to condemn the practice of sending young girls to balls and parties, much as we would value dancing exercise when undertaken at proper hours, in the open air or well-ventilated rooms.

Nothing should be allowed to interfere with the regular sleep of young and growing girls; and exercise should be taken up to slight fatigue, for nothing is more favourable to healthy and peaceful sleep. Early hours should be observed, both in going to bed and in getting up; the air of a room is fresher and healthier in the morning, when they have been unoccupied for several hours, than in the evening, when they are hot and stuffy, from burning of gas, candles, or lamps, and from the products of respiration.

CHAPTER II.

SYMPIOMS OF MENSTRUATION-DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

Scantiness or Absence of—Causes of such Condition—Treatment— Suppression of Menstruation—Causes of—Consumption— Disease of Kidneys—Green Sickness and Pallor—Treatment— Hæmorrhage and Other Discharges—Mental Emotion—Treatment.

WHEN a menstrual epoch is about to appear, certain symptoms make their appearance which indicate that the flow is coming. These vary in different women; in some they are absent—there is no suffering of any kind, and the flow appears without their knowledge.

In the majority of cases, however, there is preceding suffering, and the subject is conscious of her condition two or three days before the appearance of the flux. These symptoms consist in a general aching, languor, a feeling of unfitness for work; there is often headache, and a dark ring around the eyes, pain in the back and stomach and down the thighs. Occasionally there is sickness, a slight diarrhea, and frequent desire to pass water. These are the symptoms which usually precede the flow; they should not be severe, for when they suffice to lay the woman up, they are due to u diseased and not a natural condition. In the next chapter these conditions will be discussed.

One of the first symptoms which usually attracts the attention of women to disorder or disease of the organs of generation is some abnormality in the performance of the monthly function called menstruation. This function is peculiar, so far as is at present known, to the human female. It consists in a discharge of blood and serum from the genital organs. It usually takes place every four weeks; but in some cases this interval is shorter, while in others it is of longer duration. The function is first performed at about the age of twelve to fifteen; it continues to be repeated every month up to the age of forty or fortyfive. The process is of so striking a character, so entirely out of the common-indeed, unique-that it has attracted the attention of all people, both civilised and uncivilised. It is the process which marks woman as woman. When the discharge appears, and continues to be repeated without any irregularity or suffering, the girl has become a woman, and it may, with almost absolute certainty, be affirmed that the organs of generation are well formed and of a healthy character. This discharge, then, its appearance, its character, and the regularity of its performance, form a sort of index to the condition of the pelvic organs, and any deviation from the healthy performance of the function points to something wrong in the general condition, or in the organs which are the source of the discharge. The

SYMPTOMS OF MENSTRUATION.

aberrations in the performance of this function are of three kinds. The menstrual flow may be scanty or absent; it may be profuse, or the bleeding may be repeated too often; and the flow may be accompanied with intense pain. Any one of these conditions indicates that there is something wrong in the constitution itself or with the organs of generation. Moreover, a very large number, indeed, the great majority, of the diseases to which the organs peculiar to the human female are liable call forth or induce one or more of the functional deviations named, so that the importance of these symptoms (for they are not diseases) cannot be over-estimated; for they are the indicators — frequently the first, and sometimes the only ones-of the existence of constitutional or local Further, inasmuch as in the great majority disease. of cases the presence of one or more of the symptoms named are the troubles, par excellence, to which a woman is subject, and that during the interval between successive monthly flows she feels herself perfectly well, it becomes us, in a popular work of this kind, to classify diseases, which we shall discuss under the heads of prominent symptoms rather than according to pathological or scientific relations; because, in order to appreciate a classification based on the latter principles, a thorough scientific training is requisite, whereas such training may not be necessary for the appreciation

16

of one based on the former. Indeed, in actual practice, the process by which a physician or surgeon frequently arrives at a conclusion with regard to the nature of a disease — and this is especially the case with him who treats the diseases peculiar to women is by analysis — a tracing back of one or more prominent symptoms to their causes, the subordinate or less marked symptoms forming a series of finger-posts to direct him along the right track. We will then, first of all, enumerate and describe those diseases which give rise to the three leading and prominent symptoms named, viz., scanty or absent menstruation, excessive discharge, and painful discharge.

Menstruation Absent or Scanty.—This condition is technically or scientifically known as amenorrhœa. It is an affection of frequent occurrence. Its causes are numerous and various. It may, and frequently does, make its appearance at puberty. In that case the sanguineous monthly flow does not show itself at the usual age, and the girl, having passed the period of puberty, and the signs of puberty not having made their appearance, becomes the source of great anxiety to herself and to her parents. The causes of this condition are the following :—

1. Absence of the internal organs of generation or of some portion of them. The presence of some of these organs are absolutely essential for the discharge

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

to take place. The source of the discharge is the body of the womb itself, or the uterus. The inner surface of that part of the organ becomes immensely congested, the vessels give way, and rupture and a flow of blood takes place from them. But the womb may be present and still the discharge may not appear. There ere two small organs lodged in the pelvis, one on each side of the womb, called ovaries. These organs are the factories of the germs which, when fertilised and placed in favourable positions, develop and form a child. These organs also appear to have a very important part to play in the monthly function of the uterus, in the formation and flow of the menstrual discharge, so that their absence would entail absence of menstruation. Absence of the ovaries, then, is one cause of amenorrheea.

This, however, is not of frequent occurrence: the ovaries are not often absent; more frequently they are somewhat smaller, less plump than natural—in fact, somewhat imperfectly developed. When these organs are wanting, the subject of the malformation is asexual. The external characters which accompany this deformity are a general appearance resembling more that of the male than that of the female. The hips are less wide, the pelvis small, the breasts remain flat and undeveloped, the voice is harsh and manly. It is also said that hair grows on the face and chin like the beard of the male. There are present none of those symptoms

which precede and accompany menstruation; the recurring headache, the pain in the back, the weight at the bottom of the stomach, the aching of the thighs, the general lassitude, and the dark areolæ round the eyes, are all wanting. Indeed, such a person presents to an observer but few of the peculiar characteristics of woman. The ovaries are lodged high up in the true pelvis, at the junction of the true with the false pelvis --a position which renders exploration of the organs during health impossible: so that it is not possible to recognise with absolute certainty absence of the ovaries; vet the general symptoms, positive and negative, go far to prove such absence, or, at least, complete inaction of the organs if they be present. Of course, nothing can be done to remedy such a malformation. At the same time, it should be borne in mind that though the person cannot become a mother, yet the general health is in no way affected by the deficiency, and that she cannot become the subject of many diseases to which well-formed women are liable.

2. Absence of the womb, or uterus. This is the organ which supplies, at the instigation of the ovary, the menstrual blood, and its presence is consequently essential to the performance of the menstrual function. It is also the organ which forms the nest in which the child, or embryo, is lodged and nourished before its birth; and, moreover, it is the active agent in

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

the act of giving birth, for by the force of its powerfully contracting muscles is the child driven into the world. Entire absence of the uterus is very rare, but a rudimentary condition of the organ is less rare, though still not frequently met with. In persons in whom the womb is absent or rudimentary the menstrual flux is absent or scanty. The flow may take place without pain, but in many cases the pain accompanying the performance of the function is severe.

The general configuration of the body is womanly, the hips are broad, the pelvis large, the breasts round and well developed. The menstrual molimena, or the aches and lassitude which so often accompany menstruation, may be present, though more often absent. Treatment is vain when the uterus is absent; and when the organ is rudimentary, there are no means yet discovered by which its development can be ensured.

3. The menses may have not made their appearance by reason of an obstruction to their outflow. In such a case the uterus and ovaries are present and perform their functions; the menstrual discharge is poured into the cavity of the womb, but, owing to the occlusion of the outlet, remains dammed up in the cavity of the uterus or the canal of the vagina, or passage leading to the womb. The obstruction is most frequently met with at the mouth of the vagina. It is usually

caused by an abnormal condition of a membranous fold placed in that situation and completely closing This fold of membrane-called the the passage. hymen—is a natural structure, forming a sort of imperfect valve to the vaginal orifice, but not completely closing that opening. Complete closure is a condition which, unless remedied, may lead to very serious results. It causes no trouble or inconvenience, however, during infancy and childhood, not indeed until the advent of puberty, and not then unless the organs of generation become active and the menstrual secretion is formed. When the secretion of the menstrual flux begins, the troubles arising from closure of the vagina also begin. The discharge is secreted and poured out of the womb into the passage which leads outwards, in order to be separated and cast off from the body, but the orifice of the vagina, being completely closed by the hymen, prevents the escape of the discharge. In this manner it becomes lodged in the vagina. When the menstrual flow has ceased, but little discomfort, if any, will be felt during the first interval; but when the time of the next flow arrives the trouble returns. In this manner the discharge in the vagina accumulates and increases in quantity. As time wears on, the pains preceding and accompanying menstruation-the molimena-increase in severity. They become more and more intense, and at last

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

agonising. If carefully looked for a tumour or swelling may now be found in the bottom of the stomach. It is smooth, elastic, often very tender, the upper part is roundish; it rises from the pelvis, and has the shape and character of the uterus during the early months of pregnancy, and the girl may be unjustly charged with being in the family way. This tumour gradually increases in size every month. It should be noted that the increase always occurs at the times the pains are present---that is, at the times when the discharge is poured into the cavity of the uterus-and not during the interval. The pains in the stomach at last become prolonged and almost constant. The general health becomes deteriorated. The healthy and rosy-looking girl becomes sickly, pallid, and sallow. The appetite is lost, there is frequent vomiting, the bowels are confined, and there is constant urinary trouble.

The discovery of such a condition is of the greatest consequence. It should be done in order to save the innocent from foul and unjust aspersions. It should be done in order to relieve her from continual and agonising suffering. It should be done in order to save her life, for so long as it (the state) is permitted to continue, so long is the danger to life imminent. It has just been stated that life is endangered by this condition. This danger comes about in the following way:—The discharge, not finding an outlet, accumulates

in the vagina, and distends that organ. When this distension has gone on to a certain degree, and still more fluid is poured into the cavity, the uterus begins to dilate, and this organ in its turn becomes distended; then the fallopian tubes, which lead from the womb to the cavity of the belly, become dilated, and the menstrual fluid may regurgitate along the dilated tubes into the abdominal or peritoneal cavity. This would give rise to an inflammation of a virulent and fatal character. The consequence would be certain death. But the fallopian tubes may not have been dilated. In that case the womb itself, by its overviolent contractions to get rid of its contents, which act as a foreign body, may give way by rupture, and the discharge escape, through the opening thus formed, into the peritoneal cavity - to give rise to intense pain and rapid death. Under such circumstances, interference becomes absolutely necessary, with a view to avert ultimate death.

This condition requires considerable skill and knowledge for its discovery. An examination of the parts and organs contained in the pelvis must be made before the state of things can be diagnosed. Digital and ocular examination of the external parts will discover the closure of the vagina and imperforate condition of the hymen. The finger cannot be introduced into the passage, and the eye cannot discover the

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

fissure in the hymen. This, however, is not enough; it is further necessary to make out whether the uterus is present or absent; and if it be present, whether it is active in its functions, forcing out the menstrual fluid. A further examination is necessary for determining this point, and it is to be conducted through the bladder and the rectum; a sound, or catheter, should be introduced into the bladder, and the finger into the rectum. In this way a full and complete exploration should be made of the organs, of the thickness of the vagina, and of the contents of its canal, whether it is empty or whether it contains a quantity of pent-up fluid. Careful examination of the lower part of the abdomen above the pubes is necessary, and if a tumour be discovered in that situation its relation to the contents of the vagina should be made out. In this manner a skilled observer can readily recognise the condition, especially when he takes into consideration, in addition to what he observes for himself, the history which has already been told him. In addition to the above symptoms, in some cases the membrane closing the passage is greatly bulged out and thinner, and the dark sanguineous contents of the vagina may be distinguished through it. Such is the history and such the symptoms of this malformation of the hymen.

The obstruction to the flow may, however, be

situated in other parts of the passage than the external orifice. The vagina itself may be entirely wanting. This is always a congenital defect, a malformation existing at birth. It is of rare occurrence. The vagina may be simply a stout thin pouch of varying length, but not reaching the womb. This is likewise a congenital malformation.

The canal of the vagina may be narrowed and completely closed in any part of its course. This condition may have existed at birth, or may be the result of inflammation acquired after that event. This is caused by wounds or tears of the wall of the canal, caused by severe labour or accidentally. Adhesions are formed by the pouring out of inflammatory products, and complete closure of the passage results.

The canal of the uterus itself is sometimes closed at its external orifice. This is, however, rare.

The symptoms in all these forms of obstruction are similar to those met with in imperforate hymen, and the method of examination already recommended for the discovery of the fault should be adopted.

The question now comes, What can be done to relieve these troubles and to cure the deformity? Can the condition be relieved and the patient cured without running any great risk? To this it is to be answered that in the case of imperforate hymen the condition can be readily enough relieved. An opera-

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

tion is required. The offending membrane should be incised or punctured. No operation could be simpler or easier of performance, yet it must be said that it is not free from danger-at least, in many cases. The fact is, that most of these cases have been going on for a long time before they seek medical advice, and before any efficient means are taken for their cure. Perhaps in many cases medicines, baths, gin, whiskey, and the whole series of domestic medicines generally in use have been tried with a view to establish an impossibility-the bringing on of the flow when there is no outlet for it. These means, indeed, instead of relieving the condition, have greatly aggravated it, for they have doubtless increased the amount of the monthly flow, and in a proportionate degree the sufferings of the patient. When domestic knowledge and skill have been exhausted in vain, then the doctor's advice is sought. He discovers the condition, but only when the vagina and uterus have been for a long time distended and are in a very irritable condition. Under these circumstances an operation for the cure of the malformation is accompanied by great danger-far greater than when performed at an earlier period, before the organs have become so greatly altered in form and texture. The danger arises from the tendency of the womb to contract irregularly, and in this way to drive some of the fluid intc
26

the cavity of the peritoneum, thus giving rise to peritonitis.

But peritonitis, or inflammation of the belly, may arise also without regurgitation of fluid into the cavity simply as the result of the operation.

Operations for the relief of the other conditions causing obstruction to the menstrual flow are more complex and difficult. When the vagina is absent, or a considerable portion of it, the operation is by no means easy, and requires the greatest skill, knowledge, and patience on the part of the operator. The making of a new vagina, entirely or in part, is necessarily accompanied by some danger. but the danger is less than that arising from obstruction to the flow, which will in time necessarily prove fatal unless removed.

When the symptoms which usually precede and accompany menstruation have been present on two or three occasions, and the monthly flow still remains absent, the subject should be at once carefully examined. Should she then seek proper advice, the cause of the absence of the discharge would be found and removed before the fluid has accumulated behind the seat of obstruction and caused distension of the organs above and alterations in their tissues—conditions which not only endanger the life of the patients themselves, but also render the means of relief dangerous; whereas, were the operation performed at an early period of

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

the menstrual life, it would entail little or no risk, and spare the patient much unnecessary and severe suffering.

Several other causes besides those mentioned may give rise to failure of the appearance of the menses at the proper time; among these no one is of greater importance than that condition known as anæmia and chlorosis, on account of its frequency These as well as others will be discussed further on.

When menstruation has been regularly and properly established; when the flow has recurred every four weeks on several occasions, and then fails to return at the expected time, it is evident that there is something wrong with the general health or with the organs of generation, unless pregnancy be present. The causes of such cessation are numerous, and all different from those already mentioned. It is evident as the menstrual function has been regularly performed, that the organs of generation are properly formed and fully developed—there is no deficiency in their size, and the passage cannot be obstructed.

One of the first symptoms of pregnancy is cessation or suspension of the menses; and when in a married woman the catamenia do not appear at the expected time, she generally believes herself to be in the family way, and she is usually correct in her suspicions. At the same time, there are many other causes which may

bring about suppression of the menses in those who have been already quite regular; and this should not be forgotten, for should pregnancy be regarded as the only cause of suspension of the catamenia, many young girls would be unjustly accused or suspected without the slightest cause. These causes we will now proceed to enumerate, and we will at the same time give brief descriptions of the symptoms which usually follow or accompany their action.

Many general diseases give rise to suppression of the catamenia. For the healthy performance of the functions of any organ in the body sound general health is necessary. This is eminently the case with regard to the womb. Disorders of the womb itself give rise to innumerable general troubles, and many disorders of the general health give rise to suppression of the uterine functions. The diseases which cause these troubles are of a depressing and enfeebling character. They deteriorate the blood, partially arrest nutrition, cause wasting of the system, sometimes by some drain on the constitution, sometimes by their interference with the natural processes. Consumption is not unfrequently associated with amenorrhoea or menstrual suppression. Indeed, a suspension of the menstrual discharge is often one of the first symptoms of this insidious disease observed by the patient herself, and she goes or is taken by her friends to the doctor in

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

order to "have them brought on." She has not been regular for some time, and she as well as her friends regard this as the source of all the mischief-of all her symptoms. Of this she is so firmly convinced, that in all probability she has already tried all the means of which she has knowledge, in order to bring about their return, but happily in vain. Indeed, it is often difficult to persuade her and her friends that her symptoms are not due to the suppression of the menses, but to a much more serious condition, of which the suppression is the consequence. "I am sure," she says, "if they were brought on I should be all right." They have, according to her idea, run to her head or her chest; whereas the real truth is, she is suffering from a severe disease of the lungs, of which she is quite unconscious, and the exhausting effects of this disease on her constitution it is which has caused the suspension of the flowers. In such a case it would be very wrong to attempt to bring on the flow; the constitution cannot afford the loss of so much blood ; it is required for other purposes. Indeed, in treating the case, no thought should be given to the amenorrhoea; all the attention should be directed to the disease of the lungs, which is at the root of all her troubles. Nourishment, fresh air, oil, and iron, and change of air should be the means employed to counteract the mischief.

Another disease which is not rarely a cause of amenorrhœa is that disease of the kidneys known as Bright's disease. This is an affection which causes deterioration of the blood by causing a part of its albumen to pass out through the kidneys with the urine. It causes extreme pallor and dropsy. This form of suppression, like the former, should be treated by attacking the disease of the kidneys, and improving the blood and the general health.

Chlorosis, Chloranæmia, or Green Sickness. - This is a disease very frequently associated with disorders of menstruation, and especially with suppression of the menses. It consists in a deficiency of red blood corpuscles and a watery condition of the blood. The blood is paler and less in quantity than it should be. It attacks young girls very frequently at the approach of puberty, and is often a most troublesome disease to cure, defying all efforts, and rendering all our skill vain. It sometimes comes on before puberty is established, and strong, lively, rosy, healthy girls become pale, sickly, dull, and feeble. In such cases the catamenia do not appear at the usual age, or only appear but very slightly. In other cases puberty has been attained and crowned by the regular and thorough establishment of the menstrual functions. The person has passed from girlhood to womanhood without a hitch; but soon after she begins to ail, she becomes a

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION.

little paler, her appetite is fanciful. It is the beginning of anæmia, or perhaps green sickness.

The symptoms of the disease are pallor. In simple bloodlessness the pallor is of a transparent white; in green sickness there is a peculiar and often very striking greenish tinge with the pallor. The skin everywhere is pale, according to the degree of the disease. The lips are pale, sometimes almost white; the gums and mucous membranes of the mouth and eye are pale. The veins of the skin are bluish and not distended, for the actual quantity of blood is diminished. There is headache: this is almost constant pain in the temples and forehead. The patient is often giddy, and has noises in the ears. She complains of pain under the left breast, but she is not feverish. She has often pain along the spine, in the neck, between the shoulders, and in the loins. She complains of pain here and there of a neuralgic character. The appetite is very uncertain; there is often loss of appetite; in other cases the appetite is degraded, and the patient eats the most indigestible things : she eschews meat altogether, and eats pickles, fruits, bits of chalk, &c. The bowels are confined, often obstinately so, and greatly loaded. The stools are often offensive. The tongue is often furred, sometimes even covered with a thick brown fur. It is, however, often clean but pale. The breath is short; the patient is

unable to go up-stairs or up-hill, or to walk any distance, for want of breath. The heart is in a very irritable condition; the least excitement or exertion will bring on palpitation, owing, probably, to the condition of the nervous system and the deficiency in the quality and quantity of the blood. The anæmic person is incapable and disinclined for any exertion; she likes to lie about or sit, does not care about going out, remains in the house, doing nothing but lounging about in a languid fashion. She is drowsy, heavy, and dull. She suffers from great lassitude; she is good for nothing; she is sometimes sick. Owing to the watery state of the blood, all the tissues are in a relaxed condition; nutrition is greatly impaired; the watery part of the blood oozes out of the vessels in the lax or depending part of the body, so that there is slight swelling of the ankles, sometimes of the eyelids. On listening to the heart and the great vessels of the neck, peculiar and characteristic sounds are heard, owing to the thin blood travelling along through the heart and This sound diminishes in loudness as the vessels. patient gets better of the disease, but often does not disappear altogether, or, at least, it may be heard in a slight degree after the patient has gained her usual healthy colour.

This disease is brought on by depressing causes -causes which act unfavourably on the nutritive

CHLORANÆMIA.

processes of the body and cause a deterioration in the quality of the vital fluid. Some of these causes are want of food, want of fresh air, bad food, bad air, sedentary occupation, living in warm, stuffy, ill-ventilated rooms, the inhalation of air contaminated with the poison of sewer gas, or other volatile poisons, over-work, &c. Sempstresses frequently are subject to this complaint; indeed, the conditions under which many of them live fulfil to perfection the demands for the production of this disease; but not only those who live in conditions unfavourable to health, but also those who possess every advantage and comfort may become the subjects of this affection. Without discoverable external cause, with good and plenty of food, with fresh air and change of air, with wealth and comfort, and all the necessaries to ward off disease, a member of the family may become the subject of chloranæmia. In such a case the cause may be emotional, but it may be an inherent vice of the constitution. The patient has never been strong, has always been delicate, though never seemingly ill. Still, her constitution has never been robust; and towards puberty, when an extra demand is put upon it, it gives way, and the whole complex machine is thrown completely out of gear. The patient becomes chlorotic because the constitution does not possess sufficient vitality to carry on the nutritive processes with sufficient vigour to meet the

34

increasing wants of the economy. The constitution is not equal to the demands of development and the duties of life. In such cases much may be done by external means and medical and moral treatment. By such means constitutions may be changed and completely altered—the weakly may be made strong, and the sickly healthy; and by such means may the chlorotic be sometimes cured.

When the disease has been thoroughly established, the difficulty of effecting a complete cure is very great. When it has been once apparently removed, it returns again and again; at the same time, by persevering in the use of proper medicines, proper hygienic and dietetic means, the disease may be removed and the patient effectually cured. These means require often to be used for a long time and continuously. Change of air is a very useful agent in the treatment; exercise in the open air is of the greatest importance. Exercise within doors will not do; the exhilarating influence of fresh air is necessary. Walking and riding are most useful, and better than carriage exercise. Change of dwelling is often useful. The place of abode may be too low, too damp, or in the neighbourhood of malaria; in such cases it should be changed, and a proper one selected. The food ought to be carefully chosen; no indigestible meat, vegetable, or pastry should be taken. Red meats are better than white;

CHLORANÆMIA.

beef and mutton best. Red game may be taken. Fish should not be altogether eschewed, but should be taken sparingly. Good soups are useful, and beef tea above all of them. Milk is a most nutritious diet, and proves beneficial in chlorosis; milk puddings may be taken.

The medicines usually given are administered with the object of improving the condition of the blood, of increasing the number of its red corpuscles, its red colouring matter; with this view iron is given after food. One of the best forms of iron is the steel wine, because it is easily digested and absorbed. There are other forms of iron which are of the greatest utility; for no single form of iron can be taken with benefit for a very prolonged period : the system appears to become accustomed to it, and after a time does not receive that benefit which is expected from it. When this happens, the preparation of iron should be changed; in this way the effects of iron on the system can be obtained for a long period continuously.

Other medicines are given with the same object, especially the preparations of arsenic and manganese, and in some cases where iron cannot be borne with great benefit.

The bowels should be kept regular. In these cases there is generally constipation, and in some cases obstinate constipation. The motions are often dark and offensive. The liver appears to be acting

36

sluggishly; indeed, the functions of all the organs in the body seem to be less active than usual. In these circumstances a little blue pill at night to act on the liver, and a small dose of salts or a black draught in the morning, give great relief. They lighten the whole system, remove much of the drowsiness, and cause the patient to feel brighter and better. At other times a dose of Pullna water, Carlsbad salts, or Friedrichshall water, two or three times a week, taken in the morning, gives great relief, and keeps the bowels regular.

There are various watering-places, both in England and abroad, a season at which is productive of much benefit to chlorotic or anæmic persons. These places are those where there are two kinds of springs-a saline and a chalybeate. The saline should be taken in the morning on first going there until the bowels have been acted upon freely-it should in most instances be taken every morning for a few days or a week; and afterwards the chalybeate or iron water should be taken two or three times daily after meals, taking care to regulate the bowels by an occasional dose of saline. Iron is liable to cause headache when the bowels are confined, so that the importance of warding off constipation is great; for not only does it interfere with the proper absorption and action of the steel, but it also causes very severe suffering. The

CHLORANÆMIA.

chief places where saline and chalybeate springs are found are Cheltenham, Leamington, Scarborough, Carlsbad, Ems, Franzensbad, Homburg, Pyrmont, Schwalbach, and Spa.

Baths are very useful in the treatment of the affection we are now discussing. The action of the skin should be excited. The bath should be taken cold every morning; the patient should remain in the water for at most a minute, and if she does not become warm and feel a glow all over soon after she has come out of the bath, she should only plunge into it, and be then thoroughly well rubbed with a rough towel until she is dry and warm : this should be done always after a cold bath. It makes the skin red, gives a glow over the whole body, makes the person feel warm—causes, in fact, a healthy reaction. Baths do harm when such reaction is not excited after them.

The patient should have mental occupation given her, for she will find none herself. It should not be of a severe or exhausting character, but light and amusing. It should be just enough to occupy the mind without wearing it. It should be alternated with amusements, change of scene, and all the little things that contribute to make life happy and bright. Depressing influences should be altogether avoided.

No attempt should be made directly to bring back

the menses. The treatment must be directed entirely against the general disease. The absence of the flowers is only a symptom of the general condition under which the whole frame labours, and of the influence of which every organ in the body partakes. When this general condition is cured and the disease removed, the symptoms will disappear, and the menses will return and become regular ; when, however, this object has been attained, great care will be required to prevent a return of the affection, and a careful watch should be kept on the sufferer, in order to ward off the earliest symptoms of such return.

Again, all diseases which affect nutrition of the body in an unfavourable manner, or cause a constant and profuse drain upon the constitution, may bring about suppression of the menses. Among these may first be mentioned hæmorrhage. Hæmorrhage, in the first instance, causes an actual diminution in the amount of blood in the system, and, at the same time, brings about necessarily a deterioration in its quality —in fact, it causes anæmia; and while this state lasts, and even for some time longer, the menses may not appear.

Long-continued and profuse discharges from any part of the body, such as a chronic discharge of matter from an ulcer, or from an abscess, or from a diseased bone, or an exhausting white or yellow discharge from

HÆMORRHAGE.

the womb or vagina, may, by lowering the system, in time bring about amenorrhœa.

Mental disturbance, anxiety of mind, strong emotions of pleasure or of pain, joy, grief, and sudden fright, may cause a similar condition. This is not to be surprised at. The influence of the mind on the body, and on the processes, whether healthy or diseased, which take place in it, is very marked Emotions will arrest digestion, in some cases give rise to diarrhœa, in others constipation. They often increase the secretion of the kidneys, and sometimes cause a constant desire to pass water. Thoughts of unpleasant things are often most effectual emeticsthey cause the stomach to expel its contents in a most sudden manner. The secretions of the stomach and of other organs may be instantaneously and entirely suppressed by a strong emotion. In other cases emotions cause a great increase in the secretion of organs, as that of the lachrymal or tear-forming gland and the kidneys. It cannot be wondered at that the womb-an organ that is in such intimate sympathy with the other organs of the body-is subject to similar influences, and that emotions may bring about total suppression of the monthly functions of the others, and that it may also, as will be pointed out later, give rise to an increase of the secretion, and to a profuse flow of menstrual fluid.

Disease of the ovaries is also a cause of amenorrhea. The exact relation between the ovaries and uterus is not known. What influence the former exert over the latter is somewhat uncertain; it was at one time believed, and indeed is still by a great majority of physiologists, that the ovary is the prime mover in the performance of the monthly functions of the generative This has lately, however, been called in quesorgans. tion, and it has been maintained that the womb performs its part of those functions quite independently of any ovarian influence. Whether this be the case or not, it is certain that the ovaries play a very important part in the life and in the formation of the physical and moral character of woman; and when the ovaries are removed by artificial means, or an operation, or by disease, a great change takes place in the subject of such deformity, and one of these changes is suppression of the menstrual discharge. It is stated that this does not occur in all cases, yet the exceptions are so few as not to invalidate the rule. The suppression may take place at the time when the ovarian disease sets in, or may come in after it has progressed some time and involved the structure of both ovaries.

Inflammation in and around the uterus is another cause of menstrual suppression. By this process the ovaries become bound down by artificial bands of

TREATMENT.

membrane, and their activity may become entirely destroyed, and the menses then cease to appear. Tumours of the uterus occasionally bring about a similar suppression.

The *treatment* of these various forms of suppression of the menses varies according to their cause.

Hæmorrhages should be stopped; whatever be their source, this should be our first object. When this object has been attained, the next step in the treatment is to supply the place of the lost blood—to increase the quantity and improve the quality of the vital fluid. The means for effecting this are those for the improvement of the general health—a nutritious, healthy, easily-digested diet; beef tea, milk, red meats, fresh air. A small quantity of wine may be useful if the digestion be feeble.

Profuse and exhausting discharges, chronic abscesses, or ulcers, should be made to heal as rapidly as possible, by appropriate surgical means, and the means already pointed out for the improvement of the general health.

Discharges from the womb and generative passages should be treated by means of injections. Injections of warm water for the sake of cleanliness, and of astringents, as oak-bark, tannin, alum, or sulphate of zinc, for cure. General treatment in their cure is of the greatest importance. The bowels should be

regulated, the digestion seen to, the diet should be good. In spite of all these means, such a discharge may persist. Then further treatment of the inner surface of the womb will become necessary.

A suppression arising from mental anxiety, exposure to cold, &c., requires very careful treatment. It is in these cases that attempts should be made to act directly on the womb; at the same time, violent remedies should not be carelessly taken with that object. It not unfrequently happens that with the suppression the general health is disordered. In such cases the general condition should be attended to first. If there should be indigestion, it should be cured. If there be constipation, it should be removed. If the liver act sluggishly, small doses of blue pill may be given. Should the general health be good, attention may be directed to the organs of generation themselves, and medicines administered and means employed directly to bring on the flow. The medicines used for this purpose are mild purgatives-a pill of aloes and myrrh, or aloes and iron, or brisk doses of mercury; iodide of iron has also been given with benefit. Oil of savin, ergot of rye, and cantharides are remedies which are believed to act directly upon the uterus, and to have the power of bringing on the flow when suspended; but their action is such that they require the most careful handling, and that they should

TREATMENT.

never be taken except under medical advice. Beside remedies given internally, there are external applications which, when properly used, are of great service in the treatment of this form of amenorrhœa. They are the hot hip bath, placing the feet in hot water, or in hot water containing mustard, large linseed poultices to the abdomen, or a bag of hot salt, sitting over hot water and injections of warm water into the vagina, stimulating liniments to the abdomen and thighs, dry cupping of the thighs, leeches to the womb, the inside of the thighs, or the perinæum. All these remedies are in their turn useful, but each one of them may fail to bring about the desired result; then recourse must be had to other means, or to a combination of two or more of the above at the same time.

Electricity has also been recommended. This is a very powerful agent, both for good and evil. It is a powerful stimulant and anodyne; it is also a powerful destroyer and depressor. It may be applied externally; but when so used it frequently proves of no avail. Instruments have been made to wear in the womb; when placed there they generate a feeble current of electricity, and they are said to have proved effectual in procuring the return of the catamenia in some obstinate cases of amenorrhœa. They are not free from very serious danger.

CHAPTER III.

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION (continued).

Flooding, or Menorrhagia, Causes of—Fibroid Tumours of the Womb—Polypus of the Womb—Cancer of the Uterus— Ulceration of the Womb—Subinvolution—Good Effects of Nursing—Evil Effects of Over-nursing—Inflammation of the Womb—Inversion of the Womb—Hæmorrhage into the Tissues in the Neighbourhood of the Womb.

BLEEDING from different parts or organs of the body is of frequent occurrence. Bleeding from the lungs is not uncommonly met with, and then it is said that a "blood-vessel has been ruptured." It is of serious import, for as a rule it is the precursor of a very grave disease called consumption. Bleeding also takes place from the nose, especially in youth and early manhood. It is said that this form of hæmorrhage is not due to disease, but to rupture of the blood-vessels of the mucous membrane lining the nasal cavity, owing to their over-distension with blood. Hence it is said to be caused by blood plethora—an excess of blood in the system-and that Nature avoids more serious consequences by this simple expedient. Whether this be true or not, it cannot be questioned that in the adult woman -maid or mother-who has attained full and perfect growth, a discharge of blood takes place periodically

FLOODING.

every four weeks in a healthy manner from the inner surface of the womb. It is a curious fact that all the hæmorrhages above enumerated take place into tubes or cavities which communicate externally. Blood from the lungs is forced into the bronchial tubes, and is expectorated with the phlegm. Blood from the stomach is ejected by the mouth or expelled by the intestine. Similarly hæmorrhages from the nose and uterus are discharged into channels communicating with the exterior. Again, with the doubtful exception of the bleeding from the nose, all the above are the result of disease, but the bleeding from the uterus is the result of health. Though the womb is not peculiar in pouring out blood on its inner surface, yet it is peculiar in the fact that it pours it periodically; that the bleeding is repeated with regularity for a certain period of life; that such bleeding lasts a certain number of days, and does not, as a rule, exceed a certain quantity in any given case; that it does not occur in childhood and infancy nor in old age.

But the amount of the flow may be increased until it becomes profuse, or may even threaten life; or the bleeding may continue without intermission, or with but slight intermissions, from month to month; or the regularity of the return of the flow may be deranged, and a bleeding may come on at irregular intervals—at intervals much shorter than the typical four weeks.

These symptoms are generally and popularly known as "Flooding." In scientific language, two words are used to denote these conditions, according as the bleeding takes place at a menstrual period, or at any time in the intermenstrual interval.

When the hæmorrhage occurs with the monthly flow, or when the menstrual flow is profuse and excessive, the term menorrhagia is used to denote it. When it occurs at any time during the interval between two successive monthly flows, it is called metrorrhagia.

.Flooding may take place at almost any period of life. It sometimes takes place when menstruation occurs for the first time. It may come on, and indeed it is by no means uncommon, at the change of life during what is called the "dodging-time." It may appear at any time during these two periods, and may occur even in old age, when the monthly bleeding has entirely ceased for many years.

It is always due to disease, and the conditions that give rise to it are very numerous. Some of these are remediable, while others have hitherto resisted the influence of general and local interference, treatment by medicines, as well as operative procedures, while all cause great discomfort, and may prove, if allowed to proceed unattended to, of a grave nature; for frequent and excessive losses of blood must after a time tell

FIBROID TUMOURS.

upon the system, must undermine the constitution, and ruin the health.

The causes of flooding may be divided into local, or those due to the state of the pelvic organs; and constitutional, or those in which the whole system is more or less involved. We shall, first of all, describe the former, and shall limit ourselves at present to those that are found in the unimpregnated womb, reserving those which occur during pregnancy for future consideration.

Fibroid Tumours.-Fibroid tumours of the uterus are, after a certain age, of exceedingly common occurrence. The fibroid is by far the most commonly met with of all tumours that affect the uterus; at the same time that it is the most frequently met with it is also, fortunately, the most innocent in character. They are called "innocent growths," in contra-distinction to "malignant growths," or those of a cancerous nature. When they attack an organ or part, they have no tendency to repeat themselves in other parts or organs; at the same time, a large number of fibroid growths of various sizes may occupy the walls of one and the same uterus. Fibrous tumours may be present in the womb and give rise to no symptoms, cause no inconvenience, and interfere in no way with the duties of life. This, however, is far from being always the Indeed, in many cases, fibroid tumours are a case.

source of great trouble, much anxiety, great inconvenience, and danger. They occasionally, but very rarely, prove fatal. They are met with at all ages after twenty. They are seldom seen before that age, are more common after thirty, and still more so after They probably begin to grow at the period fifty. during which a woman is regular-that is, between fifteen and forty-five. At the same time, it is not proved that they may not originate after this age; it is certain that they continue to grow after this age in some cases. They grow in the womb itself-in the body and in the neck of this organ, more often in the former than the latter situation; in the fallopian tubes—round and broad ligaments which are attached to the border of the womb; they may also grow in the vagina, but this is not a common seat of fibroid tumours. They are composed of a substance or tissue similar to that which enters into the formation of the womb itself. They are like small local enlargements, or hypertrophies of the substance of the uterus, but that they are in some, though not in all, cases separated from the tissues of the womb surrounding them by a case or capsule of tough membrane. It appears, therefore, that they are-though their structure presents a character similar to that of the womb itself-new formations, new growths altogether foreign to the uterus. They are usually of a roundish form,

FIBROID TUMOUKS.

but their shape may be modified by a variety of causes. Several may grow together and form in the aggregate one tumour. In this case the surface would be irregularly nodular, and the general shape would possibly be roundish or indeterminate. Or a single tumour may grow so large as to become pressed upon by the solid and resisting walls of the pelvis, or the bony ring forming the lower part of the skeleton of the trunk, and in this manner receive the impress of that ring.

They vary much in size. They may be as small as a hemp-seed, or they may attain such dimensions as to fill the belly, and weigh sixty or seventy pounds. Tumours of such an immense size are but rarely seen; but every size, from the smallest to the greatest, may be met with.

In the same womb there may be present one or several fibroid tumours. Sometimes the number present is very great; so great, indeed, that the tissue of the womb itself has almost entirely disappeared, its shape has become hardly recognisable, and but little is visible except a bunch of fibroids. More frequently there is one or, perhaps, two tumours in the uterus. They grow in the substance of the womb; in that of the upper part, or body, and in that of the lower part, or neck, of the uterus. They are seated more often in the former than in the latter position.

50

The position the tumour occupies in the uterine wall, with regard to its internal and external surfaces, is of great importance. Upon this depends very much the symptoms which are present and due to the tumour; upon this also depends, in a great degree, the method of treatment which should be adopted. There are three positions which a tumour may occupy in the wall of the uterus. It may be close to and beneath the inner or mucous surface—then it is called sub-mucous; it may hold a similar position with regard to the peritoneal or abdominal surface—then it is said to be sub-peritoneal; or it may occupy a place in the middle of the wall—and then it is said to be interstitial. A fibroid tumour of the womb always occupies one of these three situations.

The symptoms of these three varieties are somewhat different.

The Sub-mucous variety, whether small or large, is almost always accompanied by symptoms of a more or less severe character. When even of inconsiderable size, they are accompanied by profuse menstruation, hæmorrhage, and pain. They also give rise, not unfrequently, to a profuse yellow or white discharge the whites.

The Interstitial and Sub-peritoneal forms, when of small size, may give rise to no symptoms, and the discovery of their presence is often a matter of acciFIBROID TUMOURS.

dent. As the tumours grow in size, symptoms appear. These are generally caused by the pressure exercised by the hard and growing fibroid upon the organs in the pelvis, the bladder, the rectum, and the nerves which pass along the wall of the pelvis. The pain caused in this manner may be of the most intense and severe character. It is situated in the bottom of the stomach, on one side or both, extends to the hips, to the back, and down the thighs and legs. It is sometimes like pins and needles, at others a numbness, and occasionally it is of an agonising character. Besides, there may be constant irritability of the bowels, a constant desire to go to stool, a slight diarrhea, or a constant forcing and bearing down; or there may be difficulty at stool, the bowels may be pressed upon and the canal narrowed, and ultimately entirely obstructed, and complete inability to pass a motion may follow. The bladder troubles are sometimes the most prominent symptoms. The passage of urine may be entirely obstructed, complete retention of urine follow, and artificial aid be necessary to relieve the bladder; or, on the other hand there may be a constant desire to urinate, and the quantity passed on each occasion amount to a few drops only; or the urine may pass involuntarily, the woman having lost all control over the bladder.

When the tumour is so large as to rise above the

52

brim of the pelvis, it may easily be felt above the pubes by palpation of the abdomen. It feels hard, smooth, firm, round; or it may be of an irregular shape, as in those cases where the tumour is compounded of several small ones bound together, as sometimes occurs. It may be fixed and immovable, or it may be easily moved from side to side or from above downwards. It may be very tender to the touch, or there may be a good deal of pain in or over it. This is generally due to inflammation of its surface, or rather of the membrane covering it—the peritoneum. In consequence of this inflammatory action, adhesions not uncommonly form between the wall of the abdomen and the tumour; and in this way a tumour which was once freely movable may become firmly fixed.

The Interstitial form of fibroid tumour—that is, a tumour situated in the midst of the tissue of the uterine wall—has a tendency to assume one of the other two forms. It tends towards the inner surface or cavity of the uterus, or outwards towards the peritoneum or cavity of the abdomen; it does not remain stationary. When it approaches the cavity of the uterus it becomes sub-mucous; when the cavity of the abdomen, it becomes sub-peritoneal. Having reached the peritoneum, this outward progress may go on until the tumour is completely outside the wall of the uterus, and attached to it by a little stalk or

FIBROID TUMOURS.

pedicle only. This pedicle may remain short, or it may become greatly prolonged, so that a tumour of fibroid character may be felt to float apparently free in the abdominal cavity. Indeed, this freedom may be real, for the stalk may actually give way, and the pedicle be detached from all its connections.

Sub-peritoneal Tumours may not only become detached from the uterus, but they may also become attached to other organs in the cavity of the abdomen by adhesions due to inflammatory exudation. In this manner the real nature of a swelling or tumour may be so disguised that it is impossible to recognise its true character.

Fibroid tumours are easily discovered and distinguished in some cases, while in others this distinction or diagnosis is surrounded by the greatest difficulties. In the former case the veriest tyro may discover their presence, while in the latter the diagnosis may baffle the skill of the most accomplished expert. This arises from the fact that fibroid tumours of a certain size, and occupying a certain situation, are unlike any other tumour or swelling occurring in the pelvis; while at another time, being of a different size and in a different situation, they may resemble other swellings to such a degree as to be almost indistinguishable.

Fibroid tumours may be mistaken for several totally different conditions which occur in the pelvis,

as new growths from other organs, as the ovary, and the product of inflammation. Tumours of the ovary sometimes resemble tumours of the uterus in their history, their symptoms, physical characters, as shape, position, hardness, so closely, that the distinction between them becomes impossible. They may also be mistaken for portions of the uterus when that organ is displaced and misshaped, and with other conditions, such as a loaded bowel, hæmorrhage into the neighbourhood of the womb, and so on.

The diagnosis can be made only after a careful examination of the abdomen and of the womb. The examination should be conducted both internally and externally. Some cases can be recognised by an examination through the walls of the stomach alone, but the great majority of cases require for the recognition of the condition present a careful examination of the womb and pelvic contents also.

The history of fibroid tumours is an uncertain one. Sometimes they grow very rapidly, at other times very slowly. They certainly begin, as a rule, between the age of twenty and forty-five, and their growth is usually most active during this period. After the change of life they have a tendency to decrease in size, or at least not to grow. This rule is, however, not without exceptions, for occasionally cases are seen in which the growth takes place very rapidly after the

FIBROID TUMOURS.

period we speak of. Sometimes they undergo a process of atrophy-a gradual diminution in size until they entirely disappear. In other cases they become the subject of inflammation, and finally break down, and become converted into an abscess. In a third class of cases they become the seat of a deposition of lime salt, and the tumour becomes ultimately converted into a calcareous stony mass. In this form it may be driven into the cavity of the uterus, and afterwards expelled by that organ through the vagina, and passed externally. These have been called uterine stones. Such calcareous degeneration of fibroid tumours is not very rare, but their expulsion in the manner described is certainly a very rare occurrence. In other cases rapid death of the tumour may happen from some cause or other; it thus becomes converted into a sloughing, putrid, offensive mass. This is a dangerous termination, for absorption of the decomposed mass may take place; the system thus becomes poisoned, pyzemia sets in, and the life of the patient is in imminent danger.

Occasionally the action of the womb itself drives the tumour into its cavity, separates the mass from its attachment, and ultimately expels it altogether, thus effecting a permanent cure.

All the above terminations are, however, rare. The great majority of women affected with fibroid

56

tumour of the uterus go on suffering more or less distress and discomfort from the presence of the tumour until the change of life. In the great majority of cases the tumours after this period do not increase, and often they actually decrease in size, and the symptoms due to their presence become less distressing.

The treatment of these cases naturally divides itself into two kinds—that for the relief of the symptoms and sufferings of the patient without materially acting upon the tumour itself, and, secondly, that for the removal of the tumour.

In the large majority of interstitial and sub-peritoneal tumours, palliative treatment alone is applicable. No radical cure can, as a rule, be attempted. The evils arising from this sort of tumour consist in displacement of the uterus, pressure on the surrounding parts, and flooding. The signs of pressure have already been mentioned. The displacement of the womb can in many cases be removed, and the distress arising from it be relieved, by elevating the tumour or the uterus and the tumour into the cavity of the abdomen, and taking means to retain it in that elevated position. The tumour should not be allowed to sink into the pelvis, because in that situation it is sure to give rise to symptoms of pressure. The elevated position of the tumour should be maintained by the introduction into the vagina of a suitable pessary, and

FIBROID TUMOURS.

removing everything that is likely to cause pressure downwards on the womb, such as tight clothing; and by slinging the clothes from the shoulders, or wearing a supporter or suspender for them in the form of a girdle supported by the hips. By these means the effects of pressure may be relieved, or even entirely removed.

The flooding may in most cases be controlled, though only to return again. The presence of the tumour in the uterine wall attracts a greater amount of blood into the organ, and this is a constant factor in producing the symptoms. The uterus is therefore in a state of chronic congestion. This congestion cannot be done away with altogether, but it can generally be reduced in amount. One of the most powerful means for its reduction is rest-absolute rest-in the recumbent position, especially during the times of flooding. When a person floods, she should lie down on a hard bed or mattress. She should be kept moderately cool, and should not be allowed to move out of the recumbent position at all-not even to relieve the bowels and bladder; indeed, everything should be done for her. When rest is insufficient to arrest the bleeding, recourse should be had to medi-The drinks should be cold-iced if necessary. cines. Cold may be applied to the lower part of the abdomen, and to the private parts; small doses of diluted

sulphuric acid may be frequently given, or large doses of the tincture of the perchloride of iron, the extract of Indian hemp, gallic or tannic acid, acetate of lead. These are the drugs usually given by the mouth, and in the great majority of cases they prove effectual as far as to arrest the bleeding. Should, however, these means fail, local applications become necessary. The vagina should be plugged by a wet bandage, a silk handkerchief, or a sponge; or the neck of the uterus itself may be plugged by lint or a tent. The latter would also dilate the canal of the neck, and thus aid not only in arresting the hæmorrhage, but also in clearing up the exact condition of the inner surface of the uterus. Should these fail, recourse must be had to surgical means. The exact means to be employed depend upon the nature of the particular case, and upon the immediate object in view. These medicines and surgical means can be adopted by a doctor only.

The second method of treatment is for the cure of the tumour, for the removal of it either by medical or surgical means. In the former, medicines are given with a view to prevent the growth of the new formation, to diminish the supply of blood into it, and cause its absorption. In the latter, the removal is effected by operation.

Attempts at Removal of the Tumour by Absorption --Absorption is the process by which the veins and

FIBROID TUMOURS.

lymphatics take up material brought into contact with them, carry it away, and circulate it through the body. Attempts have been made at all times since these tumours have been known to effect their absorption by the administration of medicines. Sometimes success is obtained by their use, but this is rarely the case. Usually they appear to have little or no action on the size or the growth of the new formation. The medicines used and generally recommended with this object are iodine and bromine and their salts, iodide of potassium and bromide of potassium and of ammonia, arsenic, lead, and phosphorus.

Another method appears to promise more success, and that is the injection under the skin of ergotine the active principle of ergot of rye. Ergot of rye is well known as a potent drug, having direct influence on the tissue of the uterus during pregnancy, and it is believed to act in a similar manner on the unimpregnated organ. For this reason it has been used to destroy fibroid tumours. It is, as has been already said, injected under the skin; it is absorbed into the circulation, acts upon the muscles of the uterus, and compresses the vessels in its walls. In this manner it diminishes the supply of blood into the tumour, and when the supply of blood is cut off from a part or diminished, the nourishment of that part is cut off or diminished. The consequence of this is, that

the tissue of the tumour begins to undergo degenera tion, a formation of fat takes place in it, this is in its turn absorbed, and the tumour consequently diminishes in size and substance. It undergoes a process of atrophy. This process is occasionally associated with some inconveniences from the peculiar effects of the ergot on the general system, from the abscesses which occasionally follow in the places where the injection was made, as well as from the pain which arises consequent on the muscular action called forth in the uterus.

Salts of lime have been used with a view to cause a deposit of calcareous matter in the substance of the tumour, and in this manner.check its growth. The chances of success are slight, and the evil effects of the lime salts on the general system forbid its use, except in a few cases, and under the most careful supervision.

For some years the attention of physicians and surgeons has been directed to the surgical treatment of these growths, and has been attended with a fair amount of success. The number of cases, however, suitable for surgical interference is comparatively small, but some cases of a desperate character—cases in which no hope could be held out, except by removal of the tumour by surgical means—have by those means been rescued from their peril, and restored

FIBROID TUMOURS.

There are various ways in which the to health. removal of such tumours can be surgically effected. The means employed would depend on the character of the subject, the size, the situation, and the surroundings of the tumour. As a rule, these operations are attended with great difficulty, and moreover they are not free from danger. Still, great success has attended some of the most formidable operations, even in the most desperate cases. Such cases do not often occur, but when they do, surgical means are the only ones which hold out any hope of prolonging life and of restoration to health-and rather than meet a premature death, art should be allowed to interfere to save the threatened life. Such cases are amongst the greatest and most dazzling triumphs of modern surgery. When hope fails, and death appears to approach to seize its victim, the surgeon's knife steps forward into the arena, snatches the victim even from the grasp of the foe, and restores her to her friends, and gives back to her health.

Polypus of the Uterus is another not uncommon cause of flooding. A polypus is a tumour growing from the inner surface of the uterus. Polypi may be attached to the uterine wall by a stem, and then they are called pedunculated; or may be attached directly to the wall of the organ without the intervention of a pedicle, and then they are called sessile. They differ
much in size, sometimes being no larger than a pea, at others as large as a melon. Their structure depends to some extent on their origin. They vary much in consistence, some being hard and firm, and others soft and gelatinous.

The hard or fibroid polypus is similar in structure to a fibroid tumour; indeed, it often is only a later stage of the latter. The fibroid tumour is constantly subject to the action of the contracting uterus. In this way there is a tendency to drive the tumour into the abdominal or uterine cavity; if it be driven in the latter direction it becomes a polypus. This polypus is at first sessile; it has no pedicle, and indeed projects but slightly into the uterine cavity, but after more or less time the continued expulsory action of the uterus drives it farther and farther from its original seat, and the polypus becomes pedunculated; later it often is driven out of the cavity of the uterus into the vagina, and may ultimately be separated altogether. This form of polypus grows usually on the upper part of the uterus, but it occasionally grows from the neck or lower part.

The soft or gelatinous polypi are usually very small, and never attain a great size. They are enlargements of the glands of the mucous membrane of the lower part of the womb. They are supplied with a large quantity of blood, and are usually con-

POLYPUS.

gested through pressure. They grow from the canal of the neck of the uterus.

Plucental Polypus. — Sometimes portions of the after-birth, or placenta, are retained in the womb after labour or miscarriage, and these become organised, attached firmly to the wall of the uterus, and live. This kind of polypus is intermediate in hardness between the other two. They have, of course, a structure similar to that of the after-birth itself, with varying proportions of blood. These may remain in the uterus for a very long time, even years.

There are no known causes of polypus except the last-named.

Symptoms.—The most prominent symptom of polypus of the uterus, and the symptom which first directs attention to its presence, is flooding. At first this may happen only at the time of menstruation the flow being profuse, clotty, and prolonged; but after a time floodings appear at any time during the intermenstrual interval, and often they last for weeks. During the intervals when the patient is free from hæmorrhage there is a profuse white, yellow, or watery discharge. Sometimes this discharge has a very offensive odour, and causes a suspicion of cancer. There is pain in the back, bearing down and sometimes violent pains like the pains of labour, bearing down and forcing in the bowel; there is a 64

continual desire to pass water, and often forcing in the bladder.

In the majority of cases the doctor has no difficulty in recognising the presence of a tumour of this kind. Sometimes it is driven outside through the vagina, and hangs by a thin fine stem only; then it is easily seen. In other cases an examination will reveal the nature of the case. The womb is enlarged, the mouth of it is open, and the tumour projects into the vagina, or, if lodged in the uterus, it may be felt with the finger. In some cases, however, the mouth of the womb has not been sufficiently dilated to allow of exploration of its cavity; then it becomes necessary to effect such dilation before the nature of the case can be properly made out. When the polypus is small it may escape detection, even though every means at our disposal be employed.

Polypi are sometimes entirely expelled, and Nature effects a complete cure; in other cases they become calcified, or inflammation and mortification set in in the growth and it perishes; or absorption of the fœtid products may take place, and the patient becomes affected with blood poison. Their course, however, unless interfered with, is one of prolonged suffering and ill-health. The constant drain upon the constitution from the bleeding and the leucorrhœal discharge exhausts the system, and may bring on permanent disease.

CANCER.

There is but one way of dealing with these growths, and that is to remove them. When flooding has been taking place for a length of time, the cause of it should be definitely ascertained; and if that cause should be polypus, it should be at once removed. There are safe ways of doing so without incurring the risk of bleeding, and indeed without incurring the danger that may arise from the presence of the tumour. The cure is permanent.

Cancer of the Womb.-We enter now upon the consideration of one of the most awful of the diseases to which the human frame is subject. It is regarded with fear and dread by all, on account of its malignant and fatal character. It is a disease which may attack almost any part of the body, and in a very large number of cases it proves fatal; while in othersbut unfortunately the few-it may be entirely removed and eradicated. The cases in which the disease is curable consist of those where it has attacked parts of the body which can safely be removed by operation. When it attacks the womb, it is usually that part which is easily reached, which is not essential to life, and which may safely be cut off. It attacks the mouth of the womb. It is but rarely-very rarely -that the original seat is in the body of the organ.

Cancer is a disease of old age, or at least of the

F

66

time of life when the nutrition of the tissues has become less active and is on the decline. It is met with usually between forty and fifty years; at the same time it may be seen in old people and in young children. It is, however, a very rare affection in children, and when seen in them it runs its course and proves fatal with great rapidity; while in old people its course is slow, and its duration more prolonged. The causes of cancer are unknown. It is believed to be hereditary; it is transmitted from parent to offspring. If the parents have suffered from cancer, some of the children may suffer in a similar manner. When the constitution of cancer has been inherited, slight causes are said to bring on the disease, such as blows and slight injuries.

Cancer of the womb occurs more frequently in the married than in the single, in those who have had children than in those who are barren, in those who have had many children than in those who have had few; so that it appears that fecundity, and the processes of bearing and giving birth, seem to favour the development of this disease. Cancer is not contagious. It cannot be transferred from one person to another by contact; it cannot be inoculated in another person.

There are several forms of malignant disease of the womb which have been usually classed under

CANCER.

cancer. Some of them are very rare, as the hard cancer. This, though met with frequently in other parts of the body, rarely affects the uterus. The forms usually met with in the womb are the cauliflower growth of the neck, or the epithelial variety, and the encephaloid.

Both these varieties form tumours, the latter in the neck of the womb, and the former attached to it like a cauliflower mass, as its name implies. The encephaloid is hard, irregular, or nodular, growing in the cervix, and not attached to it. The cauliflower mass is soft, spongy, and breaks down easily. These diseases are characterised by rapid growth. They increase quickly in size. In the early stages of their existence they appear to be limited to the neck of the womb, and may be removed entirely. This is especially true of the cauliflower growth. It rapidly extends, however-a few weeks or months suffice for it to extend to the neighbouring parts. The vagina, the rectum, and the bladder become involved. Soon the mass begins to break down and mortify or slough. When this takes place, shreds are passed, and an ulcer is formed in the womb. Ulceration goes on and involves the surrounding parts; the bladder and rectum may be opened, and the whole or nearly the whole womb eaten away.

The symptoms of cancer may show themselves at a

68

very early stage of the disease, or they may not appear until the disease has existed for a long time, and made serious progress. One of the first symptoms which usually attracts the attention of the patient is a flooding. This sometimes comes on early, before ulceration has taken place, and it may be very considerable in amount, or it may be a constant pinky discharge. Before this appearance of the flooding or discharge of blood, there has been usually a little white, or yellow, or watery discharge, but often in such small quantity as to be considered of no importance. When a profuse flooding, or a constant pinky discharge is present, attention is directed to it, and advice sought.

After this there is usually an abundant watery, gummy discharge. This comes on when the tissues begin to break down and ulcerate. The discharge often contains shreds of tissue, clots of blood, and is exceedingly offensive and irritating. The foul smell it possesses sometimes makes the patient a burden to herself and to those near her. This is occasionally the chief cause of complaint. This discharge causes irritation of the external parts, and may give rise to the most obstinate itching.

Pain is another symptom of cancer. It is present in some cases from the first, while in others there is but little pain throughout the whole course of the disease. The pain is in the bottom of the stomach,

CANCER.

and is of a gnawing, stabbing, or lancinating character. It is sometimes constant and severe.

When ulceration has begun, the disease makes more rapid progress. The discharge becomes very profuse, there are frequent floodings, and constant watery or serous discharge. These losses weaken the patient, and undermine the constitution. She loses flesh, and loses it rapidly, becomes thin, and occasionally very thin; a peculiar tint of skin soon appears, a slight yellowish-green colour. This appearance, when well marked, is almost characteristic of cancer When the disease has extended to the neighbouring tissues or the glands of the pelvis, the broad ligaments of the uterus and the ovaries, a tumour may be felt in the bottom of the stomach. The disease having invaded the peritoneum, causes inflammation of that structure, and gives rise to pain and tenderness.

When the ulceration has extended to the bladder and rectum, the contents of those organs are forced into the vagina, entailing the greatest misery upon the sufferer.

Cancer can with care be readily recognised by a doctor, but there are some forms of disease with which it is occasionally confounded, such as polypoid and fibroid tumours and certain ulcers, together with papillary growth of the neck of the womb.

Few cases of cancer recover. Rarely Nature alone effects a cure. If the disease be recognised in its early stage, there is no doubt that removal is the best method of treatment, and the only one that should be adopted. It admits of no delay. The case may be a suitable one for operation to-day, for it is possible to remove it entirely, but in a week or in a month other tissues may have become involved, so that it is impossible to remove the whole of the affected tissues. When this is the case, the treatment can be only palliative. The pain should be relieved by narcotics. Strict cleanliness should be enjoined so as to remove all discharges, and for this purpose an injection containing some disinfectant, as carbolic acid or Condy's fluid, may be used. The diet should not be too full. Rest is necessary, for motion frequently brings on flooding. It may be advisable to remove as much of the growth as is possible, with a view to check the bleeding. In this case astringent pessaries made of tannic acid and cacao butter will for a time effect this object. Nothing, however, can arrest the progress of the disease, yet removal of a part of it may so far palliate the symptoms as to render life tolerable. The disease brings with it occasionally a train of complications, such as inflammation round the womb, inflammation of the abdomen, poisoning of the blood, dropsy of the kidneys, which, inasmuch as

ULCERATION.

their cause cannot be removed, must be permitted to run their course. The only help that can be rendered is that for the relief of pain, to prevent flooding and fever, and to keep up the strength.

Ulceration of the Uterus .-- Ulceration of the womb is an affection said to be of very frequent occurrence, and a great number of the troubles from which women suffer have been ascribed to it. The part of the womb affected by ulceration is that which projects into the vagina, and is called the cervix. The term ulceration is applied to true ulceration where there is destruction of tissue, and also to another condition, where there is only removal of the thin layer of cells covering the part-of the epithelium. The latter condition is a very common one, while the former is of much greater rarity. Indeed, abrasion of the epithelium covering the lips of the uterus is found in almost all cases of long-standing uterine disease. It is most marked usually at the edges of the orifice of the uterus, but it may extend for some distance over the lips and up into the cavity of the womb. It is often very slight, and it may be difficult to say whether it is really present or not. It presents to the finger a soft velvety feel, and to the eye a red or dark-red congested appearance. In most fairly marked cases this condition can be readily diagnosed by the finger alone. This ulceration is said to give much trouble, and to

72

prolong and aggravate other uterine and ovarian diseases. They tend to keep up congestion of the womb, and in this way give rise to a constant discharge of "whites," and frequently to floodings. The patient also suffers from pains in the back and bottom of the stomach—a constant aching. The pains and the losses of blood and whites keep up a constant feeling of discomfort and uneasiness, and together reduce the strength and depress the spirits of the patient, until often she feels unfit for occupation of any kind.

The causes of this condition are sometimes somewhat obscure, but often its causes may be discovered and removed. The bad state of general health, or a derangement of the whole system, may give rise to abrasions of the womb. In these cases the treatment should be general and local. The strength of the patient should be improved by tonics, as quinine, iron, bark, mineral acids. The bowels should be regulated by mild laxatives. The dyspepsia from which these patients so frequently suffer should be removed by regulating the diet and by appropriate medication. The food should be of a nourishing character-milk and a fair amount of animal food. Stimulants should be taken sparingly, or not at all, unless absolutely required to improve the condition of the stomach and favour digestion. When required,

ULCERATION.

they should consist of sherry, or a little weak brandy and water. But again it should be said that it is better to avoid them as a general rule.

The question of exercise is one on which opinions differ considerably. Some believe that absolute rest is required, while others advise exercise in the open This question can only be decided for the parair. ticular case. No general rule can be laid down with regard to it, except, perhaps, that when the patient feels equal to taking exercise in the open air she should do so. Not the ulceration only, but the complications which accompany it, give indications of the necessity for taking or refraining from exercise. The local treatment consists, in the first place, in cleanliness-in injections of simple warm water night and morning. This removes the secretion-which is occasionally very irritating-from the part, and gives a fair chance for the vis medicatrix nature to effect healing of the sore. Frequently, however, other means are necessary, such as alum or sulphate of zinc in the water injection. The astringent action of these substances tends to diminish the size, or to contract the vessels of the part, and thus to relieve the congestion. In some cases bleeding is performed—a leech is applied to the womb, or a few punctures are made in the lips of the cervix by means of a short lancet. Other cases are treated

74

with lunar caustic—the solid nitrate of silver—or by other stronger and more powerful agents. These latter are very powerful caustics; they destroy the unhealthy tissue for some depth, and when the dead tissue which forms in consequence falls off, a healthy surface is found beneath. This, after a time, gradually heals, and the epithelium forms over it.

True ulceration—that is, destruction and removal of something more than the epithelium on the surface, the destruction of an appreciable thickness of the tissue of the cervix—is much more rare than simple abrasion.

This form may affect every part of the cervix, or it may be limited to the margins of the uterine orifice. The ulcer is of an irregular shape, and presents a granular uneven appearance; or it may be covered with a greyish or yellowish substance. The cervix of the uterus is red, swollen, and congested. This congestion extends through the whole of the womb, and even to its appendages. There is an abundant discharge from the womb, of a yellowish colour. There is a pain and a feeling of uneasiness in the pelvis, a bearing down and aching in the back. Sometimes the diseased part causes more or less profuse hæmorrhage. There are frequent attacks of floodings. The general health suffers in consequence. The patient becomes pale and nervous—often hysterical. The stomach

ULCERATION.

becomes deranged, the appetite is lost, the bowels confined. The patient becomes weaker; she complains of headache and pains here and there over the body. She gives up taking exercise, feels unfit for exertion, and becomes a confirmed invalid, and is confined to her couch.

The treatment is much the same as that of simple abrasion.

Rodent Ulcers.—This is a disease of a much more severe character than the two former. It partakes of the character of cancer, inasmuch as it is malignant. Like malignant disease, it is rarely, though it is occasionally, met with in the young. It is a disease which makes slow progress. It is much less rapid in its course than true cancer. It affects the neck of the womb, and may extend along the surface, healing at one part while extending at another; or it may eat deeply into the substance of the uterus.

The treatment consists in keeping up the general health—cod-liver oil, iron, rest, good food, and hipbaths. Strict cleanliness should be enjoined, for the discharges from it are of an acrid character. If there is pain, anodyne injections or pessaries containing opium, morphia, or belladonna, should be employed under proper advice.

Subinvolution of the Womb after Delivery.-During pregnancy the womb enlarges to several times its size

in the virgin state. After labour it weighs about a pound and a half, or even more. The process by which the organ is reduced to its original size is called "involution." This process should be accomplished in a month, or at most six weeks, after delivery. Sometimes it fails, or takes a longer time than usual; then involution is said to be impeded, and the womb to be in a state of "subinvolution." This is a condition very frequently met with, especially in the poorer classes of the inhabitants of large towns, as well as in those who live in luxury and ease.

Involution is accomplished in part by the muscular contractions of the womb itself, in part by absorption of the fat formed in the degenerated elements of the uterine tissue, in part by the discharge which escapes from the organ after delivery. Whenever any one of these three factors is interfered with, involution fails. There are numerous causes which arrest the proper changes in the womb after delivery, and give rise to subinvolution.

Amongst these the state of the general health plays a very important part. All exhausting diseases —as disease of the lungs, liver, or kidneys, fevers, scrofula—give rise to a general want of power in the system, a want of muscular power; the muscular system does not act with the vigour met with in health, and in such circumstances the womb after

SUBINVOLUTION.

delivery acts in a languid and feeble manner. This permits the organ to remain larger, less firm, and more flabby than natural; a greater quantity of blood is allowed to circulate, or, rather, to stagnate in it. This is in a high degree unfavourable to the occurrence of rapid healthy changes, and the consequence is that involution goes on slowly and imperfectly; the womb remains larger than it should be, and a low form of inflammation of the womb, with an abundant white and yellow discharge flowing from the organ, is the result.

During labour the neck of the womb is pressed upon by the head of the child, and in all cases that part is more or less bruised and lacerated. This natural condition greatly favours subinvolution, because it is a source of irritation, and tends to attract an increased flow of blood through the organ.

Rest is one of the most powerful agents in the treatment of disease, one of the most valuable aids in bringing about healthy changes. In the form of sleep it has aptly been designated "Nature's sweet restorer." The expression may not inappropriately be extended to all forms of rest, physical, mental, or functional. After the functional activity of pregnancy, the physical activity of labour, and the mental excitement associated therewith, rest—absolute rest of mind and body—is a most imperative want. Rest in bed for

78

at least a fortnight should be enjoyed by every young mother, and rest on the couch for a second fortnight. By this means alone many of the evils which follow pregnancy and labour may be avoided. Want of rest, too early getting up, and excitement are among the most common causes of subinvolution and the evils which follow it.

Want of food acts as a cause of arrest of involution in numberless cases amongst the poor of our large towns. They go for days during pregnancy without meat of any kind, and perhaps taste fresh meat once only in a week or a fortnight; and when their time of travail comes, it proves also a time of imperfect starvation. They have not the necessaries of life, much less the little delicacies which are acceptable to a woman at this time. Not only do they suffer from want of food, but want of rest comes in to aid it in its injurious influences, and the two are sure in their effects. This accounts for the exceeding frequency with which subinvolution is met with in the class of people named. Supply them with sufficiency of food, and the improvement in the condition of the subinvoluted womb is marked and rapid. Fibrous tumours, polypus of the womb, and flooding-the two former uncommon, but the latter a frequent cause of imperfect involution-give rise to permanent enlargement of the womb. The two former are rare causes

SUBINVOLUTION.

of this disease, because it is not common for a woman who suffers from either of them to conceive or become pregnant. Flooding after delivery, however, is a frequent occurrence in the weakly, and a prolific cause of uterine disease.

Inflammation of the womb, or of the tissues surrounding the womb, sets an effectual stop to the changes which naturally take place in the recently emptied uterus.

The sympathy between the breasts and the womb is at all times manifest, but during pregnancy and after delivery in a more marked and palpable manner than at any other period. The secretion of milk and the act of suckling are favourable to the natural changes which take place during the lying-in month. Indeed, nursing is the most healthy stimulus to involution of the uterus; and it is an unfortunate occurrence when the breasts refuse to perform their natural function of secreting milk. Under such circumstances recovery is more tedious and less complete than when the breast functions are naturally performed. How much more injurious must it be, then, when the breasts act healthily and vigorously, secrete abundance of natural food for the infant, but the mother refuses to perform her duty ! There is no doubt that the neglect of maternal duties in respect to suckling is a prolific cause of disease of the womb. On the other

80

hand, nursing may be over-done. It is not uncommon to see strong and healthy country women nursing their children for two or even three years, and it does not appear to do them any harm ; but this is owing to the native strength of their constitution, to the fresh air which they breathe, the plain nourishing food which they take, and the regular habits which they practise. Without all these it would be impossible for them to nurse for such a time without any grave and serious effects. The inhabitants of towns when they nurse for a long period—as they occasionally do—pay the penalty after the next pregnancy. Their system is soon enfeebled and exhausted. They cannot bear a prolonged drain upon it, and subinvolution and uterine disease is the inevitable result.

Subinvolution gives rise to pain in the back, bearing down on the pelvis, a feeling of exhaustion, and languor and lassitude, inability to walk, and unfitness for exertion. There is usually profuse whites and often profuse menstruation, or flooding. With these symptoms are frequently associated others due to the general state, as headache, giddiness, extreme general weakness, pains in the side, shortness of breath, palpitation, constipation, &c.

The treatment of this affection when undertaken early is favourable. It can, as a rule, be easily cured. If, however, it be allowed to go on unattended to for

SUBINVOLUTION.

months or years, then changes take place in the womb, which will remain more or less permanent in spite of all treatment. Hence the importance of early attention in those cases where the recovery after delivery has been imperfect.

The first requisite for cure is rest—especially after labour-rest in the recumbent posture. A good, plentiful, nutritious diet should be given. A little wine is very useful to help digestion in these cases. The bowels should be kept regular, and twice a day injections of warm or cold water, according to the nature of the case, should be made into the vagina. Tonic medicines are necessary to improve the blood and strength; bitters or acids and bitters to improve the appetite; then steel, or steel and quinine, will prove of great benefit. Should there be any active cause of the condition, as nursing, it should be stopped at once. If the discharges from the vagina be profuse, they should be arrested by injections of astringent substances, as decoctions of oak-bark, tannin, alum, There are some medicines which act directly on the womb, and these prove occasionally useful. Of these the best, and the one usually given, is ergot of rye. It should be given in combination with iron. It is hardly necessary to add that fresh air and healthy surroundings are necessary to a rapid recovery. As soon as possible the patient should go

for change of air and scene. This acts most beneficially upon the general health, and thus improves the tone of the whole of the muscular system, and favours involution.

Inflammation of the Womb .- Any part of the womb may become the seat of inflammation, the abdominal surface, the internal surface, or the whole tissue of the organ. It may be brought on suddenly, and then is said to be acute. This happens more frequently after labour than at any other time; indeed, acute inflammation of the virgin womb is of very rare occurrence; and when brought on, is due to foolishness or negligence. Its causes are suppression of the menses through exposure to cold at the time of menstruation, the use of cold or astringent injections at or about the time of the menstrual flow, and injuries from falls, blows, &c. The two first causes may, and ought to be, entirely avoided. A woman ought to know the time of the appearance of the menses, she should not be taken unawares, and should be prepared for their appearance. Unfortunately, however, the slight care and observation required for this is frequently not taken, and some, but by no means all, have to pay the penalty of carelessness in acute suffering.

The symptoms are stoppage of the flow, shivering, heat and pain in the pelvis, pain in the back and

INFLAMMATION.

thighs, bearing down, distension of the abdomen. There may be high fever, sickness, nausea, and painful micturicion. The inflammation extends in some cases from the womb to the bowels; then there is great fever, acute pain, severe sickness, distension of the abdomen, shortness of breath, drawing up of the knees. The least movement of the patient, or the least pressure on the stomach, gives rise to the most intense suffering. This is a very dangerous disease, and may prove fatal.

Treatment.-Medical advice should be sought without delay. Meanwhile, hot applications, as linseedmeal poultices or fomentations, should be applied to the abdomen, injections of warm water to the vagina. The further treatment of the case depends upon the symptoms present. In some cases leeches or gentle purgatives may be needed. In others warm hip-baths, and in others leeches to the abdomen and fundament; while in some cases opium is of the greatest use. But inflammation of the womb does not always come on suddenly. It comes on insidiously, and the sufferer is not aware of it until it has existed for some time and has become thoroughly established; or having set in as an acute attack, it does not entirely pass off, but slides into a milder form, which remains for a longer or shorter period. It is then called chronic inflammation. At first this form,

when it comes on insidiously, gives rise to few, if any, symptoms. It is certain, at any rate, that these are so slight that they do not attract the attention of the woman. One of the first things that excites suspicion of something wrong is a leucorrheal discharge-the "whites"-and this is allowed to go on without treatment for months or even years. This discharge may be viscid, sticky, transparent, like white of egg; or it may be a thick, yellowish, or greenish fluid, like matter; or it may be a thin, watery, pale fluid, having most irritant properties-giving rise to inflammation and excoriation of the external parts and upper parts of the thighs. Just before and after the monthly flux the discharge may disappear or be greatly increased in quantity. The menses may be accompanied by much pain, the discharge being profuse and clotty. In time the womb becomes tender, increases in size and weight, and sinks in the cavity of the pelvis. There is a feeling of heat and pain in the bottom of the stomach, bearing down, and a sense of fulness, dragging in the back, loins, and thighs, and sometimes sharp pains in the womb itself. The bladder also suffers; there is pain, and constant desire to pass water, sometimes there is difficulty in micturition. The bowels suffer in a similar manner; there is a forcing in that situation, frequent desire to go to stool, and pain with it. Walking becomes painful.

INFLAMMATION.

In course of time the general health suffers, the appetite fails, vomiting sets in, the bowels become constipated, there is headache, giddiness, pain in left side, and deterioration of the blood due to imperfect action of the stomach. Menstruation becomes painful and profuse, general nervous symptoms set in, neuralgic pains in various parts of the body, and confirmed hysteria.

The causes of this condition are, in the first place, those which produce the acute form—exposure to cold during a menstrual flow, either from washing in cold water, getting wet, or getting the feet wet, or simply insufficient clothing; irregular appearance of the menses seems to give rise to it also; over-exertion during the menstrual flow; displacements of the womb, abortions, miscarriages, and labour, and the subinvolution which follows them.

When attended to early, the disease is easily cured; but in most instances, as is usual in diseases of the womb, it has existed for a long time before anything is done to alleviate or cure it. Indeed, owing to the insidious manner of its early course, it is often not possible to take it at the start, and consequently treatment is often required for a long period. One of the most important agents in the treatment is rest. The sufferer should lie in the recumbent posture. It is not necessary for her to lie in bed, but she

86

should be moved during the day from the bed to the She should not stand on her feet or walk couch. about-this always aggravates the suffering. The bowels should be well regulated. Nothing is better for this purpose than saline aperients. Epsom salts are perhaps the best of all. They tend to relieve congestion. They can be regulated according to the The taste is offensive, but it can be patient's wants. pretty well disguised by the addition of a little syrup Mineral waters are of service, and a of lemon. sojourn in one of the English or foreign watering-The diet places will in some cases effect a cure. should be good, nourishing, easily digestible. Malt and spirituous liquors, or wine, should be avoided, or taken sparingly, as they seem to have an unfavourable influence on the congested womb. Light wines are the best when necessary. They should be taken for the sake of the digestion only; when the stomach performs its work efficiently they should be avoided. Unfortunately, it is rarely that the digestion is good, especially when the disease has lasted some time, and the use of wines becomes then necessary.

There is no medicine which has a direct and specific influence on the inflammation. But the general troubles associated with the condition should be met by acids and bitters, or, in some cases, soda, with bitters to improve the appetite, and then by tonic

INVERSION.

medicines to improve the state of the blood. Quinine, gentian, calumba, and iron are all useful in their Local treatment is also usually necessary in turn. these cases. Leeches to the fundament, or to the womb itself, or the withdrawal of a little blood from the uterus, applications of caustics, astringents, absorbents, or alteratives to the neck, or to the interior of the womb, may become necessary. Injections of hot or cold water, according to the individual case, may prove useful; or, if there be pain, injections of solutions containing soothing or anodyne substances, as opium, or pessaries containing opium, henbane, or belladonna. None of these, however, should be used except under medical advice.

Inversion of the Uterus.—In this disease the womb is turned inside out, and lies in the canal of the vagina, or projects outside the vulva. It may be complete, or only imperfect. It is a rare affection, and is usually brought about suddenly after labour, as the after-birth is born, or gradually through a dragging on the inside of the organ by a polypus attached to it. When it comes on suddenly, as after labour, the patient has pain, feels faint, violent flooding sets in, the patient becomes collapsed, and, unless relieved at oncc, death may ensue. When it comes on gradually, it is due to the expulsion of a polypus, and consequent dragging on the womb. Then there

88

is flooding, occasional or continuous; pain in the back, loins, and pelvis; walking is difficult; pain and difficulty at stool and in making water. When these symptoms have lasted some time, the constitution begins to sink. The continual loss of blood and pain depreciate the state of the blood, the appetite fails, the woman becomes pale, thin, and suffers from all the evils attendant upon a watery condition of the blood.

The condition of the womb can be recognised only by a careful examination of the organ.

When the womb is inverted suddenly after labour, attempts should at once be made to return it to its proper position, and in most cases these are success-Even when it has been out of position for a ful. long time, similar attempts with the same object should be made. In the latter case, however, there are many difficulties to be overcome, for the organ has become reduced to nearly its usual size, and its tissues have become hardened, and consequently the resistance to re-position is very great. By long patience, however, and by pressure exercised on the inverted part for a protracted time, these difficulties have been overcome in some cases which had appeared hopeless. This has been accomplished by the introduction of an elastic ball into the vagina, which, after its introduction, was distended with air, and

HÆMORRHAGE.

the exercise of continuous elastic pressure on the inverted part ultimately caused it to resume its natural position. Reduction of the inverted womb usually demands the greatest skill.

When this has quite failed, the bleeding which takes place from the inverted surface should be checked. The whole of the tumour should be bathed in an astringent solution, as of alum, tannin, acetate of lead, and surrounded with strips of lint soaked in one of these solutions; or in some cases strong caustics may be used, and it is said that these not only check the hæmorrhage, but reduce the bulk of the inverted organ—a result greatly to be wished.

When the inverted womb cannot be returned, and when the hæmorrhage becomes so obstinate as to threaten life, then, as a last resort, the organ has been removed. This operation has been performed several times with success; at the same time it is fraught with such danger to life that it should be resorted to only as a last chance of prolonging life.

Hæmorrhage in the Neighbourhood of the Womb, into the Cavity of the Belly, or into the Tissues.— Blood may be poured out in this situation from a number of sources. It is due generally to rupture of some small blood-vessels, or to blood disease. It usually happens between the age of fifteen and fortyfive, more often about the time of menstruation than

at any other. Pale, weakly women and stout women are said to be more liable to it than others. It is caused by violent efforts at the time of the menstrual flow, violence from falls or blows, and disease giving rise to an impoverished state of the blood.

It begins usually with a heavy dull pain in either groin, and a profuse menstruation or flooding. The menstrual flow often lasts a much longer time than usual. Then a sudden sharp severe pain is felt in the bottom of the stomach, the woman turns pale, faints, and becomes cold; soon she vomits. If this happen during menstruation, the flow may be completely arrested, or a profuse flooding may set in. There is bearing down in the pelvis, and forcing in the bladder and bowel. Sometimes there is difficulty, or even inability, to pass water or stool. The patient has a sense of weight in the bottom of the stomach, as if a heavy body were present in that situation. The abdomen becomes blown up with flatulence.

These symptoms pass off after a longer or shorter time, and symptoms of reaction set in. From the loss of blood and the sudden shock, the patient is naturally weak and exhausted. She is pale, often extremely pale—blanched. She soon becomes feverish, she is chilly, or may have slight shivering, the skin is hot, there is thirst. The tongue is foul, and the mouth dry. The bowels are confined, in some cases

HÆMORRHAGE.

obstinately so, owing to the obstruction caused by the pressure of the effused blood on the bowel. There may be frequent desire to pass water, or entire suppression. The bleeding is in some cases so great as to give rise to a tumour extending up as far as the navel. This is smooth, with usually an uneven upper border. There is pain and tenderness over the lower part of the belly.

It is a disease which rarely proves fatal. Most cases recover, though in some bad cases death has resulted from the loss of blood.

Treatment.-When the symptoms first set in, perfect rest should be at once secured. The sufferer should lie on the back in bed, and cold be applied to the lower part of the abdomen. Should there be any sickness, ice should be sucked. If the sufferer be very faint, stimulants should be administered, as champagne, brandy, or ammonia. Medical advice should be sought at once. Opium is of great service in this condition, but it is a drug that requires great care in its administration. When the stage of hæmorrhage and collapse is over and reaction has set in, the worst is generally past, though the illness may still prove protracted; yet there will be but little doubt as to the issue, provided the patient submits to be treated. Rest is a most essential condition of rapid recovery. A quantity of blood, varying in amount, has been

92

poured out of the vessels, and this is to be absorbed. This is a slow process, but it is surprising with what rapidity it will go on under favourable conditions. Rest is necessary not only to favour absorption, but to prevent inflammation and a further pouring out of blood by disturbing the parts. Movement may cause a considerable increase in the size of the tumour formed by the effused blood, and it may do this at any part of the process of recovery, and therefore rest should be secured with scrupulous care. This alone is in some cases sufficient treatment. Others require both local and general means to ensure a rapid recovery. Counter-irritation of the lower parts of the abdomen, by means of blisters or of a solution of iodine, is of great use. Both these act favourably in dispersing or in exciting absorption of the hæmorrhagic tumour. Blisters should be frequently repeated, and allowed to heal rapidly, or if a solution of iodine be preferred, the skin should be constantly kept sore with it. Sometimes the tumour, instead of becoming solid, remains fluid, or forms an abscess. In such cases it is not unusual to open it, and make an exit for the fluid or matter it contains.

The diet should be good, easily digestible, and sufficient. A little stimulant is useful — a small quantity of wine or brandy. Tonics, after the febrile condition has passed, are administered with a view

HÆMORRHAGE.

to improve the stomach, the blood, and increase the strength, and in this way to hasten the process of absorption. The bowels should be kept open, the bladder emptied by means of a catheter if there be retention of urine. Pain should be alleviated by opiates.

Occasionally profuse flooding has taken place at puberty, the menses making their first appearance as an abundant hæmorrhage. These cases are not very uncommon, but it is rare for such bleeding to be so profuse as to prove fatal, yet in some instances that has happened.

During the change of life, on the other hand, floodings are exceedingly common; and the time called the "dodging-time" is to most women a time of anxiety. The complete cessation of the menstrual function sometimes takes place quite suddenly. The woman is regular every month; the amount of the flow and its character are normal. It appears at the usual time, but never afterwards. The function has ceased. In other cases, again, the flow appears regularly from month to month, but in decreasing quantity, until it disappears entirely. In a third class of cases the flow becomes irregular; it is absent for two or three months, and then reappears again, then disappears for some time, then returns as a profuse flooding. It may go on in this manner for months, or even years,

the flooding lasting at times for weeks, and proving a source of grave danger.

A number of other symptoms make their appearance about this time—symptoms of nervous derangement and of disorders of the stomach and intestines. Headache, pains here and there over the body of a neuralgic character, depression of spirits, a gloomy state, irritability, loss of memory, forgetfulness, and waywardness, are now and then seen at this period of life.

One of the most peculiar occurrences of this period is the conviction of the existence of pregnancy acquired by women, when no such state is present. This has been called spurious pregnancy. It is seen not at this period of life alone, but at any other time after twenty or twenty-five. Women who have had several children are sometimes mistaken in this way, and it is not easy to convince them of their error. It is due to the nervous state present, and to disorders of the stomach and bowels. Constipation is frequently present, and when already acquired becomes aggravated. There is a tendency in many to become fat and stout. Flatulence and flooding are very common causes of complaint at this time. This period of life has always been regarded as in some sense critical, and rightly so. Certain diseases take a favourable, others an unfavourable, turn at this epoch. Some diseases disappear,

HÆMORRHAGE.

while others start into existence. If a woman passes through this stage of life in a favourable manner, she has good reason to expect fair health afterwards; she may be said to take a new lease of life.

Treatment.-The treatment of the troubles of this period are careful dietetic and hygienic measures. The diet should be plain and simple-meat once a day : fish, meat, game, poultry, with bread, vegetables, and fruit. Beer and spirits should be avoided, and wine taken very sparingly. The bowels should be regulated. A blue pill occasionally, with a saline draught on the following morning, is of service, for the liver acts sluggishly. Indeed, all the secreting organs are somewhat inactive in the performance of their functions. Friedrichshall, Pullna waters, Carlsbad and Vichy salts are very useful, and in some cases should be regularly used. In some robust and plethoric women a few leeches, or occasional cupping, or even a general bleeding, may occasionally be called for. For the nervous symptoms sedatives are recommended, especially the bromide of potassium.

CHAPTER IV.

DISORDERS OF MENSTRUATION (continued).

Painful Menstruation, or Dysmenorrhœa-Neuralgia of the Womb —Congestion and Inflammation—Displacements of the Womb —Flexions—Membranes expelled during Menstruation—Pain in the Groin.

In some women menstruation is a painless process. The flow comes unawares to them. This is probably the natural and healthy performance of the function. The greater number of women, however, suffer more or less discomfort-backache, headache, lassitude, and languor. In other cases, again, and they are by no means uncommon, the pain accompanying the performance of the menstrual function is severe. It varies in severity in different subjects; indeed, no two suffer exactly alike; the pain may be tolerable, or it may amount to the most excruciating agony. The pain comes on with the appearance of the discharge, and continues throughout the duration of the flow; or it may set in a few hours or a day before the discharge, and then it reaches its greatest intensity about the time the discharge reaches the outlet, continuing for the first day or two, and then subsiding. The causes of this pain often elude our investigation.

DYSMENORRHŒA.

It is present when the flow is scanty, as well as in cases where it is abundant; when nothing unnatural is discoverable in the womb as well as when that organ is obviously diseased. There is no doubt that the cause varies in different cases. In some it is believed to be neuralgia of the womb; in others, congestion and inflammation; in others, obstruction to the flow and displacement of the womb; in other cases it is due to the formation and expulsion of a membrane; while, lastly, it may be due to disease in the neighbouring organs.

The pain is usually of a bearing-down character; it begins or centres in the bottom of the stomach, and spreads to the groins, loins, back, sacrum, and down the thighs. It is sometimes compared to the pains of labour. It is often complicated by urinary troubles, as frequent and difficult micturition, and forcing in the bladder, and with bearing down in the bowel.

Neuralgia is an affection of the nerves, and comes and goes by fits or paroxysms. Many parts of the body are subject to it, as the face, the loins, the left side, the back, the thighs, as well as the womb. It is sometimes a most agonising pain, lasting for a considerable time; at other times it is a piercing, darting, or lancinating feeling. When the womb is subject to it, it manifests itself only about the menstrual periods. The pain is not limited to the womb; the skin of the
98

lower part of the belly and upper part of the thighs is tender, sometimes exquisitely so. The menstrual flow appears scantily at first, then more freely, and then relief is usually experienced; more commonly, however, the flow comes only scantily, and in gushes, then it stops altogether for a time, or is reduced to a mere stain; there is again a return of the pain, and another gush of blood fellows. In this manner it goes on for a part or for the whole of its duration. After the flow has ceased the patient recovers, to go through similar suffering with the return of the period. When this has gone on for some time, for years, the general system becomes affected. The patient becomes nervous and hysterical, suffers from flatulence, sickness, and obstinate constipation; has pains here and there over the body, headache, feels chilly, and is generally depressed both in mind and body.

It runs a protracted course, lasts for years. It is generally difficult to cure. Before the appearance of the flow, when the pain first sets in, a hot hip-bath should be used. The water should be as hot as the patient can bear, and she should sit in it for half an hour or an hour. Narcotics are given to relieve the pain, should it continue. They should be used as pessaries.

During the intervals the general health should be attended to. Bark and acids, cod-liver oil and iron,

DYSMENORRHEA.

are often beneficial. Quinine in some cases does good. Constipation should be warded off by gentle purgatives, of which the mineral waters are the best. Fresh air, exercise, walking, riding or driving, and early hours are valuable and necessary for recovery. Pregnancy will often, but not always, cure this disease.

The affection is sometimes seen in people of a gouty or rheumatic tendency. In such cases treatment should be directed to alleviate these conditions. Spasms of the wall of the womb are said to be associated with neuralgia. It is supposed that the narrow portion of the womb between the neck and the body becomes spasmodically contracted, and that at the time of contraction it retains the menstrual blood in the cavity of the womb, and when it becomes relaxed again the flow reappears in a gush. The treatment of this form is similar to that of neuralgia.

Congestion and inflammation of the womb are, as has already been described in treating of flooding, of frequent occurrence. They are often associated with inflammation in some of the tissues of the pelvis. The pain comes on several days before the appearance of the menstrual flow. The flow is at first scanty; after a day or two it becomes more abundant, but the pain continues more or less throughout. The discharge often contains small coagula of blood and shreds of membrane, or "bits of flesh," as they are often called

100

by patients. There is pain in the back, bearing down, aching of groins and thighs, a tired feeling, lassitude, and often sickness. The womb is often tender on pressure, the breasts swell and become tender and painful, there is irritability of the bladder and bowels, and generally a yellow discharge—the whites.

Hot hip-baths are useful, leeches to the fundament or the womb; during the interval, injections of hot water; plain living, moderate walking exercise, regulation of the bowels, and rest.

Obstruction to the free escape of the menstrual discharge is another cause of painful menstruation; and it is, perhaps, the most common of all. Moreover, it is not only the most frequent, but it is also the most easily relieved. The obstruction may arise from a number of causes, such as constriction of some part or the whole of the canal of the uterus, displacement, or displacement and bending or flexion of the uterus, tumours of various kinds.

Painful menstruation arising from narrowing of the canal of the womb is said to be not uncommon. This condition may be the original condition of the womb, a congenital one, or it may be acquired through the effects of inflammation after labour, or any injury. The pain due to it is severe. The discharge is scanty, escapes in gushes usually, each gush being accompanied by severe bearing-down pain, and followed by relief.

DYSMENORRHŒA.

There is backache, constipation, nausea, and vomiting; there is flatulence, and often tenderness over the lower part of the abdomen and groins. It is only possible to recognise the condition after a careful examination of the womb itself. It is not possible to make sure of it from the symptoms alone.

The object of treatment in such cases is to enlarge the canal of the womb, so as to make it sufficiently capacious to permit the easy escape of the menstrual blood. This has been effected by various means. Instruments called bougies have been passed along the canal of the womb through the narrow part. These should be sufficiently large to stretch it; sea-tangle and sponge-tents are used for the same purpose; or the opening may be enlarged by incision. These three methods are useful and suitable in different cases. The last is more permanent in its effects than the other two. Medicines have no effect on the condition in question, but still medication is often useful, because for a time the monthly sufferings of the woman give rise to constitutional disturbance, and bring on a train of symptoms similar to those described in the preceding paragraphs.

Displacements of the Womb frequently give rise to painful and also to profuse menstruation. In this place we will describe, as well as the true displacements of the womb, certain conditions which simulate

them, and which are constantly mistaken by women for them.

The womb is liable to be displaced in various directions. Upwards, by tumours pulling or pushing it; there are no symptoms connected with this form except those arising from its cause. To either side, from presence of tumours, or the contraction of inflammatory products; these, again, have no peculiar symptoms or treatment of their own. One of the most common forms of displacement is downwards. It is called falling of the womb. But women frequently say they have falling of the womb, that the womb comes outside, when such is not really the case. They find a smooth body bulging out through the mouth of the vagina, and they conclude it to be the fallen womb. There are other parts, however, which may fall down and bulge out in this manner, and these frequently complicate true falling of the uterus. The wall of the passage or vagina may be turned out, and form a considerable tumour. The anterior wall alone may fall, or the posterior alone, or both together. When the anterior wall is the part thus affected, the condition is called cystocele; when the posterior with the intestinal wall, it is called rectocele. These two conditions we will first describe, as they are so frequently mistaken by women for falling of the womb itself.

DISPLACEMENT.

The walls of the vagina are attached—the anterior to the bladder, and the posterior to the bowel—by very firm and close-uniting tissue. For this reason it is not easy for the wall of the vagina alone to become the subject of prolapsus or falling; yet occasionally this happens. The far more common condition, however, is for the wall of the bladder or of the bowel, or both, to participate in the fall of the vagina.

Whatever increases the capacity of the vaginal canal, or the dimensions of its walls, or the size of its opening, or renders their tissues loose and soft, may give rise to the conditions now spoken of. Of course, pregnancy and labour are by far the most common causes of such a condition. Pregnancy induces laxity, softness, and enlargement of the vaginal wall, and of all the tissues in its neighbourhood. Labour—the passage of the child—gives rise to immense distension of the canal, and frequently to tearing or laceration of the band of muscles around its orifice, and which forms the chief support of the vagina, the anterior portion of the perinæum.

The displacement may come on suddenly, or by violent efforts, by falls, straining, lifting, and by anything which calls forth violent muscular action. More usually, however, this affection comes on gradually. The person has had several children. She has not completely recovered after her later confinements.

She has had a sense of weight in the parts, a bearing down, occasional trouble with the water, perhaps some difficulty in walking or standing long, but it has not been such as to attract particular notice. The womb has remained larger and heavier than it should be after labour, and the vagina more capacious or more relaxed ; perhaps the perinæum has been slightly torn also. Another pregnancy and another confinement take place, and the consequence is that the fall of the vagina becomes marked. A portion of it is seen and felt in the shape of a round, smooth, soft swelling projecting through the vaginal orifice, and causes no little inconvenience.

Whites, or leucorrhœa, favour the production of this form of displacement. These discharges are rarely present for a long period without causing considerable relaxation of the vaginal wall and the parts around, and thus gradually pave the way for the falling of the part.

This condition is seen also in old people. In them the fat and padding around the vagina have been absorbed, the muscles are relaxed, the tissues are withered and wasted, they are unable to support the weight of the abdominal viscera, they yield, and the vaginal wall bulges out.

The symptoms of this affection are sometimes slight, sometimes severe in character. When the

DISPLACEMENT.

vaginal wall alone falls, there is a sense of weight and bearing down, a feeling as if something was coming away. There is a feeling of discomfort, and a difficulty in walking or standing. When the anterior wall of the vagina and the bladder are prolapsed, then there is in addition difficulty in micturition, the patient sometimes quite fails in her efforts to pass urine: she lies down, pushes the projecting swelling up, and then perhaps she can relieve herself. But even this expedient may fail; then the doctor is called, and the urine has to be drawn by an instrument. When there is difficult micturition the patient rarely empties her bladder entirely at any time. There is a little pouch of the bladder in the descended swelling which always retains a small quantity of urine; this decomposes, becomes offensive, sets up inflammation of the bladder; the patient now complains of pain, heat, forcing in the bladder, and scalding during micturition. By habitual care to empty the bladder completely, however, the condition last described may be avoided.

Instead of or as well as the bladder, the rectum or lower bowel may be dragged down by the vagina. When this happens, the bowel is affected as well as the bladder. A pouch is formed just within the opening of the rectum, which bulges out beyond the surface. This pouch is liable to become filled with

fæcal matter. The bowels cannot be completely emptied. Irritation of the part is set up; inflammation in the lining of the membrane of the gut follows, diarrhæa may set in of a mucous character, or obstinate constipation and great dilatation of the rectum may result; bleeding piles and ulceration are not unfrequent consequences. These changes in the bowel cause the patient the most varied troubles; the pain from the piles and ulceration is frequently excruciating; hæmorrhage takes place from the bowel, and there is a constant desire to go to stool and a severe bearing down.

These diseases can be easily recognised when care is taken in the examination. They should never be mistaken for anything else. When there is a falling of the anterior wall of the vagina, an instrument should be introduced into the bladder, and this cannot fail to show whether the latter organ is prolapsed or not.

When the posterior wall of the vagina is prolapsed, the finger should be introduced into the bowel, and search be made for the pouch characteristic of prolapse of the rectum. If this be found—as it cannot fail to be if present—the diagnosis is certain.

Treatment.—The treatment of these conditions is of great importance. Every effort should be made to cure, and not simply relieve the condition. To effect a cure a complete change in the condition of the parts

DISPLACEMENT.

must be brought about. This may in many cases be effected by rest, and applications in the form of injections or medicated pessaries. The applications used for this purpose are those which have a contracting or astringent action on the walls of the blood-vessels. They may be used in solution, and then are injected into the passage; or they may be used in the solid form, and in that case they are mixed with a substance which dissolves readily when exposed to a temperature of 99°, or blood heat. The substance most commonly used is cacao butter ; others have been recommended and used, such as jellies; but none are so efficient as the cacao butter. The astringents used as injections are alum, lead, oak-bark, sulphate of zinc, tannic or gallic acid. All these are efficient in their turn. Any one of these should not be used for a prolonged time, because the parts appear to become accustomed to its action. It is advisable, therefore, to vary the preparations and drugs used when their use for a long period is necessary. These means, however, frequently fail, and others become necessary. Of these means instruments called pessaries are most generally in use. They are made of a variety of materials, and should be of the size and shape to suit the individual case. They should not be worn for any time without being frequently seen to. It is true that women often wear them for months and even

years without suffering any great injury, but in many cases the injuries arising from such careless and reprehensible conduct is very great. A person wearing a pessary ought to have it seen to frequently at first, and when it is found to be suitable, it should be examined every three or four months at least. These instruments, however, never effect a cure. Once a pessary is used for this affection, it will have to be used for life. In some cases also it is not possible to construct an instrument which attains the object of retaining the part in position. Such cases can only be treated by operation. Operative measures must be so devised as to meet the peculiarity of the case.

There is one other means which often gives great relief in these cases. It is the **T** bandage. The method of applying this useful support has already been described. It gives so much support to the perinæum, that it retains the parts from bulging out. The pad should be thick and well formed, so as to support the part uniformly and sit easily. Much may be done in this manner to relieve these troubles or affections without having recourse to an operation for their radical cure.

Prolapsus of the Uterus, or falling of the womb, is a disease frequently met with. It is usually seen in those who have borne children, but has been discovered in those who have not. It may come on gradually,

PROLAPSUS.

or all at once. A very severe strain, or a sudden fall, or a fit of convulsions may be the cause of the affection coming on suddenly. In the great majority of cases, however, the cause acts slowly. The woman She has had several children perhaps. is a mother. The tissues supporting the womb have been relaxed and stretched at each birth for the passage of the child. After labour the patient has not the amount of rest necessary for the parts to return to their usual state. She has been obliged to get up too early, had to attend to the household duties. The result is a permanently relaxed state of the tissues supporting the womb. This is only one instance of the manner in which this condition of the parts may be brought about. There are other numerous causes, as want of food, over-nursing, a feeble constitution, &c.

Again, the perinæum may be torn during labour, as the head is born. The part is one of the chief supports of the vagina and womb, and any considerable laceration of it almost inevitably leads to falling of the womb.

Enlargement of the womb, provided it be not too large to descend through the pelvis, is another fertile cause of descent of the organ. This enlargement may be due to subinvolution, or a failure on the part of the womb to return to its normal state after labour, to inflammation and tumours of the womb.

Tumours in the neighbourhood may press it downwards, and the vagina may drag it downwards, but by far the most common are the conditions superinduced after labour.

It is met with also in old women, and in these cases the manner of its production is peculiar. In such cases the womb is usually small, it is atrophoid, its weight is small, for the organ is not much bigger than that of a child. In such people the fat which lies under the skin is absorbed, it disappears, and the skin becomes too large, loose, wrinkled. In a similar manner the fat around the internal organs is removed. The fatty pad found in the pelvis, around the vagina, bladder, appendages of the uterus, and the rectum, is removed. In this way the cavity of the pelvis appears larger, and as far as the uterus is concerned is actually larger, and as a consequence the womb descends.

The descent varies in degree. It may fall slightly only in the pelvis, or it may come down as far as the orifice of the vagina, and often it is found entirely outside, hanging down between the thighs.

The symptoms of this affection are by no means enough to characterise the disease, and examination alone is sufficient for the diagnosis. Women subject to prolapsus generally complain of pain in the back. This pain is at the bottom of the back. It is to continuous dull aching. This is a very common

PROLAPSUS.

symptom of uterine disorder. The whites is not a rare accompaniment of this form of displacement. The vessels leading to the womb, and the tissues around it, are constricted in consequence of the displacement, and the organ becomes congested and enlarged. Menstruation may be natural, but it is occasionally very profuse and painful.

The actions of the bowel and bladder are interfered with. There may be difficulty at stool or in micturition, and very frequently there is great forcing both in the bowel and in the urinary bladder.

Inability or difficulty in walking is another symptom in these cases. The patient may be quite unable to walk, or they can walk for short distances, but with pain and fatigue. Excessive fatigue after little exertion—fatigue in utter disproportion to the exertion made—is frequently complained of by those suffering from uterine troubles.

When the womb has been outside for some time the soft red mucous membrane covering the vagina becomes altered. The constant exposure, and the irritation to which it is subject, change its appearance and character. It becomes pale, harder, and more like the skin of the body. Ulcers also form on parts of it. These are sometimes deep and sharply defined. They are found in the situations most exposed to rubbing and other irritation. The neck of the

II2

womb itself is frequently the seat of one of these ulcers.

Treatment.-The womb should be replaced, and maintained in position. As a rule, there is no great difficulty in replacing the organ; but sometimes the difficulty in effecting this is extreme, and requires the greatest skill in manipulation. In replacing the womb the patient should be lying down on the side, or, better still, on the knees, with the shoulders low down, and then the protruding womb seized and gradually pressed upwards into its normal situation. In some instances it has been necessary to put the patient under chloroform, or some other anæsthetic, in order to attain this object. By this means all resistance, straining, and movement on her part are removed, and the muscles of the abdomen and chest are rendered lax, so that the object can be more easily gained. When the uterus has been replaced, the next object is to keep and maintain it there-- to prevent its falling down again. This may be done in various ways.

In this connection a question of considerable importance arises, and that is the female dress. The clothes which women wear are supported by being tied round the waist. In some cases they are very tightly drawn around that part; but, fortunately, the absurd and wicked fashion of tight lacing no longer exists as in former days. But still, much mischief is done

PROLAPSUS.

even now by tying the clothes round the waist in the manner usually adopted. The effect of this bad fashion is to increase the weight upon the lower wall of the belly. The intestines are pressed downwards upon the womb, and the perinæum and vagina have to do extra work. When this has been going on for years, and in favourable conditions, falling of the womb is necessarily brought about. The first thing to do, then, is to have the clothes properly made, and instead of being tied round the waist, they should be suspended from the shoulders.

. If the patient can rest on the couch, without walking or making any effort, and if the disease is recent, a cure can often be effected by appropriate treatment; but if the disease is of old standing, and the patient cannot lie up, the means of treatment are palliative only.

There is another disease of the womb which simulates in many points descent of that organ-that is, elongation and enlargement of its lower portion, which is called the neck, or cervix. Cases of this are by no means uncommon. It occurs at all ages, in the married and the single, in those who have had children and those who are barren. It is, however, oftener met with in married women. Women generally believe it is a true falling of the womb, and it requires a careful examination in order to recognise the true

I

nature of the affection. The length of the elongated part may be such as to project at the orifice of the vagina, or it may only fill that passage like a polypus, or a foreign body. It is hard, smooth, and conical, with a hole at the most prominent part. The womb is longer and larger than usual. The woman complains of weight, bearing down, and discomfort in the bottom of the stomach. She is unable to sit without pain, the enlarged part being pressed upon. Whites are usually present. Menstruation is profuse, and often painful.

In some cases removal is the only effectual remedy. The operation is simple, and devoid of danger. When this has been done, the enlarged upper part of the uterus generally diminishes in size. In other cases, removal of the whole of the elongated part is not possible; but a portion of it may be removed, and this is often sufficient to effect a cure. Before this is attempted, however, rest, with general and local treatment, should be tried. The general health should be regulated, and the tonic applications described under falling of the womb should be used. These all afford relief, if not a complete cure. When these fail, operative means should be resorted to.

Displacement, with Change of Shape, or Bending of the Womb.—These are called flexions of the uterus. The organ is bent or doubled on itself. When the

DISPLACEMENT.

bend is forward, it is called anteflexion; when backward, retroflexion.

An inclination forward, with even a slight bend or curvature, is the normal position and shape of the womb in the virgin.

Flexion backwards, or retroflexion, is never a healthy and proper position of the womb. During early pregnancy the womb sinks in the pelvis, and is inclined slightly backward, but not bent in that direction. Later, as the womb grows larger, it loses that position, and becomes inclined forward, and maintains the latter position until the end of pregnancy. Slight anteflexion, as already stated, is a normal condition in the virgin; when it, however, becomes marked, it is disease. It is not unfrequently met with in a marked degree in the single as well as in the married. Retroflexion, or bending backward, on the other hand, is a rare affection in young girls, but more common in those who have borne children.

The symptoms vary somewhat, according as the womb is bent forwards or backwards; but they are not sufficiently distinct to distinguish one from the other. A careful examination of the womb itself can alone supply evidence sufficient for that. Usually there is severe pain in the bottom of the back, bearing down in the pelvis, pain in the groins and down the

thighs, dragging at the navel, pain at stool, painful micturition, or micturition may be difficult or quite impossible, and painful menstruation. The menstrual discharge is often profuse, sometimes amounting to a flooding. The discharge is clotty, and often comes away in gushes. The pains accompanying this function are sometimes like those of labour. When conception takes place, abortion is likely to follow about. the third or fourth month. Conception, however, rarely takes place, and the majority of women suffering with this form of displacement are sterile. There is usually a white or yellow discharge between the menstrual epochs. The general health becomes affected, as it does, sooner or later, in most persons affected with disease of the womb. The appetite is lost, the digestion enfeebled, the blood becomes watery, nutrition imperfect, nervous symptoms now set in, and the patient ultimately may become hysterical. The pain in the back and pelvis becomes aggravated in walking or standing, and the patient is unable to walk. She consequently lounges about, and becomes a confirmed invalid. The causes of these forms of displacement are bad general health, want of tone in all the tissues of the body, congestion and inflammation of the womb, enlargement of the womb, pregnancy, labour, and abortion. Abortion is a very frequent cause, for the reason that it is too commonly regarded

DISPLACEMENT.

by women as an occurrence of but slight importance, and during the whole time they go about doing their household or other duties; or, if they are compelled to rest for some time, they get up before the womb has had time to return to its normal healthy state. Pregnancy in the poor is equally productive of the affection under consideration, for they are obliged to get up much before the time of complete involution of the uterus. Tumours of any kind pressing on or dragging the womb, as fibroid tumours, or osseous tumours, &c., give rise to flexions by their mechanical effects. Violent efforts, as in lifting, over-reaching, straining, vomiting, falls on the buttocks or pelvis, and tight clothing, may also bring on flexion. Many cases of flexion, however, are congenital; the womb was born in a bent state.

Treatment.—The object is to reduce the displacement and straighten the womb, and maintain it afterwards in its normal position. In some recent cases, and cases in which the displacement has been suddenly brought about by violence of some kind, simply straightening the organ and placing it in the normal position, suffices to effect a cure. Such cases are, however, exceedingly rare. Usually, when medical advice is sought, the patient has suffered for months, or perhaps years, and the womb has become accustomed to its abnormal position; and in some cases

II7

inflammation has been set up around it, and bound it down by false membranes in that situation. When this is the case, when the organ is straightened and replaced, it immediately falls back again to the old position. Such cases are very difficult of treatment, and require a long time for recovery. The first object should be to replace the womb in its natural position. This is done by the hand if possible; should this be impossible, instruments have been devised for the purpose.

After the organ has been replaced, means should be adopted to retain it there. These are several :—

Rest. This, in many cases, is absolutely essential. The patient should remain in bed, especially when there is inflammation around the displaced organ. If there be congestion or inflammation and great tenderness of the uterus, leeches and the treatment described under the head of inflammation may be called for.

While resting, the woman should lie on her face if she suffer from retroflexion, and on her back if from anteflexion. Lying on the face is, as one would fancy, a rather irksome position; but by a little management and arrangement of pillows it may easily be rendered quite tolerable.

All pressure should be removed from the abdomen. When the patient rests in bed, of course this will follow in the course of things. When, however, she

DISPLACEMENT.

is up and about, it is far less likely to be the case. Women's clothes consist of heavy skirts, supported by the hips. In some cases tight stays are often worn so tight as to produce evil effects, by contracting the lower part of the chest and upper part of the abdomen, thus giving rise to imperfect respiration and crowding of the intestines in the lower part of the body. This occasions pressure on the womb, tends to displace it. to maintain it in an abnormal position, and is unfavourable to its restoration to its normal situation. To avoid these, two things may be done, the clothes may be suspended from the shoulders, and an abdominal supporter should be worn. The clothes may, by a very simple arrangement, be slung from the shoulders, and in this manner the abdomen be freed from their weight.

An abdominal supporter should be worn with the view of taking the weight of the abdominal viscera from the uterus. It is especially useful to women when the abdominal walls are lax and yielding, as they so frequently are after repeated pregnancies. It should consist of a belt of webbing, with strong elastic let into it at the sides. The belt should fit tightly round the hips. To the part of it which goes over the lower part of the abdomen a broad pad, stiffened by means of cork or a thin sheet of steel, should be attached. The pad should be about four inches square,

and should fit the lower part of the abdomen below the navel. These means—which have the result of the removing of the weight of the clothes from the abdomen, and the abdominal supporter—are found to give, in many cases, great relief. They are, however, not efficient to maintain the womb in its normal position. They simply relieve it from causes which act unfavourably upon it.

To maintain the organ in the restored shape, certain instruments called pessaries, to which we have before alluded, are necessary.

Pessaries, though great evils, are in many cases absolutely necessary; and when all other means have failed in bringing about a cure, recourse must be had to them. They are, however, not suitable in all cases, for they cannot be tolerated when inflammation is present; and until this is removed or mitigated their use is forbidden. Instruments of this kind are of various shapes. Some are introduced into the cavity of the womb, and allowed to remain there. These are called stems, or stem-pessaries. Others, again, are not introduced into the womb, but into the vagina only, and are made to press on the anterior surface of the organ, so as to raise and push the bent part backwards if the case be one of anteflexion. Those for retroflexion are made to press on the posterior surface of the bent organ, so as to raise and

MEMBRANOUS DYSMENORRHEA. 121

push it forwards. Some of these are entirely introduced into the passage, and are retained there by their shape and the tonicity of the part; others, again, are introduced in part only, and part of them remain projecting outside. The part in the vagina is made to press on the womb in such a manner as to straighten it and maintain it in position, while the part outside is attached to strings, which are tied round the body so as to maintain the instrument in its proper place. When these instruments are worn they should be frequently attended to. Every two cr three months, at most, they should be taken out and changed, or re-introduced. Unless this precaution be attended to, serious injuries may result from too long-continued or too great pressure on one part, besides the tendency of foreign bodies, when introduced into any part of the body, to become foul and encrusted with a deposit.

Membranous Dysmenorrhæa, or menstruation accompanied by pain and the expulsion of a membrane, is not a very common affection. It is seen occasionally, and is supposed to be due to inflammation of the womb. The menstrual period returns, and is accompanied by a good deal of pain of a bearing-down character, and situated in the region of the womb—that is, in the lower part of the stomach; on the first, second, third, or fourth day a membrane is passed. It is usually

called by women a piece of flesh, and has somewhat of that appearance. It is sometimes a complete sac, a mould of the womb itself. It is three-cornered, flattened, and flocculent on its surface. There is a little hole in every corner. The membrane may be passed, however, in several pieces, at different days of the flow, or even in small shreds. Some authorities assert that inflammation is the cause of this affection; while others doubt the presence of inflammation in some cases, but admit it in others. There is no doubt of the existence of congestion and enlargement of the womb in all cases. The pain comes on several days before the appearance of the flow. It is situated in the pelvis, the abdomen, the groins, and back. It is of a bearing-down character-somewhat like labour pains. There is forcing also in the bowel and the Strange pains in the abdomen and around rectum. the navel are sometimes felt. The pain gradually increases in severity until the membranes are expelled. After this event it abates, and even ceases altogether. The flow is at first in some cases scanty, but it increases until the membrane is passed, and immediately after is often very profuse and clotty. It occasionally lasts a week or ten days. During the intermenstrual interval the patient may be comparatively well. The membrane is expelled, as a rule, with every menstrual flow. Occasionally, however, a period may pass without

MEMBRANOUS DYSMENORRHEA. 123

a membrane. The disease sometimes appears to get The membranes are not passed for well of itself. months together, and then are passed again with every There can be little doubt that some cases period. which have been described as membranous dysmenorrhœa were cases of abortion. It is, indeed, difficult to distinguish early abortion from membranous sacs of dysmenorrhœa. It occurs at any age between fifteen and forty-five or fifty. It is seen in the married and in the single, in those who have had children and those who have had none. The condition, once it has set in, usually, but not always, entails sterility. There are some cases recorded where women who suffered from this disease became pregnant, and had happy confinements. At the same time this is rare. The continuance of the disease leads to general suffering. The whole body sympathises with the womb, every organ in the body becomes disturbed and fails in the discharge of its functions, nervous symptoms set in, and may end in confirmed hysteria.

Membranous dysmenorrhœa is a most intractable disease. It is very difficult of cure, and when a cure has been effected it has been after long and patient treatment. Rest, physical and functional, is of the greatest importance.

The attack itself is to be treated by anodynes.

Medicines which relieve pain, as opium, morphia, chloral, &c., are administered; during the interval an effort should be made to improve the general state, and to remove the local affection. The bowels have a great tendency to become obstinately constipated. It is with difficulty they can be regulated. The stomach is almost invariably disturbed—often there is vomiting, and the tongue is foul. Brisk purgatives are the best means of relieving the two conditions: Epsom salts, Carlsbad salts, Friedrichshall water, &c., together with attention to diet.

Tonics are often called for to improve the condition of the stomach and blood; bitters, as quinine, bark, and mineral acids.

Ovarian Dysmenorrhæa.—This is due to inflammation and other disease of the ovary. It is not uncommon. It may exist without any trouble in the womb, but it is frequently associated with uterine disease. What relation exists between the condition of the uterus and of the ovary, when they are present together, is uncertain. The pain comes on between the periods, sometimes several days before the appearance of the menstrual flow. When the flow appears, the pain, in some cases, disappears, while in others it lasts while the discharge is on. The pain is situated above the groin, and extends up the side and to the back. It is usually on the

OVARIAN DYSMENORRHEA.

left side, rarely on the right. The pain is occasionally severe, and there is also great tenderness of the skin over that region, so that the patient cannot bear the slightest touch, not even the bed-clothes. Women sometimes imagine that a tumour forms at the seat of pain, for they observe that the part is occasionally swollen. This swelling can in many cases be easily recognised. It is worse when the pain is severest; that is, before and about the menstrual epochs. It is not due to a tumour, but to distension of the intestine with gas--to flatulence. It disappears and reappears again at the next flow. When the bowels are confined, the pain at stool is intense, sometimes so severe that the person faints. This pain is in the left side. There is often intense pain in the back and down the thigh on the affected size. It is aggravated by walking, driving, or riding, so that the patient in many cases is quite unable to take exercise, except that of the gentlest kind, as in a bath chair. It is very frequently accompanied by nervous symptoms. Vomiting is very common; hysteria by no means unusual. At first the nervous attacks appear only during or about the menstrual epoch, when the pain becomes aggravated, but after a time more oz less prolonged they come on at any time. Any effort. mental or physical fatigue, or slight emotion, will in many advanced cases of the affection bring on a fit

of hysteria. Exposure to cold during menstruation, and a rheumatic tendency, are said to give rise to it. A more frequent cause is pregnancy and labour. The treatment of such cases is attended with the greatest difficulty and anxiety. The general treatment is of the utmost importance, with a view to guard against the worst and most trying part of the affection, the nervous attacks. Women who are the subjects of this disease are generally weakly and delicate, and no treatment can succeed which does not improve the general health. Warm clothing is necessary. Flannel should be worn next the skin-vest and drawers. The diet should be good, simple, nourishing. Fresh meat and milk should be insisted upon; stimulants entirely interdicted. Exercise in the open air is absolutely necessary, in order to keep up the general health. When a patient is able to walk, it is better for her to do so than go in a bath chair or a carriage; but in cases where walking is impossible, she should be taken out every day in a bath chair. Riding and driving cause jolting, and this gives rise to aggravation of the pain and of the diseased condition. Warm hip-baths are useful. They should be taken once or Blisters to the painful part relieve twice a week. the pain. They should be frequently repeated, and healed as quickly as possible. Other counter-irritants, as croton oil liniment and iodine, are used in some

OVARIAN DYSMENORRHEA.

cases. Anodyne applications, such as belladonna plaster, chloroform liniment, &c., are frequently useful for the relief of the sufferings. Internally, tonics —bark, quinine, iodide of potassium and bromide of potassium, steel—acids, &c., are used. The bowels should never be allowed to become constipated, they should be regulated by saline or mineral aperients, for the certain consequence of constipation is great aggravation of the suffering.

CHAPTER V.

THE WHITES-OFFENSIVE DISCHARGES-HOW TO USE INJECTIONS.

In health the only discharge which takes place from the generative passages is the monthly discharge of blood, called the menses. Many women have a whitish discharge for a few hours before the appearance of the flow and immediately after its cessation, but this must be regarded as part of the menses; while any discharge occurring at any other period is undoubtedly the product of disease either general or local. Discharges are of very frequent occurrence. Indeed, few women pass through life without at one time or another suffering more or less from discharges. They have received the name of "whites." They are, however, of very different characters, have different properties, and originate from different sources.

Slight causes suffice in many cases to give rise to a discharge, as a chill, exposure to a draught of air, or change in the constitution of the atmosphere. The great majority of the diseases which affect the sexual system give rise to a discharge; and such discharge may be poured out by the vagina. by the womb itself, or by parts situated in the pelvis outside the womb.

WHITES.

A pale white discharge is occasionally seen in young girls who are not regular, or in whom the menstrual discharge has not appeared at all. In these cases it returns monthly, at the times in fact when the menstrual flux should appear. It is in fact a sort of substitute for menstruation, a sort of "vicarious menstruation." In some cases the discharge is free and abundant, and consists of whitish or yellowish mucus; it lasts for two, three, or four days, then ceases, to return again at the end of the monthly interval.

Disorders or irregularities of the menstrual function, painful performance of it, increase in the amount of the flow, are frequently associated with a yellow discharge, which flows continually or at intervals.

Constitutional states may be the cause of whites. In scrofulous persons the mucous membranes have a tendency to become soft and somewhat swollen. The surface of the membrane not unfrequently becomes a little uneven—granular. This is very often seen in the mucous membrane covering the eye-ball. In such persons leucorrhœa is a by no means uncommon affection. It is also seen in the gouty, the rheumatic, and the consumptive. These forms of the disease are of a very obstinate and rebellious character. Inflammation of the genital passages, or any portion of them, is a not uncommon cause of this affection. In this manner

inflammation of the vagina or of the womb may be the disease which must be cured in order to remove the accompanying discharge.

It is a matter of some importance to make out the exact source of the discharge, whether it comes from the vagina, from the neck of the womb, or from the body of the womb. It may have its source in any one of the situations named, or in all of them; the treatment of course will vary in some very important particulars, according to the part of the canal diseased; the treatment applicable to vaginal leucorrhœa is not applicable to that of the uterine cavity, and *vice versû*.

Debility, anæmia, or deficiency and poverty of blood, is a very frequent cause of whites. In this condition of the blood the whole body is affected. The blood being the source of the nutriment carried to the tissues, its constitution necessarily has a direct relation to the constitution of the tissues; and when the blood is deficient and the blood corpuscles few in number, the tissues will be insufficiently nourished, and in a state of relaxation. There is a tendency in these conditions to an excessive secretion from many of the glands of the body. The skin is frequently moist from the excessive action of the sweat glands. The mucous membranes are liable to pour out fluxes, and the genital canal pours out white discharge.

Disorders of the stomach and bowels are sometimes

WHITES.

accompanied by leucorrhœal discharge. Indigestion, constipation, diarrhœa, or excessive distension of the abdomen give rise to it without there being present any evident disease of the uterus.

In many cases it arises from want of cleanliness, and improvement in this respect will be immediately followed by a diminution in the quantity of the white discharge. Leucorrhœa, as we stated when treating of pruritus or itching of the vulva, is a frequent cause of that distressing malady. It may also give rise to inflammation of the external organs of generation, of the upper parts of the thighs, of the vagina, and to sterility or barrenness. It may also in some cases be the cause of enlargement of the womb.

Treatment.—One of the first things that should be done is to observe the most absolute cleanliness. External washings and ablutions are not sufficient. The vagina or passage should be carefully washed out with warm water once or twice a day. It is convenient to do this while in the morning bath, and while retiring at night. This is a most important part in the treatment of the affection. The further treatment must depend upon the exact nature of the case. Should the source of the leucorrhœa be the vagina, astringent injections will be useful. Should it depend on disease of the uterus, special local as well as general treatment will, in most cases, be required. When it

arises from constitutional states, these should be treated. If there be a rheumatic tendency, warm clothing, efficient action of skin, &c., will be advisable. If gouty, stimulants should be avoided, exercise taken, and saline purgatives occasionally. If the discharge depends on anæmia, the treatment of that affection should be adopted. There are few cases where the object should be simply the suppression of the discharge; indeed, as a general rule, they should endeavour to remove the cause of it rather than simply suppress it.

Some women are rather fond of using injections of cold water and of astringent solutions. The practice in many cases is harmless enough ; but every now and then they are used with very disastrous effects, for they set up inflammation in the abdomen around the uterus, cause intense pain, and render the person an invalid for months. Cold water, and astringent solutions of alum, tannin, oak-bark, lead, zinc, &c., should only be used when advised by a doctor, and when there is no congestion or inflammation of the parts. When the latter conditions are present astringents are injurious, and soothing fluids should be used, such as infusion of linseed or starch, or a weak decoction of poppy-heads. When the acute symptoms have been in this manner subdued and the case has become chronic, then the use of astringent injections

VAGINITIS.

is to be recommended. In many cases, however, it is found that the most skilled and varied treatment fails in its purpose of curing the disease and suppressing the discharge.

Inflammation of the Vagina—Vaginitis.— Severe inflammation of the vagina is a very painful, though not a very common affection. It arises sometimes from the injuries done to the vagina by the head in its downward passage during labour; from exposure to cold during the menstrual discharge; from injuries inflicted on the coats of the passage by the introduction of foreign bodies or injections, and it also occurs during fever.

The symptoms are generally very severe. There is intense pain or burning in the part; micturition is painful and scalding, it may be difficult or frequent; there is a sense of bearing down and of weight in the pelvis; violent throbbing; profuse discharge of yellowish matter having an offensive odour; the parts around the opening of the passage become red, swollen, the skin over them stretched, and the inner surface of the canal is intensely red, hot, and covered with matter. It is very tender, and not unfrequently slightly ulcerated. The vulva, or external parts, are excoriated.

In this form the disease lasts several days, or even two or three weeks; then the violent and pronounced
symptoms just enumerated gradually decrease in severity, and the disease subsides into the form next to be described—chronic vaginitis. The inflammation occasionally extends into the cervix and body of the uterus, giving rise to a disease we shall describe later on, which is called endometritis, or an inflammation of the lining membrane of the uterus; it may even pass up into the fallopian tubes, and through them as far as to the cavity of the abdomen, thus giving rise to pelvic peritonitis.

Treatment .--- The patient should rest quietly in bed, and should avoid walking and movement as far as possible. The pain should be relieved by bathing with a decoction of poppy-heads, or hot water; hipbaths of hot water; injections of decoction of poppies, of starch, or of linseed tea, should be frequently made. After the injection, a pessary of opium or morphia should be introduced into the passage-especially if the pain be very severe. The bowels should be kept freely open by saline draughts, and the diet should be low and unstimulating, alcoholic drinks being entirely avoided. Abundance of diluent drinks, as barley water, linseed tea, and lemonade, should be taken, with a view to increase the quantity and dilute the strength of the urine. When the pain, swelling, and extreme redness have disappeared, and the disease has settled down into the chronic form, then

astringent injections are of great use, as solutions of alum, acetate of lead, sulphate of zinc, &c. But these remedies, it must be remembered, should not be used in the first stage of the disease.

Chronic Inflammation of the Vagina is a very common affection, induced by very slight causes. It gives rise to a discharge of yellowish or whitish fluid, which is sometimes constant and profuse. This is not noticed, or, if noticed, not treated at first, and after a time it gives rise to discomfort and unpleasant general symptoms—headache, loss of appetite, depression of spirits, indigestion, nausea and sickness, lassitude, inability to walk a moderate distance, a sense of weariness or fatigue, and constipation. Along with the discharge little shreds of membrane are frequently shed, and sometimes even perfect moulds of the passage.

Treatment.—The general health must be attended to. Bitters, as bark or quinine, and acids. The bowels should be regulated; change of air is useful, sea-air and sea-bathing. Cold douches or cold baths; good and generous diet. The local treatment consists in the use of injections of warm water for cleanliness, and of acetate of lead, sulphate of zinc, tannin, alum, or some other astringent solution for constricting the vessels of the part, and to give them tone. Though the disease is frequently obstinate and

rebellious, yet by perseverance, and by improving the general state of the health, a cure may generally be effected. The method of using injections will be given later on.

Other Kinds of Discharge.—Children occasionally suffer from a white or yellow discharge from the generative passages. It is of great importance to attend to this, for it gives rise to irritation, and the child may scratch or rub the parts for relief, and in consequence possibly acquire bad habits. It is seen in scrofulous, weakly children. Thread-worms occasionally give rise to it, and to intolerable itching of the part. It occurs also in acute fevers, as smallpox, scarlet-fever, &c.

The first step in the treatment is cleanliness. The parts should be carefully washed with warm water two or three times a day. Having done this, they should be bathed with a little lukewarm Goulard water, and a strip of lint wet with the lotion should be placed between the parts. The child should be kept at rest. But this is not enough, the cause of the discharge should be removed. If the child is scrofulous or weakly, she should have cod-liver oil, steel wine, fresh air, and good food. A search should be made for thread-worms in the motions, and if there be any present, injections into the bowel of salt-and-water, or of lime water, should be administered two or three

DISCHARGES.

times a week until none can be any longer found. At the same time steel wine, or some other preparation of iron, should be given.

When this form of leucorrhœa occurs in the course of an acute fever, the treatment of it should be deferred until the child is convalescent, when the means which have already been indicated should be had recourse to.

Besides discharges of mucus or of matter, a watery discharge occasionally flows from the vagina. This is profuse and abundant in some cases of pregnancy, and probably has its origin in the fluid surrounding the embryo. It passes out of the womb by oozing through, or by ruptures of the membranes enclosing the child. It occurs usually in advanced pregnancy, and may come away in gushes for a short time, or may flow more or less profusely for a considerable interval of time. It does not necessitate miscarriage or interruption of pregnancy, but should pains like those of labour supervene, miscarriage or abortion will probably follow.

Again, in certain forms of abnormal pregnancy a considerable amount of watery discharge from the vagina is seen, such as those cases of false conception called hydatid, vesicular, or grape mole.

In certain diseases of the uterus such discharges are very abundant, as in cauliflower excrescence or

epithelial cancer of the neck of the uterus. In such cases it is almost a clear watery fluid, or it may be slightly brownish. The amount discharged in this disease is sometimes very great.

Such discharges are also associated with cancer of the body of the womb, with polypus, and with fibroid tumours.

Occasionally an ovarian cyst discharges its contents into the womb or the vagina, and a profuse watery discharge follows.

After labour such discharges are also seen, and are due to imperfect involution, or to disease of the lining membrane of the uterus.

The bladder may open into the vagina by an artificial opening, and the urine escape involuntarily by the vagina.

Offensive Discharges. — The discharge from the vagina may have an offensive odour. In some cases it is exceedingly offensive—so much so that the patient is a burden to herself. There are several conditions which give rise to this peculiar condition. It has been thought that such discharges are met with in cancer only, but such is not the case. It is true that the discharge which flows from a cancerous ulcer and from cancerous growths of the uterus and vagina have frequently a very unpleasant odour, but cancer of these parts may exist not only without offensive DISCHARGES.

discharge, but for a long time without any discharge at all.

The discharges caused by the presence of a polypus, however, may become offensive; indeed, any discharge from the vagina, whatever may be its cause, may become offensive if it be retained in the passages for any time. Such retention may be due to a small external opening, to constriction of the uterine canal by flexion or by fibroid tumours. Sometimes it will happen that the discharge is offensive without any discoverable cause.

Offensive discharges occur also during pregnancy, or after confinement. The embryo may die, and be retained in the womb in part or wholly for a considerable time, and may give rise to abundant discharge having an offensive smell. Or a miscarriage or abortion may have taken place, and a portion of the membranes and after-birth be retained, which, by undergoing decomposition, give rise to similar discharges. A portion of the after-birth may be retained after labour at full time, and cause similar symptoms.

These discharges give rise to much discomfort, sometimes on account of their quantity, sometimes from their offensive odour, sometimes from their irritating properties.

The quantity varies much. It may be so slight

that a woman is scarcely conscious of its presence, and it may be so profuse that she has to employ two or three dozen napkins a day. When she stands up, after having occupied the recumbent posture for some time, it may flow in a stream from her.

The unpleasant odour of some discharges we have already spoken of.

The irritating properties of other discharges is occasionally very great. There is constant itching of the external parts, they may become inflamed, excoriated with small ulcers upon them. The skin around, and even the upper parts of the thighs, may be affected in this manner.

Besides the treatment of the conditions which give rise to these discharges (which has already been given) there are one or two observations which should be made here which will greatly conduce to the comfort of the sufferer, and in many cases hasten recovery. Absolute cleanliness is most important. Frequent ablutions with warm water. Injections into the vagina of the same fluid two or three times a day; when the discharge is offensive, a little Condy's fluid or a little carbolic acid (a drachm to a pint) may be added to remove the smell. In this way will not only the evil effects of the discharge be, to a great extent, prevented, but the offensive odour will also be more or less completely removed. As soon as the discharge is

DISCHARGES.

secreted it is washed away, and has no time to become offensive by being retained within the passage.

Mode of using Injections.- A proper instrument should be used for injecting fluid into the vagina. Glass syringes of various sizes are sold for this purpose, but they are quite useless and worse, for they are dangerous. It has happened that a glass instrument has broken in the passage while being used. The proper instrument is an india-rubber "tube and ball." It should have a long gum elastic tube, with the openings in its sides for introduction into the vagina. The vaginal tube should have no opening at its point or end. A good syringe is that which is called Higginson's syringe. The patient should lie on her back with a vessel conveniently placed, so as to receive the injection as it returns from the passage. A nurse should administer the injection. If water be employed for cleanliness or other purpose, two or three pints should be used. It should be injected slowly, and no force employed.

CHAPTER VI.

SUBSTANCES EXPELLED FROM THE WOMB-MOLES, &C.

Solid masses are not unfrequently passed by the vagina. They are of various kinds, and to be able to recognise their nature one must be acquainted with the anatomy of the uterus and vagina, and of the human embryo. Frequently the aid of a microscope is necessary to distinguish their nature.

By far the most common substance thus passed is coagulated blood. This is often described as a "piece of flesh," "membranes," "like pieces of liver," &c. Clots of blood may be passed in the form of recent or of old coagula. In the former case they are generally of a dark or brown colour like liver, softish and easily broken down; in the latter, they may be pale, fleshy-looking, decolourised, and of firm consistency. Recent clots may be of any shape, usually having somewhat the shape of that part of the vagina in which they have been lodged. Old clots are generally formed in the cavity of the womb, and have a pear-shape—the shape the womb assumes as it becomes distended. Substances of this kind may be expelled by married or single women, mothers or virgins.

MOLES.

Moles.—These are the products of conception, and are of two kinds—the "fleshy" and the "hydatid," "vesicular," or "grape" mole.

The fleshy mole, as its name implies, appears like a fleshy mass, in which masses of coagulated blood are found. It is due to effusion of blood into the membranes of the embryo at an early period. Abortion does not take place, but the mass remains in the uterus, and remains in a more or less vital connection with it. It may be retained for several months, and then be expelled. The nature of the mass is known by the presence in it of traces of the membranes of the embryo.

The grape mole consists of a mass of small sacs about the size of small grapes, joined as it were like beads on a string. It is the product of conception, but the embryo dies at an early age, and the membranes develop into grape-like bodies. The woman usually believes herself pregnant, though she may think that all is not right. The abdomen grows very rapidly, much more rapidly than in healthy pregnancy. At the third month the abdomen may be as large as at the sixth month of pregnancy. There is a profuse discharge of watery fluid, often stained with blood; occasional bleeding; sometimes some of the small bladders are passed, and then the nature of the affection is clear. There is often bearing down, and

pains like labour pains. At last the womb acts and expels its contents. The size of the mole varies. It may be only the size of an egg, but it may attain an enormous size.

When the condition is made out, the uterus should be excited to expel its contents.

Portions of the after-birth may be retained after labour, become organised, and firmly attached to the womb, and ultimately be expelled. It may be regarded as a kind of mole or polypus. When expelled, its nature can be distinguished by the microscope, which would reveal the structure peculiar to the after-birth.

Membranes are sometimes passed from the vagina. These may be casts of the womb, as in membranous dysmenorthea, or they may be casts of the vagina itself. The latter are less frequently seen than the former. They are known by their shape, size, and structure. The former, when perfect, have a triangular, flattened shape, a shaggy surface, and with a hole at each corner; the latter have the shape of a flattened tube, have an opening at each end, the surface is shreddy, and marked with irregular elevated lines or ridges, characteristic of the vagina. The appearances presented under the microscope are distinctive. Of course, both these may be and are most frequently expelled in pieces, and not as perfect

MULES.

casts of the organs of which they are the mucous lining.

The treatment of the conditions which give rise to expulsion of membranous casts of the womb has been given under membranous dysmenorrhœa.

The cause of the shedding of casts of the vagina is as a rule the use of irritating injections, and when the employment of these is given up the trouble usually ceases.

CHAPTER VII.

PAIN IN THE EXTERNAL PARTS-INFLAMMATION AND ABSCESS-TUMOURS-BLEEDING FROM EXTERNAL PARTS-ITCHING AND IRRITATION OF-PAIN IN THE BACK, ABDOMEN, AND GROIN.

The Significance of Pain .- Pain in any part of the body is evidence of disease. It is presumptive evidence of disease of the part or organ in which the pain is felt; but careful inquiry often shows that though the pain is evidence of disease, it is often of disease of a distant organ; neuralgia of the brow is often due to disorder of the stomach, and pain in the ear to a diseased tooth. So the pains which owe their existence to disease of the generative organs may not be seated in the pelvis alone, but also in the thighs, the sides, back, &c. We have already discussed the pains which are so commonly suffered by women during the menstrual flow, and we shall make little or no reference to them in this chapter. Pain, however, is sometimes the only evidence of the presence of uterine disorder, and it is well to have some idea of the various pains which are called forth by diseases of the organs of generation.

Pain in the External Parts-in the Vulva.-The external parts possess a very high degree of sensi-

EXTERNAL PAINS.

bility. The membranes covering them-both the skin and the mucous membrane-are abundantly supplied with nerves, and these nerves are in great part nerves of sensation-capable of transmitting sensations of pleasure and pain. They are, moreover, supplied with an immense quantity of blood. In certain states especially they become turgid and full. This is due to distension of the blood-vessels in their substance. These blood-vessels consist not only of the ordinary arteries, veins, and capillaries found in other parts, but also of great networks of veins, technically called plexuses. These veins are of considerable size, and join with one another on all sides, so that the tissue of these parts has in reality a structure which could be compared in some respects to that of a sponge. It possesses in fact a network of canals freely communicating with one another similar to that found in the sponge, by the filling of which with water the sponge becomes enlarged and swollen. It is not to be wondered at then that these parts should be subject to diseases of a very painful character. These diseases, or some of them, can be excited, or called to existence, by very slight causes. Very trifling irritation, an acrid discharge, or even any discharge from the passages, may call forth a painful inflammation or an intolerable and persistent irritation. Causes of so slight a character that they could not set up any

disturbance or discomfort in many other parts of the body, when applied to these parts make themselves immediately known on account of the peculiar anatomical structure of the parts—their great vascular and nervous supply. These parts may be affected with any of the following diseases.

Inflammation.-Inflammation is a disease accompanied as a rule by considerable pain. This is especially the case when it attacks certain parts. Inflammation of the eye is accompanied by very severe pain, so is inflammation of the joints. The inflammation which accompanies gout, or which arises from an attack of gout, causes the most exquisite and severe agony. On the other hand, inflammation of the lungs is not very painful—though it is accompanied by great depression. Inflammation of the part now under discussion—the vulva—is a very painful disease. There are several kinds of this affection, as there are several kinds of inflammation affecting other parts. When inflammation affects the surface of a part and structures beneath (for it rarely affects the superficial textures alone), and causes matter to be formed abundantly on the affected surface, it is called purulent. The term is taken from the word pus, the technical name applied to the discharge called matter-such as that which is discharged when an abscess is opened.

In many situations in the body, again, there are

EXTERNAL INFLAMMATION.

small glands in the shape of little vesicles or bladders buried in the tissue, but causing as a rule a slight projection on the surface. These are called follicles. They are found in many places, especially on mucous surfaces. They may be easily seen on the inside of the lips or cheeks, in the throat, on the tonsils, and they are found also on the mucous surface of the vulva.

In certain cases these parts become inflamed, and this form is called follicular inflammation.

There is another form of inflammation not so frequently met with in these parts as the purulent and follicular, which is called the gangrenous. It is seen attacking the face of children occasionally, and is then called cancrum oris, or noma.

Inflammation of the vulva is technically called vulvitis. The parts become red and painful. At the same time they begin to swell. Heat or a sensation of burning is felt in the part, and they are hot to the hand. They soon become covered with purulent matter, but at first when the disease sets in they are dry. The pain is severe; in some cases there is intense itching of the part, and it is difficult for the patient to restrain herself from rubbing or scratching them; but when this has been done it brings no relief, and, moreover, it increases the irritation. The matter discharged has usually, if not always, an offensive

smell. It is of an acrid and irritating character, causing inflammation of the parts it comes in contact with. The greatest care should be taken that none of it be brought in contact with the eye, whether it be by means of the hands or towels used, because it would inevitably give rise to a form of ophthalmia of a most destructive character.

The vulvitis frequently extends to the neighbouring parts. It may extend up into the urethra, the passage leading from the bladder, along which the urine is passed. When this happens, micturition becomes painful. It is accompanied by heat and scalding. It becomes frequent, and often there is much straining. When it extends beyond the urethra into the bladder these symptoms become more severe. There is constant desire to urinate. The act is exceedingly painful. The urine is thick, and contains masses of a jelly-like character — the mucus of the bladder containing a deposit of urinary salts. The inflammation may also extend up into the vagina, and then we get vaginitis and its symptoms. These we have already described. The fever accompanying these affections varies according to the extent of surface involved and the acuteness of the attack. If the attack is slight, and affects a small portion of the vulva only, there may be little or no fever. Should the whole of the vulva, however, be affected, and the

VULVITIS.

inflammation extend into the urethra, bladder, and vagina, there is great heat of skin, thirst, and general fever.

This affection should be treated actively from the first. It is of the utmost importance that the diet should be regulated, and that all the functions of the body be carefully supervised. The patient should rest entirely in bed. Walking or moving about irritates the parts and aggravates the inflammation. It causes the mattery discharge to come in contact with the thighs, and excites inflammation in those parts. The bowels should be acted upon freely by saline purgatives. Epsom salts is one of the best. The urine should be rendered as dilute and little irritating as possible by the administration of alkaline drinks and barley water. It is of great moment to render and keep it neutral in reaction. The diet should consist of slops. No spirits, or wine, or malt liquors should be taken. The inflamed parts should be frequently bathed with warm water, or a decoction of poppy-heads. This should be done every four or six hours, and during the intervals poultices of linseedmeal or hot fomentations should be applied. When the violence of the inflammation has passed away, the diet may be improved, purgation is no longer necessary, and the frequent bathing and poulticing should be given up. Then cleanliness, bathing the

parts with warm water, or Goulard water, two or three times a day, and an application of lint wet with a lotion of acetate of lead, will as a rule effect a cure. Should this fail, more astringent applications may become necessary. In obstinate cases many remedies will have to be tried, probably, before the one suitable to the case is discovered.

Gangrenous inflammation is fortunately not of frequent occurrence. It is a terrible disease. It frequently ends in death. It is seen in children, and is due in the larger number of cases to blood-poisoning in some form or other, as fevers of all kinds.

The parts become swollen, purple, dark, and black. Mortification soon sets in, and the parts become extremely offensive. The disease extends, and the patient often succumbs.

The treatment should be active, in order to support the patient. The most nourishing food in the most digestible form—wine, brandy, ammonia, bark, and other stimulants should be freely given. The putrefying part should be absolutely destroyed by means of a caustic. It should be entirely destroyed, and in order to ensure the destruction of the whole of it a portion of healthy tissue should be included. The means generally used for this purpose are the actual cautery or the strong, fuming nitric acid the aqua fortis. Warm poultices of linseed-meal, or

ABSCESSES.

poultices sprinkled over with charcoal, to destroy the smell, should be constantly applied.

Partial Inflammation and Abscess of the Vulva.-Inflammatory action having begun in the external parts may become general, as above described, or may be limited to a greater or less portion of those parts. It affects not the surface only, but the deeper struc-The deeper parts may alone or chiefly be tures. involved, the surface becoming red only in consequence of the mischief in the deeper structures. In this case the inflammation is said to be circumscribed. The first notice of anything wrong is given by a pain and a pricking sensation in the part, then swelling takes place, which soon becomes hard and very tender. The swelling is limited to one side, and is large enough to almost close the opening. There may be difficulty in micturition, arising from the same cause. After a time the hardness disappears, and the tumour becomes softer and softer. The hard substance has now become a fluid mass-matter is formed. As soon as matter is formed it should be allowed to run out from the body, and in all cases, when possible, a way should be made for it if necessary. People have usually a great horror of the lancet, not only on account of the exquisite pain which it causes, but also from a prejudice that it is a practice fraught with evil, and that it is better for the matter to find its own way

to the surface, or be drawn there by poultices. It is true that the pain arising from the use of the lancet-on account of the inflamed and sensitive condition of the part to be divided-is exquisite; but it must also be remembered that it is momentary only. The operation, if it deserves the name, takes but an instant, and the relief which follows is not only instantaneous but permanent. The moment that the distended sac which is filled with matter is opened the pain ceases, and the patient is in comparative The prejudice in favour of poultices, and comfort. the belief in their power of drawing matter to the surface, is without foundation. There is no basis for it, general as it appears to be. Poultices are useful in a very great number of cases where there is local pain, on account of their power of relieving pain. The warmth and moisture which they contain favours the circulation in the part, and this alone is their action, and it depends on their power of retaining for a long period moisture and heat. The best poultice is that which remains hot for the longest period without becoming dry. Poultices then, or any other external applications, have no power to attract matter to the surface. This can only take place naturally, by the formation of more matter and the destruction of more tissue. This is always accompanied by a good deal of pain. It is also usually a very slow

TUMOURS.

process. Moreover, when the matter has thus reached the surface, and the skin has given way and the abscess is discharged, the work of recovery is greater. slower, and more prolonged than if the abscess had been opened at an early period, as soon as matter was formed, and when it was small in quantity. Besides, recovery is not only more tedious after the natural discharge of abscesses, but it is also, as a rule, less perfect. The cavity of the abscess is liable not to close entirely, and a canal, or sinus, or fistula remains, which continues to discharge a thin, often irritating, unhealthy kind of matter. The difficulty of curing such a canal is often very great. Its walls are thick, hard, and grisly; they pour out an unhealthy discharge. It is difficult to get them together and to make them unite. Their vitality is low, and the difficulty often is to alter their character and bring about a cure. Such are not unfrequently the results of allowing an abscess to open naturally, which, had it been opened by the knife or the lancet as soon as matter had been formed, would have probably been well before the natural opening had been effected.

Tumours of the Vulva.—Cysts are not unfrequently met with in this situation. They vary in size considerably. They frequently cause no inconvenience, and remain unobserved. This, however, occurs when they are small only, for when they attain any size

they form a swelling which draws the attention, for they partially occlude the orifice of the passage. These cysts are not usually painful. They may, however, become inflamed, then the pain of them is severe, and abscess may form. When, however, inflammation is not present, they give rise to nothing but inconvenience on account of their size. They should be carefully distinguished from abscess, for the same method of treatment cannot be adopted in the two cases. The distinction is easy. The history is sufficient. The pain, heat, tenderness, and redness of the early stages of abscess are not met with at any time in the history of cysts; and, as a rule, cysts are discovered accidentally, whereas abscess commands the attention from the first.

The treatment of cysts must be operative. They may be dissected out, or opened. When opened, the substance in them is sometimes a thick, viscid, pale, transparent jelly; at other times, a substance of a similar consistence, stained with blood, or it may be a thin sanguineous fluid only.

Enlargement or hypertrophy of the parts themselves. Any one part of the external organs of generation may be the subject of enlargement. The part then looks as if it were swollen, but is not red nor tender, and it is free from pain. It may have its natural consistence, or it may be harder than

TUMOURS.

usual. They may be seen in children—that is, children are born occasionally with such an affection. The treatment when necessary is operative. There are no other means which can be effective.

Warts are also sometimes seen on these parts. They cause a good deal of irritation and trouble. A discharge of a watery character flows from them, and they often bleed.

Treatment.-Removal by operation.

Tumour of the Orifice or Meatus of the Urethra.— The orifice of the urinary passage is not uncommonly the seat of a growth which causes the patient the most refined torture. This tumour or growth is a red vascular swelling on the mucous membrane of the opening of the urethra. It is usually small—it may be as small as a hemp-seed, or as large as a cherry. It is usually attached closely to the tissues beneath, but occasionally it has a longish stalk, half an inch or more in length. It is of a dark red appearance, is rough or uneven on the surface, lobulated. It is soft to the touch, and very tender; it bleeds easily, and breaks down with great readiness.

The patient complains of the severest pain in passing urine. They describe this pain in the strongest language, and postpone the act until compelled to it by dire necessity. It is easily recognised when looked for. Touch alone will give rise to a strong suspicion

of its presence, on account of the excessive and unnatural tenderness in the situation of the urethral opening, but ocular examination puts the diagnosis beyond doubt. The tumour is seen, and its character recognised.

Treatment.—It is often troublesome to cure. The symptoms can be often greatly relieved by medicine. The pain can be relieved, and micturition rendered tolerable; but the worst troubles soon return again. The application of anodynes, as opium, aconite, hydrocyanic acid, chloroform, can only be palliative in their effects. For a cure to be effected, extirpation of the growth is necessary. This may be done by direct removal or by caustics. It depends a good deal on the form and position of the tumour which of those means is most suitable to the case. Even when apparently completely removed, the growth occasionally returns again. In such a case the operation for removal should be repeated.

Bleeding into or from the Vulva—Pudendal Hæmorrhage.—This is by no means a common affection. The blood may flow into the tissues of the vulva, and there form a soft swelling—a sanguineous tumour; or it may flow till the surface of the skin be lacerated. It is more common in the married than in the single. The veins during pregnancy often become enlarged, hard, and swollen both in the lower

PUDENDAL HÆMORRHAGE.

limbs and in the private parts, from the pressure upon them preventing the easy and rapid flow of blood. In consequence of this, the veins give way, and hæmorrhage follows. Muscular efforts, by causing a great strain upon some of the veins, produce a similar result. Blows on the part, produced by falling, riding, &c., may cause such laceration and bruising of all the tissues as to give rise to profuse bleeding. Wounds of the part, produced accidentally or otherwise, are another cause.

When the blood is poured into the tissues, and does not appear externally, and when it is produced by no external injury to the parts, there is pain, pricking, and perhaps throbbing, in the part, and a swelling forms usually very rapidly. The swelling sometimes becomes very large in a very short time, and may prevent micturition.

The treatment consists in the application of cold and pressure. Cold should be applied by means of evaporating lotions or a bladder of ice, pressure by means of a T bandage and a pad. A T bandage consists of a belt surrounding the abdomen just above the hips. It should be applied moderately tightly, so that it cannot when pulled slip over the projecting wings of the pelvic bones. When this is applied, another bandage is passed between the legs, and fastened posteriorly to the abdominal belt; then it

should be fastened to the abdominal belt in front when drawn so as to produce the pressure required on the vulva. By such means most superficial bleedings from these parts can be effectually checked. When the tumour formed by the blood is small, rest and time will generally suffice for the cure. When bleeding has stopped, absorption will set in, and rapidly carry away the extravasated blood. Should the sanguineous tumour be large, however, operative measures would be required for the removal of a clot of blood that could not be carried away by the absorption process, and the greatest care would then be requisite in the after treatment.

Other tumours of the vulva are occasionally met with, but they are of such rarity as not to require description or enumeration in a work of this kind.

Itching and Irritation of the Vulva—Pruritus.— Itching of the vulva is a most distressing and intolerable affection; and it deserves this special character because to all appearance the patient enjoys perfect health, and yet at the same time she suffers from an itching so intense, an irritation so acute, that she is debarred from society by the ever-present desire of scratching the part to relieve her trouble; loses her sleep from the same cause; is constantly troubled night and day, until at last her general health suffers. The itching is only a symptom of

PRURITUS.

some deeper affection, and in order to effect a cure the cause must be discovered. The causes of this symptom are various. Not unfrequently it is the result of a disease of the skin covering the part. The cutaneous surface may have scattered over it small pimples having a red top. These may be the original cause of the irritation, but they may also be the result of the itching, and the scratching and rubbing exercised to relieve it. Eczema is another affection of these parts, and not a very uncommon one, which excites intense itching. It begins as little bladders, with a red border or base. These burst, the skin around becomes red, and after a brief time may become a moist weeping surface. The surface has now a red, shining appearance, and is intensely irritable, and sometimes very painful. It is occasionally hot and burning. This acute state may soon pass off, and a chronic stage follows, which often lasts an unlimited time. During the continuance of the chronic condition, successive acute attacks may occur, successive crops of vesicles making their appearance, and running the course already described, leaving the patient generally in a worse condition than before.

It is a very obstinate disease, very rebellious to treatment. The acute, hot, burning condition may be relieved by the application of a mixture of lime water and oil. This should be applied frequently on

L

162

strips of lint, and the patient should be kept absolutely at rest. All stimulants should be avoided, and the diet should be moderately low. Great cleanliness should be observed. Ordinary soap should not be used in washing—tar or carbolic soap should be substituted. A regular course of treatment will be necessary to establish health. Treatment must be persevered in for a long time to effect a cure.

But pruritus is more frequently met with without any apparent disease of the skin. It appears that the skin is in these cases the seat of an irritation reflected from other parts. The terminations of nerves are often the seat of the irritations arising in their course. When the skin is to all appearances healthy, we generally find a discharge of some kind, often of an irritating character, from the vagina.

The whites and all the diseases which give rise to them are a prolific cause of pruritus; indeed, this is of all the most frequent. This disease, though exceedingly common, does not, however, give rise to pruritus but in a few cases. It does so when the discharge possesses a very irritating character. Pregnancy is frequently accompanied by a profuse leucorrhœa, and these cases are more subject to pruritus than those in which leucorrhœa is present in the unimpregnated condition. Pregnancy in itself, however, exercises such peculiar influence on the whole system

PRURITUS.

-nervous, cutaneous, digestive, and so on-that it is not easy to say how much is due in such cases to the pregnant state, and how much to the whites accompanying it.

In old age pruritus is also met with, arising from whites. The irritation caused by thread-worms in the bowels gives rise to the most intense itching, which cannot be alleviated until the offending organisms be destroyed.

Treatment.-Whatever be the cause of the itching and irritation, every effort should be made to relieve this most distressing symptom, and that at once. Relief of this is in the highest degree demanded, because it unfits the patient for all her duties and for all the pleasures of life. At the same time that the most prominent symptom should be treated and alleviated, the cause of the evil should be traced out. Examine carefully for all the conditions which are likely to cause such symptoms. Should there be leucorrhœa, the greatest cleanliness should be observed. Frequent ablutions with tepid water, or water containing a little Goulard water, should be practised. Injecting into the vagina of similar solutions of lead should be practised at the same time. When the parts have been dried by means of a soft towel, the itching parts should be oiled or greased with lard or sweet oil, or powdered with starch and

oxide of zinc. Should disease of the vagina or of the uterus be discovered, it should be treated, and the itching meanwhile relieved by poppy-head fomentations, opium, or the application of a solution of nitrate of silver to the surface.

Pain in the Back.—In almost all diseases of the womb this is complained of. It is situated in the lower part of the back, and is at its height during menstruation. It may arise from other causes, as constipation, lumbago, and disease of the spine.

Pain in the Pelvis and Lower Part of the Abdomen.—This arises from many causes, as fibroid tumour, cancer, or inflammation of the uterus. It is more or less constant. The pain of cancer is peculiar, it is described as having a darting, burning, lancinating, or gnawing character. Pains which are intermittent, which come and go, and which have more or less the character of labour pains, are caused by retention of the menses, abortion, hæmorrhage around the womb (hæmatocele), polypi, clots, or fibroids in the womb, flexion of the uterus, membranous dysmenorrhæa, neuralgia of the uterus.

Pain in the Side a little above the Groin.—This is often due to ovarian irritation or chronic inflammation of the ovary. It is also said to be due to neuralgia of the ovaries. It proceeds to the back and hips, and down the thigh and leg of the affected side. It is

PAIN IN THE GROIN.

sometimes very severe, and is attended by superficial tenderness. Walking or any movement aggravates it —especially jolting movements. It greatly interferes with walking, and gives rise to great fatigue. Displacements of the uterus, displacement of the ovary, congestion and inflammation of the womb, and disorders of the bladder, are said to give rise to similar pain. The pain is usually situated on the left side, occasionally on the right, and now and then on both. The pains occurring with menstruation have already been described.

Sometimes a sudden intense pain is felt in the lower part of the abdomen. It is accompanied by prostration, a feeling of faintness or actual fainting, pallor of the surface, weakness of the pulse, clammy perspiration, sickness, and vomiting. These are symptoms of a severe shock to the system, and are always serious. They should at once be properly attended They may be due to rupture of a vessel in to. the tissues around the womb and hæmorrhage (see "Hæmatocele"), or to rupture of the pregnant uterus, to hæmorrhage from an abnormal form of pregnancy called extra uterine (this is extremely rare), to rupture of an ovarian cyst. Rupture of the pregnant uterus is very rare. It may happen without obvious cause.

Rupture of an ovarian cyst happens occasionally.

Sometimes it results in a cure, and sometimes it ends fatally.

The treatment, until advice is obtained, should be absolute rest, and small quantities of stimulants, of which brandy and-water is the best.

CHAPTER VIII.

DISORDERS OF MICTURITION.

DISORDERS of micturition frequently accompany uterine and ovarian disease. This has already been observed when enumerating the various symptoms which accompany diseases of the organs of generation. In this chapter it will be necessary to do little more than to enumerate the causes of urinary troubles, so that the reader may be able to refer to those causes in other parts of the work.

Micturition may be frequent, but accomplished without pain or difficulty. These cases are very common. They are due to displacements of the uterus, tumours in the pelvis pressing or irritating the bladder; inflammation of the uterus or of any of the parts in the pelvis, as pelvic cellulitis; hæmatocele; dysmenorrhæa; irritability of the bladder, without any special disease; certain conditions of urine, and some diseases of the kidneys.

On the other hand, micturition may be frequent and painful. This depends upon displacements of the uterus pressing on the bladder and urethra; vascular tumour of the urethra; inflammation of the

vagina and external parts, and of the urethra and bladder; gravel, stone in the bladder; disease of the kidneys; diseases of the bladder; and certain conditions of the urine.

Micturition is sometimes difficult. This may be due to displacements of the uterus; tumours in the pelvis; displacements of the bladder, as in falling of the womb; tumour of the urethra and vulva or external parts pressing on the urinary passage and diminishing its calibre; stricture, or constriction, of the urethra, or urinary passage; and diseases of the bladder, as cancer, polypus, paralysis, &c.

Micturition is impossible in some cases. Rarely no urine is poured into the bladder, and there is no desire to micturate. This is called suppression, and is due to inaction of the kidneys. In the majority of instances, however, the urine is freely secreted, and finds its way into the bladder, and though the patient makes efforts to urinate, she fails : this is called retention. This condition is due in most instances to obstruction to the passage from pressure caused by tumours, or displacement of the womb. It is also seen in some cases of hysteria. In the last-named class of cases a good deal of pain is complained of in the bottom of the stomach, as well as in other parts of the body. The attacks come on frequently, and are due to a nervous condition. The exact nature INVOLUNTARY MICTULITION.

of the case can as a rule only be made known by examination.

Micturition is sometimes involuntary. This condition is not very uncommon, and is one of the most distressing affections. It may be present at birth, but this is rare. Young girls frequently are unable to retain their urine during sleep. This condition is generally easily cured by careful watching and by regulating the action of the urinary function. When the girl goes to sleep, she should be made to pass urine. She should again be called up to micturate once or twice, as may be necessary, in the course of the night. The time when the involuntary action takes place should be found out by careful watching, and the calls to urinate should be made just before such times. In this way the habit may be broken, and a better one substituted.

But micturition may be involuntary from defective formation or from disease of the bladder. The most common of these conditions is a fistula, or a communication between the bladder and vagina. In most of such cases, the person has no control whatever over the flow of urine; while in others she has partial control, because while at rest in certain positions the urine is retained for a shorter or longer time, according to the position of the fistula. As a rule, this is the result of severe labours, in which the
partition between the bladder and vagina becomes torn through, or crushed to such a degree as to end in ulceration. The fistula is easily discovered on careful examination. There is but one means of curethat is, an operation for closing the opening. No other treatment can be effectual. Fistula may also be the result of cancer. For this no operation can avail.

Involuntary flow of the urine may result also from pressure caused by tumours of the ovaries, or of the uterus, or of other parts, when they enter the pelvis.

Displacement of the uterus is also an occasional cause of incontinence, especially during pregnancy.

During the later months of pregnancy and after labour, the urine escapes often in an involuntary manner; after labour the condition passes off, and control over the bladder is regained as health and strength are restored.

When there is involuntary escape of the urine, the greatest care is necessary in keeping the parts clean. It is not possible to keep them dry, owing to the constant dribbling. This gives rise to irritation, redness, pimples, or inflammation of the skin and buttocks. To ward off this, warm bathing of the parts should be had recourse to once or twice a day, and after each bath the skin should be perfectly dried and smeared with lard or zinc ointment. It is hardly necessary to say that the diapers should be frequently changed.

CHAPTER IX.

ENLARGEMENT OF THE ABDOMEN--OVARIAN TUMOURS.

THE abdomen may become enlarged from a variety of causes—as pregnancy, dropsy, tumours of the ovary or of the uterus, diseases of the spleen, kidneys, liver, and bowels. Of pregnancy we shall speak at length in another section. Here we shall speak of tumours of the ovary, and refer incidentally only to the others.

Tumours of the Ovary may be solid, cystic, or cancerous. The solid tumours are rare, and never endanger life. They do not grow to a large size, and usually cause but little inconvenience.

Cancer of the Ovary.—The tumour is situated on the right or left side, between the navel and hip, in the region of the ovary. It is the seat of pain of a lancinating, darting, or burning character. It is tender to the touch, liable to press upon the veins which return the blood from the lower limbs, impede the circulation, and give rise to a puffy swelling of the leg. The patient loses flesh, grows rapidly weaker, becomes irritable, fretful, and depressed in spirits. The tumour usually forms rapidly, and is irregular or

lobulated on the surface, though in some cases it is smooth. In course of time the peculiar aspect of cancer is developed. The abdomen may become immensely distended with fluid—dropsy. This is due to the irritation caused by the cancerous mass. Such great exudation of fluid into the cavity of the belly nover occurs in any other disease of the ovary. This is a valuable aid in diagnosis. The treatment depends on the character of each individual case. In one it is advisable to remove the growth by operation, with a view to prolong life, though perhaps not to absolutely cure: in another such an operation is impossible.

Cystic Tumours of the Ovary, or Ovarian Dropsy. —These are sacs or cysts containing fluid. Sometimes there is but one cyst present, and that a simple one, containing a single cavity only. In other cases, a cyst contains a number of cavities distinct from one another, or several smaller cysts within itself: such a tumour is called a multilocular cyst. In a third class of cases, several cysts grow side by side; they may unite and form a single tumour, or they may remain more or less separate.

The contents of the cysts vary in character. They may consist of a pale, straw-coloured fluid, almost like urine in appearance, or of a thick, viscid, gelatinous substance, which may have a pale, or a brownish, or

OVARIAN TUMOURS.

even dark colour. In some rare cases, skin, bone, hair, teeth, and fatty matter have been found within ovarian cysts.

We know but little of the origin and causes of these morbid growths. They are rare under twenty, most common between twenty and forty. At the same time they have been seen in youth, and even in childhood, nor is old age exempt from them. Childbearing is generally believed to prepare the ground for their development; but as the great majority of women are or become mothers at some period of their lives, this belief has little in its favour. Moreover, it is not uncommon to see cysts of the ovary in the unmarried and childless. General weakness, bad nutrition, general pallor, or chlorosis, are said to predispose to the formation of these cysts. In favour of this, it may be said that the majority of the subjects of this form of tumour are out of health. Scrofula again appears to favour their development. Disorders of menstruation frequently accompany and precede the growth of ovarian tumours, and are said to favour their development. In these cases, however, it is more likely that there is something radically wrong with the generative organs, and that the menstrual disorder as well as the ovarian growths are due to the same cause, than that the menstrual disorders bear a casual causal to the ovarian tumours.

Symptoms at the Beginning of Ovarian Tumours .-There are usually few if any symptoms which attract attention. In some cases menstruation is disordered, but this symptom is of so common occurrence where ovarian disease is not present, that it would not lead to the least suspicion of the existence of ovarian dropsy. Again, in other cases where cysts grow in the ovary, menstruation may be performed regularly and normally; and pregnancy may even occur, and run its course to a happy termination. In many cases, however, soon after the commencement of the disease there is a dull pain felt in the region of the affected ovary, a sense of fulness, weight, dragging, and irritation. There may be a slight swellingsmooth, resistant, but not tender-discovered on careful investigation. So long as the tumour remains in the pelvis, it may give rise to very serious troubles by its mechanical effects. It presses on the bladder, giving rise to frequent or difficult micturition, or even renders urination impossible. On the other hand, the pressure exercised by it on the rectum or bowel gives rise to constipation, or alternately diarrhea and constipation, and bleeding piles. Pressure on the blood-vessels causes swelling of the lower extremities. When the tumour rises from the pelvis into the cavity of the abdomen, its presence is more likely to attract attention. The symptoms above

OVARIAN TUMOURS.

enumerated are present only when the organs in the pelvis are seriously pressed upon by the tumour. In some cases this does happen, but the tumour readily ascends into the cavity of the abdomen without the occurrence of any such troubles. In that case the growth may attain a considerable size before its existence or the existence of anything wrong is suspected. Its discovery is in some cases accidentally made by the patient or by her doctor. In other cases, there is a consciousness of abdominal enlargement; there is a sense of fulness, and the clothes are felt tighter than they should be. At first, the swelling or tumour is situated on one side. As it grows, however, it extends upwards, and towards the middle line of the body, and ultimately extends across that line, filling both sides. These tumours vary much in size : they may reach up to the breastbone, filling the whole of the abdominal cavity, driving the intestines upwards and backwards, and encroaching upon the cavity of the chest. On the other hand, they may be so small as not to be discoverable on the most careful investigation made during life. They are at first movable, and may remain so throughout their course; but in most instances they set up inflammation in the cavity of the abdomen, which ultimately renders them fixed.

Occasionally they give rise to incontinence of

urine. The contents of the bladder escape involuntarily. Sometimes they cause complete obstruction of the intestines, either through direct pressure, or through the inflammation set up by them. In this case there is severe pain and vomiting, and unless operative relief is obtained, death is inevitable. When the tumour has attained a large size, the skin of the abdomen presents white lines from the over-stretching, the legs swell, and the veins become enlarged, varicose, and inflamed from the obstruction to the return of the blood to the heart; the liver and midriff are pressed upwards; the cavity of the chest is encroached upon; the bases of the lungs are pressed upon, so that air cannot enter, they become collapsed, and difficulty of breathing and palpitation of the heart ensue.

In this way all the organs in the body become interfered with, their functions become performed imperfectly, nutrition is impaired, sleep is lost, food cannot be taken in sufficient quantity, the patient is unable to lie down, nor can she walk about, she wastes, becomes thinner, hectic fever sets in, and she dies exhausted, or is carried away by some intercurrent disease.

The manner of growth of ovarian cystic tumours is uncertain. In some cases they grow slowly, but still regularly increasing in size; in other cases they grow rapidly, and attain in a brief space of time a large size; while in other cases they remain

OVARIAN TUMOURS.

stationary for months or even years, and then grow again. Ovarian cysts occasionally undergo spontaneous cure. The fluid contents are absorbed, and the cyst wall shrivels up. This, however, is a very rare termination; and when the disease is permitted to take its own course uninterfered with, serious consequences may follow.

The cyst wall may give way, and the contents be poured into the cavity of the abdomen. In some cases no harm follows from this; while in others, in which the fluid has irritating properties, inflammation is set up, and death is almost inevitable. In those cases where the fluid is innocuous, a cure may be effected, or the opening may be closed, and the cyst may fill again.

The pressure of the cyst on the bladder may cause absorption of the wall of the cyst and the wall of the bladder at the point of contact. In this manner the contents of the cyst are poured into the bladder and evacuated, and recovery take place. The discharge may take place also by the intestine.

Inflammation frequently takes place in the peritoneum around the cysts. In this way it contracts adhesions to the neighbouring parts. But the cyst itself may become the seat of inflammation. This inflammation is of a low kind, and always ends in the formation of matter. In fact, the cyst becomes

M

a huge abscess. The signs of this condition are pain in the cyst, heat, fever, and shivering. When the temperature runs high, "emaciation is progressive, appetite lost, throat troublesome, sleep disturbed, nausea or vomiting distressing, and the abdomen tender on pressure, with hurried pulse and respiration; it is extremely probable that one or more cysts contain pus; and when these symptoms are present in an extreme degree, or have lasted a considerable time, the pus has become fortid."

When the cyst is freely movable in the abdomen, it may be twisted on its stem or pedicle. The result is a strangulation of the vessels conveying blood into the tumour; the blood cannot return along the veins, they become distended, and ultimately burst, giving rise to bleeding, with perhaps great distension and rupture of the cyst, which may end fatally.

Sometimes the contents escape by the fallopian tube into the womb, and out by the vagina. This is a very favourable termination. The opening may remain permanently patent, and thus allow a drain of fluid, as it is secreted by the contracted sac.

Occasionally death occurs suddenly, without any apparent cause. This happens in cases where the tumour has attained a great size, where the abdomen is immensely distended, the lungs pressed upon, and the action of the heart interfered with.

OVARIAN TUMOURS.

The breasts sometimes suffer sympathetically in these cases. They become swollen, hard, nodulated, and painful. Sometimes they present characters similar to those seen during pregnancy.

Treatment.—Until recently the treatment of these tumours was of a very unsatisfactory character, for medicines have no effect, either in arresting their growth or promoting their absorption.

Operative means alone can effect a cure. There are two operations one of which is usually performed in such cases. One is to tap the cyst, and let out its contents: it is palliative only. Occasionally, however, it effects a cure; but in the great majority of cases the cysts soon fill again.

The other is removal of the cyst. Within recent years this operation has been brought to a great degree of perfection; and though it, like all other operations, is not unattended by danger, yet it gives the only chance of a perfect cure, and the best chance of prolonging life.

CHAPTER X.

THE SIGNS OF PREGNANCY.

THERE is no question of greater interest to woman or to the human race than the creation of a new being. This is a process which takes a considerable time to run its course, and the state of the woman in whose body this process of development is going on is called pregnancy. In whatever state or position a woman may be, the signs and symptoms of this condition are such as necessarily to attract her attention. The majority—the very great majority—of women who attain adult life become mothers, and to them the question we are about to discuss is of supreme importance.

It is not very many years since the discovery of pregnancy with absolute certainty has become possible. Before this, another discovery had to be made—that of the stethoscope and auscultation. The discovery of the heart's sounds had again to be made before the stethoscope became applicable to the diagnosis of pregnancy. These were gradual steps, each of which met with much opposition. In the present day, it would not be possible for any one to

mislead neighbours and physicians by simulating pregnancy, for the fraud would be at once detected. Sixty years ago, however, Joanna Southcote declared herself pregnant by the Holy Ghost, obtained a number of followers who believed her, and led medical men to state that she was pregnant, and yet it was found after her death that she had never conceived.

During the early months of pregnancy, however, it is not so easy as it may at first sight appear to decide if pregnancy be present or not. It is the custom of the law to refer a prisoner who declares herself *enceinte* to a jury of matrons, and they have to decide; but their decision can never be of any great value, for it requires the greatest skill to answer the question with certainty, even during the later months of pregnancy, while during the earlier months the best skill can at best attain to probability only, but it is at the same time probability amounting almost to certainty.

The time of life at which pregnancy is possible is a matter of importance to bear in mind. It is the time which extends from puberty to the change of life. This is called the fruitful period of life, or period of sexual activity. As a rule, it is the period during which the monthly courses return regularly—that is, between the fourteenth or fifteenth year and the forty-fifth or fiftieth. There are, however, rare instances of

pregnancy occurring before the fourteenth year. In India, pregnancy occurs sometimes as early as the tenth or even ninth year. A case is known to have occurred in England, in which a young girl gave birth to a full-grown child soon after she had completed her eleventh year. This is the earliest age at which pregnancy has been known to occur in this country.

As to the latest age at which pregnancy may take place, it may be said that, though the menses may have ceased to appear, yet it is possible for conception to take place even afterwards. The menses in some cases disappear for a time, and again return after an interval of a few months or years. The menses may continue to return regularly to a great age. Haller states that he delivered one woman in her sixty-third and another in her seventieth year.

The sex of the child is in some places the first question the midwife has to decide on being called to a patient, and the rules according to which this is to be determined are somewhat amusing. Hippocrates said: "A woman with child, if it be a male, has a good colour; but if it be a female, she has a bad colour." And again, "The male foctus is usually seated in the right, and the female in the left." In one of the oldest works in English on midwifery, it is stated—"But if ye be desirous to know whether the conception be man or woman, then let a drop of

her milke or twaine be milked on a smooth glasse, or a bright knife, other els on the naile of one of her fingers, and if the milk spread abroad upon it by-andby, then it is a woman child; but if the drop of milke continue to stand still upon that which is milked on, then it is a signe of a man child.

"Then, if it be a male, then shall the woman with child be well-coloured, and light in going, her belly round, bigger towards the right side than the left (for commonly the man childe lyeth in the right side, the woman in the left side), and in the time of her bearing she shall better digest and like her meate."

Of course the above rules are of no value, because they are not true, as may be proved any day; and it is only the most absurd credulity that ever puts any faith in them. There are, however, some reasons for believing that the ages of the parents exercise some influence on the sex of their offspring, because it appears that when the father is older than the mother more male than female children are born; when younger, more females than males. Attempts have also been recently made to determine the sex of the child by the auscultatory examination of its heart. When the number of the beats of the child's pulse amounts to from 144 to 160 per minute, the child is said to be female; when from 120 to 140, it is said to be male. There is probably some truth in this,

and a fair guess may be made by this method of the sex of the child unborn. But this method is far from certain. Indeed, though in a majority of cases it may even prove correct, it will prove to be false in a large minority. It appears that the frequency of the pulse is more directly related to the size and weight of the child than to the sex, so that a big, strong, heavy child has a slower pulse than a small, weakly, and badly-nourished one. Supposing, however, that the children were healthy in any number of given cases, the male would almost in each case weigh more than the female, so that the weight which favours slow pulse would be in the male sex. Thus it is seen that there is some truth in the observation that sex can be discovered by the pulse.

Some curious cases of pregnancy occur where the condition remains quite unsuspected throughout the whole time, and even for the first hours of labour. The late Dr. Tanner reports the following case :—

"I was sent for on Thursday morning, 17th of April, 1862, at nine o'clock, to see Mrs. G—, fortytwo years of age, who had been suffering great pain in the abdomen since eleven o'clock on the preceding night. This lady had previously sought my advice on some half-dozen occasions. She had last consulted me at the beginning of March for an attack of indigestion, on which occasion no mention was made of

any enlargement of the abdomen, nor was there any swelling perceptible through her dress. Her history is that she has been married for rather more than three years (since February, 1859), and that she has never been pregnant. The catamenia were lost on some time in June, 1861, but as they had been very scanty for five or six months before, this circumstance did not particularly attract her attention. In fact, she attributed the sensation to the change of life.

"On my arrival at the patient's house, I found her in bed, complaining of great abdominal pain, which had kept her awake the whole night. Her husband and her mother-in-law were present, as well as a married sister who had borne children. I was told that Mrs. G- had not been well for a fortnight, her breath having been short on making any exertion, and her legs having become swollen. On Wednesday night, at eleven o'clock, she suddenly began to suffer from pain in the stomach, for the relief of which her friends applied a mustard poultice. At two o'clock a.m., the sufferings were so great that a neighbouring medical man was sent for. This gentleman was unable to attend, but sent his assistant, who was said to have stated that the illness was due to 'flatulence and inflammation of the bowels.' He gave a bottle of medicine, the second dose of which, however, caused sickness, and failed to afford any relief.

"On examining the abdomen, I discovered an oval tumour distinctly occupying the right side, and extending from the pelvis to some two inches above the umbilicus. It seemed to be about the size of the adult head; but although the abdominal parietes were thin, the tumour was by no means distinct to the sight, though it was readily made out on palpation. On making a vaginal examination, I found the os uteri dilated to the size of a crown-piece, and the head of a fœtus entering the brim of the pelvis with the vertex presenting. The membranes were ruptured; but the patient was not conscious of any discharge of water having taken place, and there was no appearance of moisture on the bed upon which she had been lying all night. On inspecting the breasts, a narrow brown areola was seen; but it certainly did not exceed half an inch in width. When Mrs. G---- was asked if she had felt any movement in her abdomen, she allowed that she had occasionally experienced curious sensations for some weeks past, but these were attributed to flatulence. During the whole period of pregnancy there had been neither sickness nor any feeling of The moderate increase in size which was nausea. perceptible had been attributed to the natural deposition of fat, for all the members of her family are disposed to be stout.

"As the pains were not violent, and the head did

not advance, I left the case at nine o'clock, after explaining its nature; but the explanation was received with incredulity, neither the patient nor her husband having the slightest suspicion that pregnancy existed. The sister, however, took steps for obtaining the loan of baby-linen, &c.

"At half-past one in the afternoon, when I returned, the pains of labour were strong and of frequent occurrence. The head was low down, and the parts fully dilated.

"The child (a female) was born with animation suspended; but by a persevering use of artificial respiration, it was resuscitated at the end of half an hour. Although small, it seemed to be a mature infant. She has since become strong and healthy."

Dr. Tanner remarks on the above case :—"The history, however, seems to establish the fact that a woman may conceive, may go to the full time of gestation, and may be in labour for ten hours, without having any suspicion that she is pregnant. It ought perhaps to be mentioned, that from all I have seen and heard of Mrs. G—, no doubt whatever is entertained but that her statements may be taken as strictly true. Independently of this circumstance, it so happens that both parents, though they despaired of ever having a child, were both anxious to have one; and the birth of the little girl was therefore regarded as the happiest event which could befall them.

Other cases have been recorded bearing on the same point, and the fact that pregnancy may occur and its subject be unconscious of it is put beyond dispute.

Cases happen also when women imagine themselves pregnant when they are not. These will be referred to later on.

That women fall into such errors may appear at first sight strange, but a consideration of the signs and symptoms of pregnancy will tend to lessen the wonder that the above statements may have called forth, inasmuch as it will then be seen that there is no sign of pregnancy of which the woman herself can be cognisant which may not be simulated by disease. Though the symptoms which attend, or are associated with, the state under consideration are numerous, they are not all of equal value, and very few of them are absolutely diagnostic of pregnancy; and these few may elude the observation of a skilled physician.

Suppression of the Menses.—One of the earliest symptoms of conception having taken place is the suppression of the menses. The menstrual flow does not return at the expected time. This is the general rule, and when a married woman finds that her

courses do not appear at the time they are due, she regards herself as being pregnant; and she is usually right in doing so. The rule is, however, not without exception, and therefore too great reliance should not be placed on the fact of menstrual suppression by itself. The menses are not always stopped when conception has taken place. For several monthsthree, four, or five-the discharge may return regularly, though the woman is pregnant. Cases have occurred, indeed, in which they have returned every month throughout the whole period of pregnancy. Women who had never menstruated have become pregnant, and during their pregnancy have had a menstrual flow every month. Such cases are rare; but the fact of their occurrence is quite enough to invalidate the symptom under consideration as a sign of pregnancy.

Besides, we have already seen that the menses may be suppressed through many other causes than the occurrence of conception. In newly-married young women, it is not uncommon for two or three periods to be missed without any known cause. The young wife believes herself pregnant, but she soon finds out her error.

Nausea and Vomiting.—Another symptom which appears at an early period of pregnancy is sickness. It usually makes its appearance soon after impregnation,

and lasts for two or three, or even six months. It may, indeed, continue throughout the whole term of pregnancy. In others, again, it does not come on until the later months. This vomiting is worse in the early part of the day, and has consequently been called "morning sickness." It is hardly necessary to state that its value as a sign of pregnancy is very slight, as it may not only be altogether absent, but similar vomiting may be due to numerous other causes. The vomiting of pregnancy is not due to indigestion, but to a sympathy with the uterus an irritation of the stomach arising from the condition of the womb. It is considered when not excessive as a good sign, for it is said that "a sick pregnancy is a safe pregnancy."

Together with vomiting, there is often heartburn, waterbrash, pain in the pit of the stomach, and degraded appetite. The woman loathes her usual food, and longs for indigestible and injurious substances. Sometimes there is great increase in the secretion of saliva. Water runs from the mouth almost in a constant stream. Sometimes there is diarrhea.

Changes in the Breasts.—The breasts are organs which sympathise in a very remarkable manner with the womb. When there is disease or irritation of the latter, the former often become painful and swollen. But this sympathy is more marked during

pregnancy than in any other condition. At an early period after conception the pregnant woman begins to feel peculiar sensations in the breasts-a feeling of discomfort, soreness, and even pain : soon the organs begin to feel tense, and to throb. About the end of the second month they usually become hard, uneven, and knotty; the blue veins which run under the cutaneous covering become larger and more marked; the dark area around the nipple (the areola) becomes deeper coloured, and large, moist, and uneven on the surface. White lines soon make their appearance on the mammary surface, radiating from the nipples as a centre. Milk or a milky fluid may be made to exude from the nipple on pressure; but this, though popularly regarded as a sure sign of pregnancy, is by no means such. Indeed, no sign can be of much less value when taken, not in conjunction with others, but alone, for milk has been seen in the male breasts, and even in those of new-born babes.

The secretion of milk may also be kept up for years in the breasts of those who have once been pregnant, or it can be excited after even years of suspension. Dr. Livingstone, in his "Missionary Travels and Researches in South Africa," relates the following curious examples :—

"Masina of Kuruwan had no children after the birth of her daughter Sina, and had no milk after

Sina was weaned, an event which is usually deferred until the child is two or three years old. Sina married when she was seventeen or eighteen, and had twins; Masina, after at least fifteen years' interval since she last suckled a child, took possession of one of them, applied it to her breast, and milk flowed, so that she was enabled to nurse the child entirely. Masina was at this time at least forty years of age. I have witnessed several other cases analogous to this. A grandmother of forty—or even less, for they become withered at an early age-when left at home with a young child, applies it to her own shrivelled breast, and milk soon flows. In some cases, as that of Mabogosing, the chief wife of Mahure, who was about thirty-five years of age, the child was not entirely dependent on the grandmother's breast, as the mother suckled it too. I had witnessed the production of milk so frequently by the simple application of the lips of the child, that I was not therefore surprised when told by the Portuguese in Eastern Africa of a native doctor, who, by applying a poultice of the pounded larvæ of hornets to the breasts of a woman, aided by the attempts of the child, could bring back the milk. Is it not possible that the story in the 'Cloud of Witnesses,' of a man during the time of persecution in Scotland putting his child to his own breast, and finding, to the astonishment of the whole

country, that milk followed the act, may have been literally true? It was regarded and quoted as a miracle; but the feelings of the father towards the child of the murdered mother must have been as nearly as possible analogous to the maternal feeling; and as anatomists declare the structure of both the male and female breasts to be identical, there is nothing physically impossible in the alleged result. The illustrious Baron Humboldt quotes an instance of the male breast yielding milk; and though I am not conscious of being over-credulous, the strange instances I have examined in the opposite sex make me believe that there is no error in that philosopher's statement."

Of all the changes which take place in the breast during pregnancy, those in the areola are the most important and most trustworthy. They begin about the second month in a deepening of the hue, a tumescence, a moistening of the surface, and an enlargement of the small glands on them.

Dr. Montgomery has described these changes as follows :-- " During the progress of the next two or three months the changes in the areola are in general perfected, or nearly so, and then it presents the following character :-- a circle around the nipple, whose colour varies in intensity according to the particular complexion of the individual, being usually

much darker in persons with black hair, dark eyes, and sallow skin than in those of fair hair, lightcoloured eyes, and delicate complexions. The area of this circle varies in diameter from an inch to an inch and a half, and increases in most persons as pregnancy advances, as also does the depth of colour. I have seen the areola at the time of labour almost black, and upwards of three inches in diameter, in a young woman of very dark hair and complexion; while in another instance its breadth around the base of the nipple did not at any time of gestation amount to a quarter of an inch, and at first was not more than an eighth. This circle, however, narrow as it was, was studded at nearly regular intervals with the glandular tubercles, which were not unlike a ring of beads." Around the deep-coloured circle immediately surrounding the nipple appears another ring of a much fainter tint, called the secondary areola. This has a mottled appearance, which has been aptly compared to the effects of drops of rain falling on a tinted surface, and discharging the colour. This symptom is more valuable in a first than in a subsequent pregnancy, for after the first the areola remains permanently larger and darker.

The dark colour is due to a deposition of pigment in the skin. Similar pigmentary deposits are met with elsewhere. There is often a dark line running

from the pubes up to the navel, and from thence on again to the lower end of the breast-bone. Around the navel it forms a dark circle: a dark circle is sometimes also formed around the eyes. Discoloured patches are occasionally seen on other parts of the body—as the forehead, face, or neck—which may disappear after labour, but may remain permanently.

Soon after conception the womb begins to grow rapidly: it becomes heavier, and sinks lower in the pelvis. This gives rise to a flattening of the abdomen below the umbilicus-between that point and the pubes -and has given rise to the French proverb-" En ventre plat, enfant il y a." At this time there is frequently some urinary trouble-a frequent desire to pass water. From the third to the fourth month the womb, which had sunk somewhat in the pelvis, has attained a size too large for that cavity to contain it, and consequently it rises into the cavity of the abdomen. Now the abdomen instead of being flattened is swollen : the woman feels herself larger, her clothes are tight, and she has a sense of fulness. At the same time the womb may be distinctly felt as a round, globular, smooth mass rising from the pelvis.

The womb itself has also undergone marked changes —changes in shape and consistence. The neck has become enlarged, very much softer, and its opening bigger. The glands on its surface are more marked,

and can be easily felt. The circulation through the organ has much increased, and the lining membrane of the neck and the vagina has become darker, and of a livid or violet colour.

A symptom which is popularly regarded as an absolutely certain sign of pregnancy is the sensation felt by the woman and called "quickening." The term was applied to convey the erroneous idea that the child then became alive or quick, and that it was not so before that event. This is known to be incorrect, inasmuch as the child or embryo is alive from the first, though its life is a lower form of life than it is after the fifth or sixth month, just as the life of a child an hour before birth is a lower form of life than that it possesses an hour after birth. Marvellous statements have been made, and discussions carried on, as to the time when the child first possesses a soul, but we cannot say that this mystery has been made any clearer by any statements that have been made regarding it. Let it suffice here to say that from the time of conception there is life in the embryo, simple though it be when compared with the higher life of a born child or an adult man, yet too complex to be solved by the greatest philosopher.

There can be no doubt that quickening is of some value in the diagnosis of pregnancy. At the same time its value has been greatly over-rated. It is

thought by women generally not only to mark the time when the embryo first starts into life, but also to occur always at the middle of pregnancy—at about four and a half months. Usually it happens about the end of the fourth month, or, to give a wider range and be more accurate, between the fourteenth and eighteenth weeks. It sometimes takes place earlier —as early as the tenth week—but this is very rare. In many cases it does not happen until much later, and in some not at all.

The sensation felt at the time is described differently by different women. They say it is a peculiar flutter, a tapping, or a pulsation or a thrill in the region of the womb, sometimes a tremulous motion like that of a little bird held in the hand. Dr. Montgomery describes the phenomena as follows :---"Under ordinary circumstances when quickening does occur, but especially if it happens with the sudden ascent of the uterus from the pelvis, the woman is apt to feel an unusual degree of nervous agitation, which not unfrequently ends in faintness, or even complete syncope, after which she is sensible of a slight fluttering sensation, which from day to day becomes more distinct, until she fully recognises the motions of the child."

The causes of these phenomena are a matter of question, and subject to considerable difference of

opinion. Some believe that they are due to the movements of the child, and that the mother at that time becomes conscious of them for the first time this is the more generally received opinion; others believe they are due to the sudden ascent of the womb from the pelvis to the abdominal cavity; while a third party refers them to the first contractions of the uterine wall. It is probable that the three views are correct, for the sensations described by different women must be ascribed to different causes. In one case they are due to the movements of the child, in another to uterine contractions, and in a third to sudden ascent of the uterus ; but more than one may co-operate in producing the sensation.

From this time onward the mother becomes more conscious of peculiar sensations, and there is no room to doubt that these sensations are due to the movements of the child—that is, when pregnancy is present. We say when pregnancy is present, because we shall see by-and-by that such sensations ascribed to the movements of the child are sometimes felt by women who are not pregnant, even by women who have had children, and therefore know the character of the sensations due to the child's motions in the uterus. Some women feel these sensations only in a very slight degree; others, again, feel the greatest annoyance, discomfort, and even pain from them—they

cannot sleep, and therefore seek advice with a view to control them; others, again, never feel the child at all from the beginning to the end of pregnancy.

Again, it not unfrequently happens that women believe themselves pregnant, and have many or all the subjective sensations associated with that state, while in reality they are not in the family way. These are very peculiar cases. They may occur at any age from twenty-five to fifty, but usually about the change of life - during the "dodging-time." Often this happens to women who wish to believe they are in an interesting state, and are desirous of having a family. But it happens also to women who have had several children, who ought to know what the sensations and feelings associated with pregnancy are, and who have not the least desire to have an addition to their already large families. Several such cases have come under our observation, and in some cases we have found it impossible to persuade them of their error. Time alone-that great solver of intricate questions and knotty points-will convince them of their mistake; and even against its unanswerable arguments they persevere in their belief (for after the usual period of pregnancy has elapsed, up to the tenth, twelfth, fourteenth month, or even longer, they prove faithful to their creed), until finally they renounce it for very shame.

The causes of these abnormal sensations are various: it may be a false conception, a tumour of the uterus or ovary, some disease of the organs of generation, twitching of the muscles of the abdomen, retention of the menstrual discharge in the womb, movements of gas in the intestines, or an unnatural pulsation of the large vessels of the abdomen. We have said enough to show that quickening—though a valuable sign of pregnancy—cannot be depended upon as a sure sign of that state.

After the time of quickening—or, more accurately, after the womb has ascended from the pelvic into the abdominal cavity—the organ rapidly grows in size, and the abdomen enlarges. At the fifth month the upper border of the uterus reaches to a point midway between the pubes and navel. The navel, which had hitherto been considerably depressed, becomes now less so. In the sixth month the womb reaches to a level with the navel, and the navel itself is almost on a level with the surrounding surface—the depression is almost effaced

In the seventh month the womb is still larger, and inclined to the right side, and reaches to a point midway between the navel and the lower end of the breast-bone. The depression of the navel is quite effaced.

In the eighth month the organ reaches the lower

end of the breast-bone, and becomes wider. The navel itself is not only not depressed, but is now pushed forward and prominent beyond the neighbouring surface.

In the ninth month the womb sinks somewhat lower, and the navel becomes still more prominent.

During these—the last four months of pregnancy —the symptoms become more marked, and certain indisputable signs of the condition make themselves manifest. These refer chiefly to the child, and most of them require special knowledge and skill for their detection and recognition—especially knowledge and skill in auscultation, though others may be obtained by careful manipulation or palpation.

If the hand be laid flat on the abdomen, and retained there for a little time, certain peculiar movements will be felt. These may be due to three causes. In the first place they may arise from the contraction of the uterus itself. In this case the tumour formed by the gravid womb becomes harder, firmer, more tense and resisting, and after a while relaxes again. These contractions take place at intervals from the fourth or fifth month; indeed, from the time the uterus can be felt in the abdomen until the end of pregnancy.

But if the hand be still retained in the same position on the abdomen, other movements will soon make themselves felt These are little blows or kicks

given suddenly-perhaps two or three in successionand then all is quiet again. They may, however, be continued for some time, especially during the later months; indeed, as has been already stated, they may be so frequent and strong as to be a source of great annovance, and even of sleeplessness.

Other sensations may be felt by this method which are unconnected with the womb, and these may be mistaken for those produced by the movements of the child or the contractions of the uterine wall. They are due to the sudden contractions of the muscles of the wall of the abdomen, or to the movements of gas in the intestine. In some cases it is difficult to distinguish between the sensations felt from this cause and those arising from pregnancy, for both may have very much the same characters; so that feeling movements in the abdomen, unless they can be distinctly recognised as due to the motions of the child, is not a sure sign of pregnancy.

Another sign is repercussion or ballottement. This may be practised by simple abdominal palpation, or through the vagina. The latter method is more generally adopted by physicians, inasmuch as it is more certain in its results. The sign depends upon the fact that the child is a solid body floating in a fluid, and that certain movements can be given to that body so as to make its presence felt. If the woman lie

on her side, and a hand be laid flat on the abdomen under the projecting womb, so that a hard resistance be felt, and then a smart sharp jerk upwards be given, this feeling of hard resistance will disappear, and immediately afterwards a perceptible tap will be felt, and the feeling of resistance returns. These phenomena are explained in the following manner :—By the sudden jerk the child, which has gravitated to the lowest possible position, is pushed upwards, floating in its surrounding fluid; immediately, however, it begins to descend again by gravitation, and strikes the wall of the uterus at the spot where the hand is applied.

This is not a certain sign of pregnancy, though in the infinite majority of cases it may be relied upon; yet the sign may be obtained in other conditions than pregnancy. For instance, in some rare forms of ovarian tumours a solid body is found floating in the fluid of a cyst — a condition which would give rise to repercussion or ballottement under proper manipulation. The known rarity of such cases, however, render the ballottement a valuable sign of pregnancy.

But by palpation or manipulation through the abdominal wall much more may frequently be learnt than simply the existence of pregnancy. If the walls of the abdomen be not too rigid or too thick from the deposition of fat, the shape of the child can be without much difficulty made out; its limbs, its

buttocks, its back, and its head can be distinguished, and in this way the exact position which it occupies may be recognised. Moreover, by taking advantage of this knowledge, one of the greatest recent advances in midwifery and the treatment of labour has been attained.

Knowing the position occupied by the child or foctus in the womb, knowing that it floats therein surrounded by a fluid, and knowing that by slight force it can be easily moved in that fluid, it became evident that by careful and well-directed manipulation the position of the child could be altered at will, and practice has abundantly proved the accuracy of the inference. When it is known that the child occupies an unnatural position, or a position which is unfavourable to birth, or which renders labour prolonged and consequently dangerous to the mother and child, advantage may and should at once be taken of the power of changing the position of the child in the manner described into a more natural or favourable In this way great and serious danger may often one. This method of "turning," as it is be avoided. called, is one of the greatest triumphs of modern obstetric art.

But by far the most reliable of all the signs of pregnancy is the beating of the child's heart. This is an absolutely certain symptom of that state, and

with ordinary care no other can be mistaken for it. Indeed, nothing can simulate it so as to deceive a careful observer. It requires for its recognition, however, a skilled observer, an educated ear. It is known that by listening over the heart of a grown-up person certain sounds are heard. These sounds are double, and repeated about seventy or eighty times a minute, and are produced by the action of the heart. In a similar manner the heart of the child produces double sounds, which become audible by means of the stethoscope about the fifth month, and continue to increase in loudness from that time up to the end of pregnancy. They are heard generally over a limited spot of the abdomen. The position of this spot varies in different cases, and in the same case, according to the position of the child. The sounds are much more frequent than the sounds of the mother's heart or the beats of her pulse, being from 120 to 160 a minute. The sounds are double, and have received the name of "tic-tacs," from their resemblance to the sounds of a watch. Several things may be learnt, with a certain degree of probability, by observing the character and position of the sounds of the child's heart. As the place in which the sounds are heard is a very limited area, and varies in position with the position of the child, the latter can to a certain extent be inferred from the former. Moreover, recent
investigations go to show that the number of the sounds per minute varies more or less with the sex of the child. If the pulse be very quick, the child is a female; if slow, the child is a male. The question has already been discussed.

Besides, it is possible by auscultation to detect in some cases twin pregnancy. If two distinct foetal pulsations can be heard, audible at distant spots of the abdomen, there can be but one inference—that is, that there are two hearts producing the two pulsations; and if two hearts, then two children.

When the foctus is dead, the heart does not beat, and the heart sounds are not produced, and consequently cannot be heard, so that pregnancy may exist without foctal heart sounds. In some cases also of ordinary healthy pregnancy it is not possible after the most careful examination to detect the heart sounds; so that, though the presence of the sounds of the child's heart is an indisputable sign of pregnancy, yet the absence of such sign does not negative the condition.

Another sign of pregnancy is the funic souffle. It is the sound produced when the funis or chord is pressed upon. It is, however, very rarely audible. When heard, it is a sure sign of the presence of pregnancy.

The uterine or placental "souffle or bruit" is yet

PREGNANCY.

another sign of the state under consideration. It becomes audible about the fourth month of pregnancy. It comes and goes. It is heard for a short time, and then disappears, and again returns in a short time. Various theories have been advanced with regard to the mode of its production. It is not characteristic of pregnancy. It, or a sound similar to it, is often heard in other conditions, as when fibrous tumour is present.

Besides these, many other sounds may be heard over the abdomen: sounds due to the movements of the child—these are dull thuds accompanied by a sudden jerk or impulse; sounds due to the movements of gas and fluids in the intestines, &c.

It is evident, then, that there are only two absolutely sure signs of pregnancy, and these can be recognised with certainty by a skilled observer only —an observer skilled in auscultation and manipulation. These signs are the sounds of the heart of the child or fœtus, and the sensations produced by the different parts of the child, so as to distinguish those parts. It is not enough to recognise the presence of a solid body floating in a fluid, though this would supply evidence of the probability approaching to certainty of the presence of pregnancy; but the condition is met with, though infinitely rarely, in tumours. On the other hand, the sounds of the fœtal heart cannot be simulated, and though pregnancy may exist and the sounds be not present (as when the child is dead) or inaudible; yet, when heard, there can be no question about the diagnosis.

The condition of the nipple and its surrounding coloured ring has been said to be absolutely characteristic: in most cases, doubtless, it is characteristic, but disease may give rise to a condition of breasts undistinguishable from that of pregnancy.

During the later months of pregnancy, then, certain sure signs of that condition may be discovered by auscultation and palpation, or manipulation of the abdomen, but during the earlier months no such signs are discoverable; yet, by a careful examination of the breasts, abdomen, and womb through the vagina, a conclusion may be arrived at possessing an amount of probability approaching to certainty.

Besides the symptoms enumerated, many curious changes in the dispositions, habits, and constitutions of women occur now and then during pregnancy, and though these cannot be accounted as symptoms of that condition in the generality of women, yet in those in whom they have occurred once they may be so considered. Changes of disposition, for instance, sometimes happen during this period. A good-tempered woman and well-disposed may become irritable and malicious; fortunately, on the other hand, every now

PREGNANCY.

and then a stepmother, who is the terror of the smaller members of the family, becomes the light of the household, kindness itself. Some women lose their memory, others sight, others their voice, to regain them again after labour. Nervous disorders of pregnancy take every shape and form. Sometimes, instead of the loss of a sense, it is the gain of one that occurs. Women who are melancholy and pensive, and even imbecile, have regained the perfect use of their mental faculties during pregnancy, to lose them again after parturition. Women who are deaf have regained the sense of hearing. Such occurrences are at present inexplicable, but they are doubtless due to an increase of nervous sensibility.

CHAPTER XI.

THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY.

THIS is a subject in which every member of society, and especially every woman, is interested. - Considering the frequency of the occurrence of the condition, and, as might be thought at first sight, the material at hand for the question, it would seem strange that it is even now a disputed question. There is, however, no doubt, and all are agreed upon this point, that the average duration of pregnancy is about nine calendar or ten lunar months-from 273 to 280 days. But at the same time, there is equally little doubt that the duration of this state may vary, but to what degree this variation may amount has been the subject of hot debate. The law of England does not fix the limit of variation, and wisely. Blackstone says:--- "From what has been said, it appears that all. children born before matrimony are bastards by our law; and so it is of all children born so long after the death of the husband, that by the usual course of gestation they could not be begotten by him. But this being a matter of some uncertainty, the law is not exact to a few days."

By the Code Napoléon, the duration of pregnancy is fixed at three hundred days; by the Scotch law, ten

DURATION OF PREGNANCY.

solar months is fixed as the longest duration of the condition; by the Prussian law, 302 days; by the Roman law, ten lunar months.

Some cases of undoubted prolonged gestation have occurred, but they are by no means numerous; indeed, many of the cases recorded as such cannot be accepted, for the evidence in their favour is too imperfect. At the same time, there are undisputed instances of cases in which pregnancy lasted 290, 300, and even 317 days—that is, a period of ten, twenty, and even thirtyseven days beyond the usual forty weeks.

So he authors state that pregnancy may last a year, or even two or three. The Chinese say that pregnancy usually lasts seven or eight months, and sometimes one, two, or even four years.

In Egypt, it has been decided by the interpreters of the la / that "children may remain in their mother's womb for four years. After five years, this cannot be."

On the other hand, the duration of pregnancy may be less than the traditional nine months, and the child be fully and perfectly developed. Children born at the eighth month may be of full size, full weight, and full development. Women differ by several days in the duration of pregnancy, probably because of some peculiarity inherent in themselves. In other words, every woman has a period of gestation proper and peculiar to herself. In some cases, this period is

212

less by three or four weeks, in others more by four or five weeks, than the generally-accepted forty weeks. Still, the great majority of women are confined in the fortieth week of pregnancy.

The time of expected confinement is often estimated from the time of quickening. This, though in some cases of a certain value, is liable to mislead greatly. When made the basis of calculation of the time of expected confinement, it is generally regarded as the middle of pregnancy. We have already pointed out, however, that quickening may occur at any time after the tenth week; and though it may happen at the end of the fourth month, yet it usually happens between the fourteenth and eighteenth weeks; and we have also said that it may not happen at all. It should, however, be called in as an auxiliary to decide the time of confinement, rather than be made the basis for The usual method adopted by physithe calculation. cians is to calculate from the last day of the last menstrual flow. From that time they count 273 days, and in the week after the confinement may be expected -that is, between 273 and 280 days after the cessation of the last catamenia. Thus, suppose the catamenia ceased on the 10th of March, labour would be expected between December 8th and December 15th.

There is sometimes a difficulty in estimating the date of labour by this method, because, as we have

DURATION OF PREGNANCY.

mentioned, the menses may not have been suppressed after conception, but may have returned for two, three, or four periods afterwards. In such cases, quickening becomes of value, in order to correct any error that the appearance of thé menses may have given rise to. In such cases, however, the time of expected confinement must necessarily be very uncertain, and cannot be calculated with any accuracy. Other cases, again, occur in which it becomes difficult, or even impossible,. to determine the date of labour. For instance, a woman has ceased to menstruate in March-in July she becomes pregnant. In such a case, it is evident that the duration of pregnancy cannot be dated from the last appearance of the menses. Were it done, it would lead to an error of three or four months. Quickening would become valuable as an auxiliary in this case again; but by far the best method of estimating the duration of pregnancy in such cases, is to examine the abdomen carefully, and see how high the uterus reaches. In this manner, moderately accurate conclusions may be arrived at.

The annexed table will show at a glance when labour may be expected to take place in a person who has always been regular. The dates in the first column are those of the last appearance of the menses; those in the second, 273 days, those in the third, 280 days from that date.

	initial losses in a				
Last Day of Last	Time of Expected Confinement.		Last Day of Last	Time of Expected Confinement.	
Menstrua- tion.	Earliest, 273 Days.	Latest, 280 Days.	Menstrua- tion.	Earliest, 273 Days.	Latest, 280 Days.
tion. January 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February	273 Days. October 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1	280 Days. October 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1 8 1 8 1 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1 8 1 8 1 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1 8 1 8 1 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 November 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 28 29 30 31 November 1 8 8 8 8 9 8 8 8 8 9 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	tion, February 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 22 1 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 2 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 2 2 2 8 March 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 28 10 10 27 28 10 27 28 10 27 28 10 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 16 17 10 10 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 16 17 18 19 20 27 28 10 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 16 16 16 16 17 16 16 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 10 11 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	273 Days. November 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 53 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 December 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	280 Days. Nov-mber 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 December 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21
23450	3456	$9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13$	18 19 20 21	16 17 18 19	23 24 25 26
$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 11 \end{array} $	2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 19	$ \begin{array}{r} 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 24 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ 31 \end{array}$
$11 \\ 12 \\ 13$	$ 11^{\cdot} 12 13 $	18 19 20	26 27	25	January 1

TABLE SHOWING THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY.

DURATION OF PREGNANCY.

Last Day	Time of Expected		Last Day	Time of Expected	
of Last	Confinement.		of Last	Confinement.	
Menstrua-	Earliest,	Latest,	Menstrua-	Earliest,	Latest,
tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.	tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.
March 28 29 30 31 April 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 May 1 2 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 May 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	December 26 27 28 29 30 31 January 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 January 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 January 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 January 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 28 29 30 31 31 4 22 23 24 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 3 3 4 4 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 3 3 4 4 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 3 3 4 4	January 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 2 1 3 1 4 5 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 4 5 16 7 8 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 4 5 16 7 8 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	May 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 1 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 1 June 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 29 30 31 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 20 20 21 22 23 24 29 30 31 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 21 22 23 24 29 30 31 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 21 22 23 24 29 20 20 21 22 23 24 29 20 20 21 22 23 24 29 20 20 21 22 23 24 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	February 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 March 1 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 March 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	February 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 1 2 28 10 10 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 12 28 10 10 10 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 March 1 12 28 10 10 11 12 28 10 10 11 12 28 10 10 11 12 28 10 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 March 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 28 28 28 28 29 10 11 12 23 24 25 26 27 28 28 29 10 11 12 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 27 28 28 29 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 27 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 27 28 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 27 28 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 27 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 27 28 28 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 27 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28

TABLE SHOWING THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY (Continued).

Last Day	Time of Expected		Last Day	Time of Expected	
of Last	Confinement.		of Last	Confinement.	
Menstrua-	Earliest,	Latest,	Menstrua-	Earliest,	Latest,
tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.	tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{June} \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ \mathbf{July} \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ 31 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{March} \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ 31 \\ \text{April} \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} March\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ 31\\ April\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9\\ 10\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20\\ 21\\ 22\\ 23\\ 24\\ 25\\ 26\\ 27\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ May\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ \end{array}$	August 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 September 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	May 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	May 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 June 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 20 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20

TABLE SHOWING THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY (Continued).

DURATION OF PREGNANCY. 217

Last Day	Time of Expected		Last Day	Time of Expected	
of Last	Confinement.		of Last	Confinement.	
Menstiua-	Earliest,	Latest,	Menstrua-	Earliest,	Latest,
tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.	tion.	273 Days.	280 Days.
$\begin{array}{r} \text{September} & 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ \textbf{October} \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 23 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ \end{array}$	June 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 21 28 29 30 July 1 2 3 4 5 16 17 18 19 20 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 20 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 26 27 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 26 27 26 27 26 27 28 28 29 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26	June 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 29 30 July 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 July 11 2 2 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 Angust 1 2 29 30 31 Angust 1 2	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Oc'ober} \\ 27 \\ 23 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ 31 \\ \text{November} \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 19 \\ 20 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 24 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 29 \\ 30 \\ \text{December} \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} July\\ 27\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ 31\\ August\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9\\ 10\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20\\ 21\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20\\ 21\\ 22\\ 23\\ 24\\ 25\\ 26\\ 27\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ 31\\ September\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ \end{array}$	August 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 50 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 50 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 50 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 50 31 September 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 50 31 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 22 23 24 25 26 7 28 29 50 31 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 29 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 29 10 11 12 13 13

TABLE SHOWING THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY (Continued).

Last Day of Last Menstrua- tion.	Time of Expected Confinement.		Last Day of Last	Time of Expected Confinement.	
	Earliest, 273 Days.	Latest, 280 Days.	Menstrua- tion.	Earliest, 273 Days.	Latest, 280 Days.
1)ecember 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	September 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	September 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26	December 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	September 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	September 27 28 29 30 October 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

TABLE SHOWING THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY (Continued).

CHAPTER XII.

THE DISORDERS OF PREGNANCY.

Vomiting-Increased Secretion of Saliva-Enlargement of the Veins of the Legs-Piles-Urinary Troubles-Flooding.

WHEN enumerating the signs of pregnancy we spoke of the sympathy between other organs and the uterus; and although this is almost at all times manifested, yet it is peculiarly marked when conception has taken place. To this peculiar relation is due many of the disorders of pregnancy, though others arise from the pressure exercised by the enlarged uterus.

One of the first symptoms following conception is *vomiting and nausea*. This is present at some time in almost all pregnancies. It is due to the sympathy between the stomach and the uterus. Being present in nearly every case of gestation, morning sickness may be regarded as a natural condition; yet, in some cases, the sickness and nausea are so excessive as to endanger the life of the patient, and in such cases they cannot be regarded as normal, but as morbid. It is generally believed that women suffer more from sickness during their first than during their other

220

pregnancies. It is also said to be worse when the foctus is a male than when it is a female. Normally the sickness is limited to the morning; it is most common on getting out of bed in the morning. The vomited matter is watery, acid, sometimes bile, and mucus. The appetite is not lost, and the patient makes a hearty breakfast.

In cases where the sickness assumes the character of disease, the stomach refuses everything. No food of any kind is retained. This may go on for weeks, and then cease suddenly; or it may go on for months, and exhaust the patient's strength. The patient becomes thinner and thinner; she faints with the least exertion. The face becomes worn and anxious, and the eyes sunken. Vomiting continues even when the stomach is empty; there may be severe pain in the pit of the stomach; and unless the vomiting be controlled the patient dies. Many such cases have occurred.

The *treatment* of such cases is sometimes difficult. The vomiting may be so intractable as to defy the influence of all medicines. In most cases it can be controlled, and generally by simple means. A cup of tea in bed, or breakfast before getting up, effectually stops it in some cases. Some will retain cold and reject hot food. Ice is of great service in all kinds of vomiting. Place bits of it in the mouth and let them melt.

The bowels should be carefully attended to. They should be made to act regularly, and never be allowed to become constipated. If the liver be sluggish, a dose of blue pill now and then will prove of use, and afterwards a black draught, or a dose of castor oil. Most useful are Friedrichshall and Pullna water and Carlsbad salts, taken two or three times a week, or even every morning if necessary. Few things are of equal service with these mild purgatives. Effervescing draughts are sometimes useful. Bitters and soda, hydrocyanic acid, creosote, and salts of cerium are useful in their turn.

External applications are occasionally useful, as a small blister, mustard poultices, and turpentine stupes to the pit of the stomach. A liniment of belladonna or camphor applied to the same part in some cases proves effectual.

The patient should keep quiet, in fact rest in the recumbent position. She should be careful what she eats—never to take anything that she knows disagrees with her, and to take the most nourishing food the stomach will retain in small quantities. If there be great exhaustion stimulants are useful; they act best in an effervescing form, as champagne, or brandy and soda or seltzer. At the same time it is better to avoid them unless they are absolutely necessary.

Should the vomiting resist all treatment, and the

222

stomach reject everything, it becomes necessary to keep up the strength of the exhausted and feeble patient by means of injections of food into the bowel —by nutritive clysters. These should consist of beef tea. About two ounces should be administered each time. If necessary, a little brandy should be added each time. It may be repeated every four hours.

Cod-liver oil or olive oil may also be rubbed into the skin, with a view to keep up the strength by cutaneous absorption. But the vomiting may go on to such a degree as to excite the uterus to contract and expel its contents. Abortion or premature labour then occurs.

This gives a clue to a method of treatment in severe and intractable cases. Nature is a great teacher, a great saver as well as a great destroyer. In this case nature destroys the child and saves the mother; the child's life is sacrificed, and the mother's spared; and seeing this we learn to imitate it. The cases in which such extreme measures are called for are of extreme rarity. It happens only when the mother's life is in imminent and urgent peril; then it becomes a duty to act promptly and empty the uterus, and thus save the only life that can be saved, unless, indeed, it be in the later months of pregnancy, when both lives —the mother's and the child's—can in this manner be spared. Repulsive as it is to destroy the child, still it

is the highest duty, and no hesitation should be felt in sacrificing it in the circumstances stated, for unless this be done, and done promptly, not only the life of the child, but that of the mother will also be lost. We say this because women have died from the effects of vomiting during pregnancy, and numerous cases have occurred in which the vomiting has ceased as soon as the womb has been emptied. At the same time the greatest precautions should be observed before this last step is taken, for some women have recovered from the greatest danger when it was thought it had been impossible for them to survive. That such cases have perfectly recovered should not be lost sight of, and abortion should not be induced until the peril is imminent.

Some women are better when pregnant than at any other time. They eat better, grow fatter and stronger. Others, again, lose their appetite, though there is no excessive vomiting; others have depraved tastes, desiring indigestible and injurious food. Some suffer pain in the pit of the stomach, especially when food is taken; others have water-brash and acidity or heartburn. All these symptoms point to the intimate sympathy between the stomach and uterus, and warn the future mother to be careful of her diet. She should avoid foods that are likely to turn acid, as those which contain much sugar, and those which are likely to

224

generate gas, as well as all indigestible and innutritious substances. Effervescing draughts of soda and lime-juice or citric acid relieve the heartburn temporarily; in other cases acidulated bitter draughts, as the dilute hydrochloric acid and calumba, with an occasional dose of blue pill, cure it permanently.

Salivation, or an Increase in the Secretion of Saliva. —There is, probably, in all cases of pregnancy an increase of salivary secretion, but this does not become apparent. In some cases, however, it becomes a very troublesome symptom. The saliva is constantly running out at the corners of the mouth, and may amount in twenty-four hours to two or three pints. It occurs usually at an early period, and lasts for three or four months, but sometimes during the whole period of pregnancy. The mouth looks healthy, but the salivary glands are somewhat enlarged.

The *treatment* should be general as well as local. The bowels, which are usually constipated, should be acted upon freely. A wash for the mouth, containing borax or chlorate of potash, sometimes proves useful. Small blisters behind the ears, or at the back of the neck, sometimes relieve. In the majority of cases the trouble ceases of itself; in some instances, however, it resists all treatment, lasting until pregnancy is over.

Constipation is a condition frequently accompanying pregnancy, and when allowed to go on for a long

time it may prove troublesome and serious in its results. Should the constipation come on suddenly, and be followed within a short time by violent sickness, rupture should be looked for. Such a condition is of a most grave character, and requires very careful treatment. Purgatives should be avoided, and the bowels quieted. The rupture should be reduced; and, should this be impossible, an operation should be performed for its relief. Unless the bowel be returned by means of manipulation or operation, death is certain.

In simple constipation, the diet should be carefully regulated, with a view to regulate the bowels; fruit, vegetables, &c., should be taken. As an aperient when required, Friedrichshall or Pullna water, manna, citrate of magnesia, or castor oil are the most useful. Clysters of soap and water are frequently recommended, and are of great use in some cases; but for regulating the bowels, we know of nothing better than the mineral waters above named.

Occasionally, diarrhœa occurs during pregnancy. When slight, it should not be interfered with, but treated simply by diet. The patient should avoid fruit and vegetable diet, and take milk, eggs, rice, &c. Should it become troublesome, a little bismuth generally stops it.

Enlarged Veins (Varicose Veins).—Enlargement of the veins of the legs is a very frequent occurrence

225

P

towards the end of pregnancy. It appears in a first, and becomes worse with every succeeding pregnancy. It is accompanied by much pain of an aching character. The veins become sometimes very large, and appear like huge cords—almost like ropes standing out above the surrounding surface—hard and tender. The skin and tissues around them become red and inflamed. The redness is of an angry dusky hue. The whole neighbouring tissue becomes hard and resistant. The inflammation may go on to ulceration, or a vein may burst, and profuse hæmorrhage follow.

The *treatment* consists in regulating the bowels, and the application of a bandage over the whole limb, or of an elastic stocking. Rest in the recumbent posture is imperative. Should a vein burst, the bleeding should be stopped by pressure on the lower side of the opening, as the blood in the veins flows upwards towards the heart.

Piles (hæmorrhoids) are exceedingly common during pregnancy. They are due to constipation, or to the pressure of the womb on the vessels above. They consist of little swellings around the opening of the bowels, projecting out of it. They cause but little pain at first, though they are irritable; but when they are inflamed or constricted after a straining at stool, they give rise to the most exquisite agony. They

sometimes bleed profusely, after which considerable relief is obtained.

The treatment of piles is that of the bowels. Gentle laxatives to prevent constipation—castor oil, confection of senna, with a little cream of tartar, sulphur, or confection of sulphur. Strict cleanliness should be observed. The part should be often sponged with cold or tepid water, and an ointment of gallic acid applied. When inflamed the patient should rest, and the part be fomented with an infusion of poppyheads; or a leech or two may be applied to the neighbouring part. When strangulated, the part should be pushed back into the bowel when that becomes possible. Frequent bathing with hot anodyne solutions, so as to deaden the sensibility, will hasten the possibility of this operation.

Neuralgia of the face is sometimes very troublesome and severe during pregnancy. It may last during the whole of pregnancy, or be limited to the earlier months. It is due sometimes to bad teeth; at other times no discoverable cause can be found. Should there be bad teeth, they should be removed; but if there be any reason why this operation be deferred, sedatives should be taken to relieve the suffering. These are powerful medicines, and should be taken only by medical advice. Together with sedatives, tonics should be taken; quinine and iron

and bark are the best. During the whole of the time the bowels should be kept open.

Urinary troubles are very common during pregnancy. There may exist from the commencement to the end of that state, a constant desire to pass water, or an involuntary escape of urine. The former occurs during the early, the latter more often during the later, months. In the first case the trouble is due to irritation, in the second to pressure of the large womb upon the bladder.

In the first class of cases the diet should be regulated, malt or spirituous liquors be entirely avoided; and a few doses of a mild sedative, as extract of henbane (gr. ii.), be taken occasionally; fomentations are said to be useful.

In the second class, patience must be exercised until pregnancy is over. No local applications or medicines will relieve the condition. Strict cleanliness, however, should be observed. The parts should be frequently sponged with warm water. The thighs and private parts should be well oiled or smeared with zinc ointment, or covered or coated with flexible collodion, to prevent inflammation and excoriation. The bladder should be emptied frequently.

Sometimes, however, there is inability to pass water. In some cases this is very troublesome, and by no means free from danger. The womb presses

against the neck of the bladder, and obstructs the outlet. Urine is not passed for many hours, and the bladder becomes much distended; the distension continuing, a little involuntary dribbling occurs. The woman thinks the bladder is emptied, when in reality the distension is increasing. The cause of this is usually a displacement of the womb. It is a condition which demands immediate treatment.

Dropsy is usually seen towards the end of pregnancy, though occasionally much earlier. It is generally limited to the feet and ankles, or at most to the lower limbs. Rarely, however, it is general, affecting the whole body; the upper and lower limbs the face, the back, and abdomen being swollen. In some cases it is very slight, and requires careful observation to detect it, even in depending parts, as around the ankles; while in others the whole body is greatly swollen. When it is limited to the lower extremities it is due to pressure caused by the enlarged womb. After the womb has ascended out of the pelvis, it, as it grows, displaces the intestines and bladder, and presses upon the parts around. In this way the blood-vessels as they pass through the cavity of the abdomen, become the subject of pressure. The course of the circulating fluid in them is obstructed; the blood in its course from the lower limbs to the heart is impeded, and consequently the feet and ankles become

congested, swollen, dropsical. As pregnancy advances this swelling increases, and the legs may attain before labour an enormous size. As soon as labour is over the obstruction is removed, the current of the blood is restored, and the swelling gradually disappears. This form of dropsy is not attended with danger. Another form is that due to disease of the kidneys, or to a poisoned state of the mother's blood. When the kidneys are diseased, and perform their functions imperfectly, certain effete products are apt to accumulate in the blood, giving rise to blood-poison. During pregnancy this condition may arise, though the kidneys be apparently healthy. The first sign of this state of blood is to be found in the urine. It contains a substance called albumen, which is a part of the fluid of the blood, and of a highly nutritive character, and the filtration of this substance through the kidneys, and its loss by the urine, has a tendency to weaken and enfeeble the system. How pregnancy gives rise to this condition it is difficult to ascertain, and there is some difference of opinion with regard to this point. Some think it is due to pressure of the enlarged womb upon the blood-vessels of the kidneys causing stagnation of the vital fluid in them, as in the vessels of the lower limbs. Others believe that it is owing to poisoning of the mother's blood through the effete products of the child. In whatever

manner it is brought about, it is a condition associated with some danger, and should not be for a moment neglected. Whenever the least swelling of the face is observed, medical advice should at once be sought. Besides the inconvenience and discomfort arising from the dropsy itself, certain symptoms, sometimes of a severe character, arise from this state of blood, the most alarming of which are convulsions. These come on in fits or paroxysms. They may come on during the later months of pregnancy, or in the course of labour. They are always associated with danger to the mother, and prove in the majority of cases fatal to the child. The whole body may be affected by them, or only one side. They are accompanied by loss of consciousness, difficulty of breathing, and lividity of face. One fit only may occur, or a series of fits, and as soon as the patient is out of one she may pass into another. They are often preceded by headache, giddiness, nausea and sickness, shivering, noises in the head, depression, lassitude, and weakness of the limbs. These symptoms should always prove a warning, and should attract the pregnant woman's attention to her state of health.

The *treatment* of such convulsions when they set in is to inhale chloroform. This has proved a most valuable remedy in the fit and against their return. It is administered during the fits in order to cut them

short, and at intervals with a view to prevent them. Chloroform is a very safe anæsthetic in pregnant women and during labour, but it should be administered by a person skilled in its use only. At the same time benzoic acid or lemon-juice is given to prevent the formation of an alkaline salt in the blood, which is believed to be due to decomposition of the blood-poison, and to give rise to the fits of convulsions. The bowels should be kept freely open by injections or by purgative medicines, such as jalap, calomel, &c.

During such convulsions labour sometimes comes on, and it should be completed as soon as possible. It may be necessary to accomplish this by artificial help, as turning or the use of instruments, for it has been frequently observed that as soon as the womb is emptied the convulsions cease. This does not happen in all, but in almost two-thirds of the cases. When there are reasons for believing the child to be dead, labour is usually brought on, for the retention of a dead child in the womb is unfavourable to the mother. In some cases the convulsions cease as soon as the womb is emptied, while in others they cease gradually; they become less and less severe until they disappear entirely.

Displacements of the Womb—The displacements of the womb which are met with during pregnancy are similar to those which are seen in the non-pregnant;

and it is probable that the large majority of cases of displacement of the pregnant womb are due to conception taking place in an already displaced womb. It is invariably true of that form of displacement known as falling or prolapsus of the womb, though not of the displacements known as falling backward (retroversion), and falling forward (anteversion).

Falling of the pregnant womb (prolapsus) is the least common of the three forms, and is indeed very rare. During the early weeks of pregnancy the womb is lower than usual in the pelvis, and where the parts have been repeatedly dilated and relaxed by several pregnancies and labours, it is not surprising that in women who have had many children the womb is very low. At the same time it is not often that the womb is so low down as to constitute disease, or to give such trouble that women have occasion to seek advice for it. Sometimes, however, the womb is so low down that its mouth occupies the orifice of the vagina, and, indeed, some cases are recorded where the womb was entirely outside the pelvis. Such cases are of a grave and serious character, but fortunately exceedingly rare. When the womb occupies the pelvis-though lower than natural-it rises about the fourth month, as the organ enlarges, out of the pelvis into the cavity of the abdomen. In this manner the morbid condition is cured. When, however, it is

outside the pelvis, great care and management are demanded. Unless it be properly replaced during the early months, reposition will become impossible, and the womb will remain outside until labour is over. Such a condition is attended with very serious risk, and advice should be sought with regard to it at the earliest moment. In simple cases the treatment consists in lying down. In some cases, especially about the third and fourth months, lying on the face is advantageous, for it favours the ascent of the womb into the abdominal cavity. When the womb is outside it should be replaced by gentle means ; and the woman should maintain the recumbent position, and wear a **T** bandage.

Falling backwards (retroversion and retroflexion) of the womb is the most frequent and by far the most troublesome of the displacements of the pregnant organ. The organ falls backward in such a manner as to press on the bowel behind and on the bladder in front. It has been said already that, as a rule, this condition is due to the occurrence of conception in an already displaced womb. This is unquestionably true with regard to the majority of cases, but it is probable that some cases are brought about gradually or suddenly by falls, efforts, lifting weights, straining, and other muscular exertion. The trouble begins usually about the third month, when the womb has attained

a size sufficient to fill the pelvis. It is then that the effects of pressure become felt, and obstruction to the evacuation of the bowels and of the bladder is caused. The bladder is not completely obstructed at once, for urine may be passed; but some is always retained, and the organ is never properly emptied. The retained portion becomes decomposed, smells offensively, causes inflammation and ulceration on the inner surface of the bladder; the bladder may become immensely distended, and at last burst, and then the urine flows into the cavity of the belly, causing inflammation and death.

Women may overlook the fact of great distension of the bladder from the fact that urine is constantly dribbling away from them involuntarily, but this is not an uncommon occurrence when over-distension and paralysis of the bladder are present. In all such cases a careful examination of the abdomen is necessary to discover the condition present, and it may be necessary to pass a catheter to draw the water with the same object. There is also constant desire to go to stool, and often inability to pass a motion. The abdomen grows bigger, and a glance at it shows an educated eye the distended bladder. It is, however, not possible to make out the exact condition of the womb, which lies at the bottom of all the trouble, without an examipation of that organ through the vagina. After such

examination there is no difficulty in pronouncing upon the nature of the case.

Retroversion of the pregnant uterus is a grave condition, especially if not attended to early. The earliest symptoms indicating such a condition should draw attention, and the cause be carefully investigated. Moreover, in its early stage the condition may easily be removed, while later on it is not possible to do so, or if it be accomplished it is by emptying the womb—a course to be taken only when all others have failed.

The treatment consists first in emptying the bladder. A catheter should be passed, and the urine drawn away. Then clysters of soap and water should be administered so as to empty the whole of the larger bowel. Having done this, the woman should lie on her face, and the uterus will in some cases ascend spontaneously; but this happens rarely, and it becomes necessary to lift the body of the womb so as to help it out of the pelvis. This is a very delicate operation, and requires a skilled hand. Sometimes all attempts at reducing the displacement fail, the body of the uterus being too large, or having become bound down by adhesions to the neighbouring tissues of the pelvis. Under these circumstances it is necessary to reduce the size of the uterus, or to empty the organ.

Death has occurred in some cases, and in some cases even after reduction has been effected, or after abortion has been procured. Hence the urgent need of early attention in all cases where there is retention of or difficulty in passing urine.

There are two or three cases on record in which a woman with a womb fallen back (retroversion) has gone to the full term of pregnancy, and after very prolonged labour has been delivered. Such, however. is not the usual termination; it is abortion and recovery, or death from inflammation and bloodpoisoning.

Falling of the womb forward (anteversion) is the usual condition after the second month. By assuming this position the organ rises into the cavity of the abdomen. The treatment consists in rest on the back.

Discharges of a watery or of a thick yellowish fluid from the vagina are exceedingly common during pregnancy. It sometimes causes much discomfort, a burning, tingling, or constant itching about the private parts.

It should be treated by observing strict cleanliness, a tepid bath twice daily, regulated diet, and total abstinence from stimulants. The bowels should be regulated by mineral waters or sulphur, confection of senna, &c. After the use of the tepid bath an injection consisting of Goulard water or a weak solution of acetate of lead should be used; the parts should then be carefully dried with a soft cloth. If there be

238

general weakness, steel or acids and bitters will prove useful.

Discharge of blood during pregnancy is almost invariably a serious symptom. As a general rule, it may be said that with the exception of those cases in which menstruation takes place for a few times during the early months of pregnancy, hæmorrhage from the pregnant womb is not unaccompanied by danger; there are a few cases in which disease of the womb itself gives rise to bleeding during pregnancy. These cases are not of very common occurrence, and we will confine our remarks in this place to flooding arising from something unnatural in the pregnancy itself.

Flooding, then, is frequently the first signal of abortion. This may occur at any period of pregnancy. Threatened abortion may often be warded off, and the woman recovers and goes to her full time. Abortion is the result of disease or of accidents. Very slight accidents will give rise to it in some women; and women who have aborted once or twice get into a habit of doing so, and it is difficult to make pregnancy proceed to the full term in them.

Later on, during the later months of pregnancy, flooding of this kind is called accidental hæmorrhage. It is due to partial separation of the afterbirth from the womb, and often causes premature labour. It is

caused by accidents, as falls, blows, fright, &c., and by disease of the after-birth.

Another form of flooding is what is called "unavoidable hæmorrhage." No accident produces this. Its occurrence is a matter of necessity after the fifth or sixth month of pregnancy. It occurs oftener in women who have had several children than in those who are pregnant for the first time. It is due to the fact that the afterbirth is misplaced (so to speak), for it is situated over the neck of the womb instead of being attached to the upper part of the body of the organ.

All cases of hæmorrhage during pregnancy are of a very serious character, and they tax to the highest the skill of the most expert. Medicines and plugging are of but little use. Absolute rest in bed is essential; cold may be used, and in some cases anodyne may be given, but only in cases where the patient can be frequently seen by the doctor—and every case of flooding should be frequently seen. Should the hæmorrhage continue, labour should be brought on, and the womb quickly emptied.

It is evident that pregnancy is a state which is attended with no little anxiety; and that the woman who is pregnant should be the object of earnest solicitude and kind attention.

The numerous sympathies manifested at this time

between other organs and the uterus-as the breasts, stomach, kidneys, nerves-all of which, when moderate in degree, are normal, yet even then they are a source of trouble and discomfort. But when they attain a morbid degree, what terrible inflictions they become! Towards the end of pregnancy still greater claims has woman upon our tenderness, for then she is often a burden to herself. It should never be forgotten that pregnancy gives rise to alterations in disposition, and increases the general susceptibility; that it sometimes makes the most amiable irritable, the self-denying indulgent, and the cheerful despondent. "The respectful deference which is commonly shown to women in civilised countries at all times, is now therefore more especially demanded; while a little forbearance and feeble persuasion will do much more than rudeness or harshness in making the future mother conceal any infirmity of temper, as well as in enabling her to preserve a calm and cheerful deportment."

CHAPTER XIII.

MISCARRIAGE OR ABORTION. Causes of-Symptoms of.

By abortion is meant expulsion of the embryo from the womb before the seventh month of pregnancy; when it takes place between this period and the ninth month it is called premature labour. Both are of very frequent occurrence. When expelled before the end of the seventh, the embryo, or child, is already dead, or dies soon after birth ; when after, it may live and be reared. Abortion is said to take place more frequently in first pregnancies than in later ones, for what reason it is difficult to find out. On the other hand, there is some evidence to show that they occur more frequently in later pregnancies, and in conceptions occurring about the dodging-time. A pregnancy about this period is an anxious time to the subject of it.

The causes of abortion are very numerous. They may be divided into diseases affecting the mother's health, diseases of the embryo, and accidental causes.

Diseases of the Mother.—Acute disease and fevers, as inflammation of the lungs, typhoid or scarlet fever,
or small-pox, not uncommonly give rise to abortion. Though this is the general rule, yet it is by no means without exception, for women pass through severe attacks of the acute fevers, and go to their full time pregnancy not having been in any way interrupted.

Constipation, either from natural inaction of the bowels, or from pressure upon them of the pregnant womb, gives rise during the early months of pregnancy to such violent straining as to induce the womb to expel its contents. The presence of hard masses of fæces in the intestine alone is often enough to irritate the womb, and excite it to contraction, which may end in miscarriage.

Skin diseases are occasionally the cause of abortion, especially when they give rise to great and intolerable irritation.

Inflammation of the uterus itself, and of the tissues around it, sometimes causes miscarriage. In this case the womb is bound down in the pelvis by firm bands. As pregnancy proceeds, the uterus becomes larger and softer; the tissues around participate more or less in the changes which the womb passes through, and become more yielding and soft; but in some cases they possess too great a resistance to permit the womb to rise and escape into the cavity of the abdomen when it has become too large to be contained in the pelvis. Unless they give way, or yield, abortion will

MISCARRIAGE.

take place; but on the other hand, should the womb be permitted to escape into the cavity of the abdomen, pregnancy will go on uninterruptedly.

Displacement of the womb is another cause of this trouble. These affections have already been described. The danger of abortion arising from them is about the third or fourth month, when the womb goes up into the abdominal cavity from the pelvis. It is true that they frequently give rise to many troubles before this time, and that they have given long warning of their presence, yet it is now that they put forth all their strength, that the troubles which they cause reach their highest danger. These displacements may have existed previous to conception, or they may have been brought on since.

Retroflexion does not absolutely prevent conception, and the pregnant uterus also may be retroverted during the early months of pregnancy by the straining which often occurs when the bowels are obstinately constipated. When this happens, there is a sudden severe pain in the abdomen; the neck of the bladder becomes pressed upon; and as the womb grows the urinary passage becomes quite obstructed, so that there is complete retention of urine with all its evils. The womb occupying the abnormal position becomes greatly congested, increases in size, presses against the walls of the pelvis, and being unable to escape into the

2.43

cavity of the abdomen, contracts upon its contents and expels them.

Falling down of the womb rarely gives rise to abortion, but falling forward is said to cause it very frequently, considering the rarity with which the anteverted womb becomes impregnated.

Fibroid tumours of the uterus, ovarian tumours, or other tumours of the abdomen or of the pelvis; disease of the lungs, liver, heart, and kidneys; convulsions, whether they be hysterical or epileptic in character; a nervous temperament, or full-bloodedness (plethora); lead-poison or blood-poison of any kind may cause miscarriage.

Diseases of the Embryo which produce abortion.— The unborn infant is liable to disease just as the newlyborn is. At any period of pregnancy it may become the subject of disease, and it may perish in consequence or live to the full time. Diseases are hereditary, just as well as facial and bodily lineaments; and the diseases of the father and mother may be transmitted to the child, and while still in the womb it may show signs of them. During the early months the intestines and liver are apt to suffer; later the brain, the glands, the lungs, the chest, heart, blood-vessels, and abdomen.

During the later months of pregnancy the unborn child may suffer from almost any disease which the newly-born may be subject to. If the mother suffer

MISCARRIAGE.

from acute fever, cholera, consumption, or scrofula, the child may suffer from the same. Children have been born with measles or scarlet-fever rash upon them.

The after-birth is also subject to disease, which may destroy the child and produce abortion; or it may become partially separated from the womb, which, as a rule, results in flooding, and ultimately in miscarriage.

When the child dies in the womb, it is not, as a rule, expelled at once, but is retained for several days -from six to twenty. During this time there is some uneasiness, and perhaps signs of threatening abortion, and it is important to know whether the child is alive or dead. If the child is dead, the mother does not longer feel its movements; she does not increase in size, but there is a sense of coldness in the belly-a heaviness in the bottom of the abdomen; the breasts do not grow-lose their roundness and firmness, and they become loose and flaccid. If there be a fetid discharge it is almost certain the child is dead. It is exceedingly difficult to make sure of the death of a child in the womb, because the distinctive signs of life, as the sounds of the heart, may be missed, though the child be alive; and when the child is dead all the above symptoms may be absent.

False conceptions, as the flesh and grape mole, have

been described, and we need not do more here than refer to them as causes of abortion.

Accidents.—The most common are violent bodily or mental shocks, fright or grief, fatigue, blows, falls, riding, jolting, driving, dancing, violent diarrhœa, may cause abortion. It is surprising what little is enough to cause abortion in some women, and how difficult it is to get the womb to expel its contents in others. Severe injuries, heavy falls, violent attempts even at destroying the fruit, have in many cases completely failed to excite the organ to act. There is hardly an injury compatible with life—danger however great, excitement however powerful—which pregnant women have not suffered without evil effects.

It is said that some women acquire the habit of aborting. By this is meant that if a woman aborts once or twice she is very likely to do so again. In these cases there is something more than habit, and if the womb be carefully examined it will be found that it is in an unhealthy condition. It may be that it has not had time to recover from the first pregnancy and labour before the second conception takes place; the organ may be inflamed or ulcerated; in any case, however, some condition is present which is unfavourable to healthy pregnancy.

Symptoms.—The symptoms of abortion during the later months are similar to those of labour; at an

MISCARRIAGE.

earlier period they depend upon the degree of develop ment which the embryo has attained. If it occurs a week or a fortnight after the first absent period was due they will be little more than those of menstruation --a little more discharge, a few clots, and a little pain. The symptoms vary in severity between these extremes. We stated elsewhere that a periodical discharge of blood occasionally takes place during pregnancy : this should not be mistaken for the commencement of abortion. It is true that abortion frequently begins with flooding, but there is usually also pain in the On the other hand, there is no pain in abdomen. the former case, and the discharge is not profuse. Whenever bleeding occurs during pregnancy-whatever be its cause-the woman should rest in bed.

Women are apt to treat a miscarriage as if it were a matter of little or no importance; they frequently walk about, follow their occupation, and do their work during the whole time. Now it should be known, that though a miscarriage may be associated with little danger when properly attended to, yet when treated without due care and attention it may not only lead to endless troubles, and lay the seeds of many diseases, but may even prove fatal.

Whenever miscarriage is threatened, when bleeding sets in, all the discharges should be carefully kept no clots or substances should on any account be thrown

away; they should all be preserved until the visit of the doctor. They should be shown to him, for from them alone he can form an opinion whether "everything has come away" or not.

Unfortunately, women constantly act in the very reverse way: as soon as anything is passed it is carefully thrown away so that it cannot be seen again; it can safely be said that by so doing they do their best to prevent the doctor doing his best. By the examination of the substances passed, if they were all preserved, the medical man could easily say if there was any more to come away, and in this way decide what measures are needed.

The risk of leaving a portion of the after-birth behind in abortion is even greater than after labour. In the latter case, the danger is slight: it occurs daily, and usually the contractions of the womb are alone enough to expel it. In abortion, however, the contractions of the womb are feeble; the after-birth has not undergone the preparatory process for separation; it is firmly attached, and not easy of removal. After everything has come away a time of rest is required for the womb to return to its ordinary condition, just as it is necessary after labour. Absolute rest should be observed until all red discharge has stopped and for some time after. The observation of this counsel alone will save much future suffering; for there is nothing

MISCARRIAGE.

more productive of uterine diseases than carelessness during abortion.

At this time the diet should be good, but plainmeat, vegetables, bread, milk, and beef tea. Stimulants are not, as a rule, necessary. If there has been great loss of blood, however, they may be urgently needed. The bowels should be regulated. The breasts give no trouble, for little or no milk will appear in them.

CHAPTER XIV.

THE MANAGEMENT OF PREGNANCY. Food-Clothing-Baths-Exercise-Sleep.

WHEN a woman has conceived, her chief object and desire is and should be a healthy pregnancy and a safe labour. With this object in view, she should be watchful over everything that can affect or influence her physical, mental, and moral health and development; on this depends not only her own but her offspring's health. The food should, during pregnancy, be plain, and in sufficient quantity. Sometimes, as has been already stated, the appetite is lost or becomes degraded after conception, and there is a desire not simply for innutritious but for positively injurious substances. Now, the fancies of pregnant women should, as far as possible, be gratified; but there is a limit beyond which complaisance should not go: that limit is reached when injurious substances are desired as food. They should be refused, however painful it would be to do so. At the same time, great latitude should be allowed, because food which is indigestible is sometimes digested, in others vomited. The food, then, should be plain, nourishing, and abundant-meat twice a day, bread,

MANAGEMENT OF PREGNANCY. 251

vegetables, milk, and fruit pudding, unless the latter disagree.

Stimulants under ordinary circumstances are unnecessary; at least, no increase of them should be made on account of the conception. If the patient be accustomed to take small quantities of ale, claret, or wine, she may continue to take them to the same amount; but when water has been the usual drink it is best that it continue so. It will have a favourable effect both on the mother and the child's health.

There may arise, however, circumstances which demand the use of stimulants, as acute disease setting in, or a profuse loss of blood, or other exhausting condition. In such cases stimulants should be taken under medical advice.

Clothing.—All women wear stays, and it is right that they should do so. During pregnancy they should not be left off, but should be made in such a manner as to fit to the altered figure. Some women, without reason, appear as if ashamed of a condition which they are only proud of, and attempt to conceal the fact of their pregnancy for as long a period as possible. This is effected by tight-lacing, a practice that is most injurious to themselves and the child. It is to be deprecated and condemned, and there is no single reason in its favour. It arises entirely from a feeling cf false delicacy, which a person who aspires to become

a mother should not indulge in. On the other hand, stays are of great service when properly made. As pregnancy advances and the womb increases in dimensions, great pressure is brought to bear on the walls of the abdomen; the skin is stretched and cracked; the muscles and all the tissues are put on the strain; there is often severe pain in the lower part of the chest, owing to the dragging upon the ribs in the places where the muscles are inserted. A properlymade belt or stays bring considerable relief to these troubles. Such a stay should be moulded to the body, should not be stiff, should embrace the whole of the abdomen so as to give it equable support, and should have strong elastic at the sides, so that it may yield when necessary.

Flannel should be worn next the skin in summer as well as winter. It is at all times better than linen. The thickness of the material can be regulated to meet the peculiarities of the individual and the changes of the seasons. More or thicker clothing is generally required during pregnancy than at other times, owing to the increased nervous sensibility and susceptibility to disease.

Drawers of flannel should be used; they are better when they open on the side, and with elastic below the knees. In this way perfect protection from cold and draughts is insured.

MANAGEMENT OF PREGNANCY.

Garters should be worn as little as possible. There is great tendency during pregnancy to the distension and enlargement of the veins of the legs, owing to the pressure from the enlarged womb impeding the return of the blood from the lower limbs to the heart. Every effort should be made to relieve this, and ward off whatever has a tendency to aggravate this condition. Garters, especially when worn tightly, appear to favour the distension of the veins. It is, of course, not possible to do entirely without the aid of garters; at the same time, there are many hours of the day, or even many days, when their use can be dispensed with altogether by she who is enceinte; and by discarding them as much as possible, and by never wearing them tight, it is in some cases possible to save oneself infinite trouble and great pain.

Baths.—Many, if not most, ladies nowadays take their daily sponge bath. In many cases it is cold, in others it is tepid. Both are useful, and should not be discontinued during pregnancy.

Exercise is necessary to the enjoyment of health at all times. Pregnancy is no exception to this rule; and every day she who is in the family way should take a "constitutional." Indeed, it is perhaps more necessary during this period than at any other time. Care, however, should be taken not to overdo it. Violent exercise which calls the muscles into forcible

action should be avoided, as riding, rough driving, dancing, &c. Violent efforts, as over-lifting or straining, should be avoided. Long walks, causing great fatigue, should be forbidden. Quiet driving, but, best of all, walking exercise is to be recommended: a short walk morning and evening, and a third at noon, if not too fatiguing. This favours digestion and nutrition; promotes the change of material in the body; favours circulation, which during pregnancy becomes sluggish, and causes enlarged veins, swollen legs, and bleeding piles.

Sleep.—The amount of sleep that different people require varies greatly. Some can do with four or five hours a night, while others can hardly do with less than eight or nine, and could even enjoy twelve. During pregnancy early hours should undoubtedly be rigidly observed in the evening; in the morning, however, a longer rest than she is accustomed to will often prove very grateful to the feelings of the future mother, and she should not be denied the indulgence. During the day she should rest several hours, and always with the feet on a level with the buttocks.

Great care should always be taken in guarding against accidents to pregnant women: not only falls, blows, and direct injuries, but also sights or news, &c., which are likely to cause a sudden shock. Repulsive objects should be kept from view. This is not

MANAGEMENT OF PREGNANCY. 255

because they are likely to brand the child with what are called "Mothers' Marks," but because they may produce fits or hysterical convulsions; or a sudden shock may destroy the child, or bring on miscarriage, at any period of pregnancy.

CHAPTER XV.

THE MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR.

'The Period immediately following After-pains-Secretion of Milk-Excessive Secretion of Milk-Deficient Secretion of Milk-Deformed Nipples-Sore Nipples-Milk Abscess.

Some time before labour actually sets in premonitory symptoms or warnings of it have been observed. The first of these is the falling or sinking of the womb, which takes place during the last month of pregnancy. This is almost invariably observed. Women say that the child is lower-that they do not feel so uncomfortable, so full and distended. This is because the pressure of the womb is in part removed from the chest, and there is in consequence more breathing space. Other troubles, however, appear: the bladder becomes more irritable, micturition is more frequent, and the bowel may be irritated so as to give rise to slimy or mucous diarrhea. Walking also is performed with greater difficulty; there is a general preparation in the pelvis for the birth of the child. All the tissues become softer, and the firm joints which bind its several parts together appear to become looser and more yielding. The first symptom of real labour is pain. This is due to efforts made by the womb to

expel its contents. The pain is seated at first in the abdomen, and is similar to sharp colic. Pains similar to these may come on several days-even a week or more-before labour. They sometimes return every night and cease in the day. They are then due, in the majority of instances, to some deranged condition of the stomach and bowels, as constipation, or the ingestion of indigestible food. Such a condition at all times, and especially during pregnancy, is apt to give rise to pain in the womb. A dose of castor oil or Friedrichshall water will empty the bowel and dispel the pains. When labour really sets in, the pains return at intervals. At first the pains last a very short time; they are little more than sharp twinges, with long intervals between them. The pains gradually become longer and more severe, and the intervals shorter. After a time, the pains, instead of having a colicky or twinging, assume a bearing-down character. They go to the back, and then the woman has more suffering in the loins than anywhere else. She calls the nurse to press or support the back, and this gives great relief.

As labour advances, a discharge makes its appearance from the vagina. At first it is a pale or colourless viscid mucus. The quantity of this secretion varies: in some cases it is very profuse, while in others it is scanty. A large quantity of it is generally regarded

R

as a sign that the labour will not be a long one. After a time, when the labour has made some progress, what is called the "show" presents itself. This is a slight discharge of blood, and indicates the advance made by the child's head. It is a sure sign that labour is progressing. About the same time the patient may feel chilly, or have a slight shiver or rigor. This is of frequent, indeed, of usual occurrence, and should be expected in the natural course of events. Another occurrence of great importance which takes place about this time is the rupture of the membranes and the escape of the waters. The amount of water which escapes varies much in different cases. The quantity may be immense, or it may be trifling. The latter condition may be due to one of two things-retention of a part of the fluid in the womb, or an originally small amount of water. With the escape of the waters the pains alter in character. Before this event the pains were of a teasing, colicky character; afterwards they become stronger, of longer duration, and of a bearing-down character. The severity of the pain varies much. Some persons suffer but little, while others suffer severely. The pains gradually increase in severity until the head is born; then there is a short interval of relief, after which the body is expelled. When the child is completely born, the nurse (if a doctor is not present) should keep her hands

on the lower part of the abdomen, just above the pubes, or below the navel. Then she ought to feel a hard, round, smooth mass, like a cricket-ball or a child's head : upon this she should lay her hand flat, and hold it firmly down. It is the contracted womb which should be maintained in a state of contraction, and not allowed to become relaxed. There is no great hurry about the child, so long as its mouth is kept out of the discharge with which it is surrounded, and it is able to breathe. When the mother has been duly attended to, the child should be separated; this is called by some midwives, "taking the child." The navel-string or cord should be tied in two places by means of tape or of strong thread. The first ligature should be placed about an inch and a half or two inches from the child, and the second an inch or an inch and a half beyond the first. The navel-cord should be then divided with a pair of scissors between the two ligatures. Care should be taken that the cord is the part really divided. The object of the ligatures is to prevent bleeding. The really important one is that next the child, for if it be not properly and firmly tied the infant may bleed to death. The second is of no great importance, though it is usual to put it on.

The child having been separated, the next object is the removal of the after-birth. This is usually

expelled in the course of half an hour after the birth of the child by the efforts of the uterus alone; and no attempt should be made to remove it except by one thoroughly acquainted with the method of doing it. Nurses and midwives are often greatly afraid that the cord may be drawn up into the womb, and in order to prevent such an untoward occurrence they tie it by means of the ligature-string to the patient's thigh or leg. This is a harmless practice enough; at the same time, we must say it is absolutely useless, for it is not possible for a navel-string of moderate length to be entirely drawn up into the womb; and even were such an accident to occur it would result in no harm whatever. Were this the only interference of which ignorant attendants are guilty it would be indeed well; but, unfortunately, attempts are frequently made to remove the after-birth by dragging on the navel-cord. Such attempts are exceedingly mischievous, and may lead to the gravest injury. Every now and then the cord gives way, and the after-birth is left in the womb. When this has happened, a doctor is sent for, and the removal of the organ is by no means to be easily accomplished. In other cases the cord does not yield, but the uterus is turned inside out by the dragging upon it. This inversion of the uterus is a most serious accident, and imperils life ; indeed, it has proved in some cases immediately fatal. But pulling at the cord leads to

other less serious but very troublesome consequences. It irritates the womb, excites it to irregular contractions which do not expel the after-birth, and renders it difficult for it to be removed artificially.

When waiting for the expulsion of the after-birth, it should be remembered that the navel-string should not be pulled upon; that the hand should be kept on the abdomen just above the pubes, in contact with the womb; that whenever the round tumour, like a cricketball, loses its hardness and firmness, and becomes soft and flabby, there is danger of bleeding; and that, in such circumstances, gentle rubbing and pressure, or kneading, should be practised over the part until the womb becomes hard again.

No medicine should be given during labour, unless ordered by a doctor, nor until after the expulsion of the after-birth: After birth is completed—that is, when both the child and after-birth are born—a draught, containing a tea-spoonful of the liquid extract of ergot of rye in a little brandy and water, may be given if there be any signs of flooding. In no case should ergot be administered before the birth of the child.

The management of the lying-in room is of no little importance. When the event is expected, everything should be in readiness: the doctor should be engaged and known, and the nurse should be in the house $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$

day or two before, if possible. The baby's clothes, napkins, binder, mackintosh, draw-sheets, and all the little things that will be necessary to make both the mother and child comfortable, should be procured ready before the expected time. It is well to have all this done some time before the calculated time of labour, because now and then the baby arrives a fortnight or three weeks before it is expected. The lying-in room should be quiet; there should be no more than one friend, and that one a mother, if possible. The husband is better out of the room. In the room these three should be together with the patient: the doctor, the nurse, and one friend. The choice of a nurse is as important as the choice of a doctor. It is sometimes well to engage a nurse at the recommendation of the doctor in attendance; she should be intelligent, sober, wakeful, and should thoroughly understand her business; she should not be meddlesome. Of all nuisances in a lying-in room, perhaps an interfering nurse is the worst of all-both to the patient, her friend, and the doctor. She should observe the directions of the doctor accurately; observe the patient carefully, and report accordingly to the medical man in charge.

After confinement the patient is worn, tired, and exhausted. "A temporary calm follows the energetic action which issued in the delivery of the mother.

After the excessive action, in which nerve and muscle seemed strained to the utmost pitch, there comes a sudden and profound repose; there is perfect freedom from pain; every fibre is relaxed; only the uterus now contracts of all the muscles which were so lately struggling. Like some ship which turns from a tempestuous sea into a safe and quiet harbour, the young mother passes from the storm of childbirth into the tranquil haven of maternity. In the pathetic words of Scripture—'A woman, when she is in travail, hath sorrow, because her hour is come; but as soon as she is delivered of the child, she remembereth no more the anguish, for joy that a man is born into the world.'"

Absolute rest is now necessary. For the first few days the new mother should see few or no friends. The room should be darkened and kept perfectly quiet, so as to favour the induction of sleep.

During the month that follows labour great and important changes take place in the lying-in patient, and everything should be done in order to favour the regular and normal performance of these changes; for upon this the future health of the woman may in a great degree depend. Moreover, slight causes may interfere with them, and may give rise to the beginnings of disease which may easily be prevented, but which is with the greatest difficulty cured when once it has lodged itself in the womb.

The chief changes which occur during this period are the involution, or the reduction of the womb from the enlarged condition in which it is immediately after labour to the normal size of the organ in its unimpregnated state; and the secretion of milk in the breasts.

In order that these processes may go on in a proper manner, there are many conditions which should be observed, which we shall mention as we proceed. And, first of all, we will speak of the food of the lying-in woman.

It was once believed, and is still too generally held, that the lying-in woman should be kept low for the first few days after labour. It was thought that she was in a condition peculiarly liable to inflammation, and that good nourishing food was likely to excite that formidable disease. This, however, cannot be maintained; insufficient food is far more likely to retard recovery, and to interfere with the normal processes going on in the body. Instead of limiting the diet to tea, arrowroot, and water-gruel, a nutritious but easily digestible and unstimulating diet should be taken : as beef tea, chicken soup, &c.; not discarding entirely, however, the old *régime*. Except in special cases, stimulants—wine, spirits, and beer—are unnecessary.

The binder should, for the first three days, be care-

fully adjusted. It is liable to slip up under the armpits or round the lower part of the chest, where it is of no use; when this happens, it should be taken off and replaced in the manner already described.

After labour the bowels are generally confined : this is especially the case when they had acted freely just before or during labour. In such cases it is not necessary to be anxious about them for the first two days ; on the third day, however, if they still remain torpid, it is advisable to give a dose of castor oil or other mild laxative. When they have been freely acted upon, the patient may return to her ordinary diet. About this time the milk begins to form in the breasts, and the mother has to take food for herself and also for her infant. There is, consequently, an increasing demand for nourishment, and the food should be plain and good, but abundant : animal food twice a day, with vegetables and bread, and the usual amount of beer or wine.

For some days after childbirth there is a discharge of blood from the womb. At first this contains coagula or clots of blood. These disappear after the first day or two, but the sanguineous discharge lasts for seven or eight days. It is at first almost pure blood, but after the first three or four days it begins to lose its colour, becomes paler and paler until about the eighth or tenth day, when it assumes a greenish colour (then it is called the green waters), and disappears from the

twelfth to the fifteenth. This discharge is passed in greater quantities during micturition, or at stool, or during after-pains. It is necessary that the discharge should be free, but not profuse. A discharge of blood sometimes continues during the whole month; then something wrong should be suspected, and should be at once attended to. While the discharge continues, napkins should be worn and changed frequently; and at each change the parts should be carefully sponged with warm water containing one teaspoonful of tincture of iodine to the pint, or a $2\frac{1}{2}$ per cent. solution of carbolic acid, or a 1 in 3000 solution of corrosive sublimate. This is imperatively demanded, for the secretions are liable to undergo rapid decomposition. Should the discharge become offensive in the passages, it may be necessary to wash them out twice or thrice a day, by means of injections of warm water containing tincture of iodine in the proportion mentioned.

After-pains.—After the womb has expelled its contents, it remains in a more or less contracted condition. This contraction, however, varies in degree at different times. Sometimes the organ contracts more vigorously and then relaxes again. These contractions are accompanied by pain—called after-pains. Their occurrence is a natural phenomenon, and up to a certain point they have abeneficial influence, and favour the changes which take place in the womb. They are absent, or more

generally slight, in first cases, and increase in severity with each successive labour, so that in a woman who has had many children they may cause much suffering. They begin soon after labour, and continue in some cases for three or four days, and may require special treatment. A warm poultice or a hot flannel over the lower part of the abdomen will frequently give relief.

They are aggravated by putting the child to the breast, by taking food, by the action of the bowels or of the bladder, or by distension of the last-named organ.

Rest is of the greatest importance in the early part of the lying-in month. The patient should remain in bed for ten or twelve days, and in some cases even longer. Then she may sit up, and rest on the couch or on the outside of the bed, but it is advisable for her not to leave her room until the third week; and she should rest for a great part of each day until the end of the month. This should be the rule; there are exceptions when still longer rest would be beneficial. Too early getting up is productive of numerous troubles; it may give rise to a profuse bleeding, or keep up a sanguineous discharge for weeks, or even months; in many cases it is the cause of sub-involution of the uterus, with all its troublesome consequences-to falling of the womb, to relaxation of the soft parts around the uterus and of the floor of the pelvis, and to other forms of displacement.

Secretion of Milk .- We have already stated that changes in the breasts form part of the signs of pregnancy. These changes become more marked as pregnancy advances, and attain their maximum a few days after the child is born, when the milk has become freely secreted. During the last month of pregnancy milk is found in the breasts in small quantity, and can even be pressed out from the nipple, but the proper secretion of milk takes place in most women about the third day after labour. At this time the breasts become rapidly harder, fuller, and painful: there appears to be a rush of fluid into them; the patient feels ill, feverish, has a headache and a quick pulse. In some cases there is a slight shiver, or rigor, hot skin, a free perspiration, and there is free secretion of milk in the breasts. This is called "milk fever."

It is a question of some importance when the child should be put to the breast. Should it be put early, during the first two or three days, before the milk is fully secreted ? or is it better to wait until the breasts are acting freely? There are several advantages in applying the child early. Irritation of these organs causes the womb to contract, causing it to expel clots that may be lodged in its cavity, and favours involution. It undoubtedly also favours the flow of milk into the breasts, so that in cases where milk is scanty this is one method of increasing it. It also draws out

the nipple when this is flat or small; "and what is now likely to occur, should this have been omitted, is a projection of the areola which participates in the tumefaction of the rest of the gland, so that the nipple falls in, as it were, on a level with the skin, when it becomes a matter of some difficulty for the child to seize it."

After a first labour, when the milk is secreted, the child may find some difficulty in drawing it out along its fine channels; and the pain arising from it to the mother may be severe. In such a case it is advisable for the nurse, or some fit person, to draw the breasts herself or by means of a breast-pump. Once the milk flows freely out of the nipple, this pain is relieved. Besides, as the child requires but little at first, the breasts are frequently but imperfectly emptied by its efforts, then gentle rubbing of the harder parts of the gland with olive oil will cause the milk to flow out, or the breast-pump may be used for the same purpose. During this period the heat in the breasts is great, and in parts they become hard and cord-like; in such cases it may be necessary to keep evaporating lotions constantly applied to them. The best is an ounce of spirits of wine to eight ounces of water. When the organs become troublesome, on account of their size and weight, they should be suspended by means of silk handkerchiefs tied over the neck.

Under these circumstances, the child must not be too frequently applied to the breasts. It is better to relieve the distended organs by completely emptying them by means of the pump, for the irritation caused by the imperfect efforts of the infant increases the troubles.

The milk first formed in the breasts is thicker than that formed when the flow is well established; it has irritating properties, and serves as a purgative to the child, acting freely on its bowels. It loses this character in the course of two or three days, and acquires the properties of the mother's natural milk.

The quantity of milk formed in the breasts of different women varies greatly. In some it is so abundant as to flow out spontaneously from time to time, while in others the breasts are absolutely dry. In the first case, the woman is said to be a good nurse; in the latter, a bad, or rather, no nurse. Besides the difference in the quantity of milk secreted, there is also considerable variation in quality met with; and, in reality, the value of any one as a nurse depends, not on the quantity of milk secreted in the breasts only, but also upon its quality.

Excessive Formation of Milk.—This gives rise, occasionally, to serious troubles. The milk may be of good quality or of a watery character. When the milk is good, the child does not suffer—it thrives; but the

inconvenience to the mother is not inconsiderable. The secretion is so rapid that soon after the breasts have been emptied they fill again, and suddenly pour out their secretion, keeping the mother's breasts in a perpetual state of moisture.

The breasts are so irritable that the least touch gives rise to an overflow of milk; and when the child is applied to them they pour their contents out more rapidly than the child can swallow, filling its mouth, and giving rise to a choking feeling. When this is allowed to go on for a long time, the drain affects the mother's health, and may ultimately undermine her constitution.

In such a case the chief object should be the regulation of the diet. The food should be good and plentiful; but it should be chiefly solid. The amount of fluid taken should be very limited.

Deficient Secretion of Milk.—The secretion in the breast may be scanty or absent. The quantity varies between the extreme abundance described in the previous paragraph and none. Absence or deficiency of milk may occur in women who are perfectly healthy. It is not often seen under those circumstances, but usually in women who suffer from acute disease. It is one of the first symptoms of those diseases to which the lying-in patient is subject. The breasts in these cases become distended and full about the third

day, and milk is abundantly secreted; and about the fourth or fifth day, when the disease sets in, it becomes greatly diminished or entirely suppressed. The discharge from the womb is also arrested. These two symptoms appearing together are of very serious import. On the other hand, when there is deficiency or absence of milk in good health, the cause rests in the particular constitution of the patient, and secretion fails from the first: and in these cases the only evil that follows is the inability of the mother to nurse her child.

Deformed Nipples .- The nipples are sometimes small or flat, so that the child cannot suck. This may be due to original conformation or to the pressure This is frequently a source of of badly-made stays. great trouble and annoyance. The mother has plenty of milk and is anxious to nurse her child, but experiences the greatest difficulty in doing so, owing to the imperfect shape and size of the nipple. The child cannot take it into its mouth and retain it there with ease, and, consequently, bites and bruises it. To remedy this, efforts should be made to draw out the These should be tried after labour and before nipple. the milk has come into the breasts, and continued The child may be applied; and should afterwards. this prove ineffectual, the services of a sister or nurse should be obtained. If this cannot be obtained, then

an attempt should be made to draw it by a pump. The following simple method answers well in some cases:—Take a soda-water bottle, or a bottle of similar shape and size; fill it with hot water; pour the water out, and apply the neck of the bottle over the nipple; as the bottle cools, the partial exhaustion formed by the condensation of steam will cause the nipple to protrude and be gradually drawn up into the neck of the bottle. When this is effected, the bottle should be retained in that position for a few minutes, and then tilted a little on one side, while the breast is pressed on the opposite side so as to allow air to enter the bottle, and the nipple be withdrawn without injury.

India-rubber teats, or artificial nipples, are of great service in these cases; and they will enable any mother who has plenty of milk, and is anxious to nurse her infant, to do so, whatever be the shape of the nipple. They can be obtained at the druggist's. They should be made of the natural black indiarubber, for it is practically devoid of taste; while the white india-rubber, or caoutchouc, has a sickly and unpleasant taste and smell.

Sore Nipples are very common, and very troublesome and painful. It is often not easy to cure them, on account of the frequent application of the child to them in nursing. When cracks or fissures,

S

and excoriations are present, every application of the infant aggravates the suffering.

They are easier of prevention than of cure. During the later months of pregnancy they should be frequently bathed with salt and water, or a weak spirit lotion, or an infusion of tea. After labour, and during the period of nursing, the same treatment should be continued. If this proves ineffectual, a lotion of goulard water, or, better still, glycerine tannin, should be applied after each application of the child. Extreme cleanliness is necessary under these circumstances, for the sake of both mother and child. The nipple should be bathed with warm water after each act of suckling; then carefully dried, and the application applied afterwards. This should be allowed to remain until the next act of suckling, when the nipple should again be bathed with warm water, so as to remove all trace of the lotion before the child is put to the breast again. In some cases the nipple is so painful, and the irritation caused by suckling so great, that it becomes necessary to remove the child permanently and bring it up by hand, or obtain the services of a wet nurse.

Milk Abscess.—This may occur in any case in which there is a fair quantity of milk secreted. It is said to occur more frequently in the weakly and delicate than in the strong and robust. The breast at first is full; a part of it remains hard and tender after the

gland has been emptied. There is sharp, darting pain in it. There may be a sharp shiver, or rigor, but this may be absent. The pain in the breast increases, and it becomes very tender to the touch. The hardness and fulness continue, and the part becomes red. Inflammation proceeding, the swelling increases; there is a distinct tumour; the pain and tenderness are severe; the skin is hot, red, glazed, or shining. Instead of the sharp darting pain, there is a painful throbbing in the breast. The glands in the armpit become swollen and the arm stiff at the shoulder. There is pain when the arm is moved. Shivering may occur again. When this happens, and the pain has assumed a throbbing character, with the surface glazed, matter has formed-the inflammation has run on to abscess. As soon as it is certain that matter is present, it should be at once let out. This will save an immense amount of suffering, and in many cases effect a rapid recovery. On the other hand, if it is allowed to burst of itself, the suffering of the patient will continue for a long time, and until the discharge escapes is of a very severe character. The matter is often formed deeply in or under the gland, and in these cases it takes a long time to reach the surface and escape, and during the whole of this time the throbbing pain is severe.

Moreover, when it has escaped after this long

delay, the process of recovery is much less rapid than when it is let out early. Sometimes several abscesses form in succession, and the breast becomes a mass of almost stony hardness. When abscess has occurred once, it is liable to occur again, though by judicious treatment it may in many cases be warded off.

Treatment.—The breasts should be periodically emptied. Frequently some parts of the glands remain hard and full, while the rest is soft and flaccid. When this happens, gentle friction with warm olive oil should be made over the full part. When inflammation has set in, cold lotions should be tried; when these fail, hot fomentations and poultices should be applied until matter is formed, which should be immediately allowed to escape. Poulticing for a few days, and the application of pressure, with liberal diet, will, in most cases, effect a rapid cure.

CHAPTER XVI.

MANAGEMENT OF THE NEW-BORN INFANT.

Clothing—Food—Wet-nurse—Feeding-bottles—Sleep, Cleanliness, and Bathing—Light, Air, and Exercise—Diseases of Infancy.

WE consigned the new-born child to a warm flannel to be placed in a comfortable place, either on the bed or near the fire, according to the time of year, temperature of the room, &c. We must now return to it in order to prepare it for its future, whatever that may be. The first duty to it is a thorough washing with soap and water. The child is usually covered by a whitish curdy or soapy material, all of which has to be removed in the first bath. Having washed and carefully dried it with a soft towel, the folds formed by the skin at the flexures of the joints, around the neck, under the armpits, inside the thighs and groins, should be powdered with a mixture of starch and oxide of zinc, in order to prevent irritation of the skin from rubbing of the parts against each other.

The next object that deserves attention is the navel-string. About two inches of this is left attached to the body of the child, and in the course of a few days, this, which undergoes a process of putrefaction, drops off at the navel. It is usually wrapped in a piece of
THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

cotton or linen which has been charred before the fire. A square piece of linen, about six or eight inches long, and four to six wide, is taken, and generally charred; then a hole is burnt through its centre; the navel-cord is put through this hole and wrapped in the folded linen. This charred linen serves to preserve the decomposing part sweet and free from offensive odour, the charred surface being antiseptic in its action. The cord withers and falls off about the fourth or fifth day.

Clothing.-A certain temperature of the body 18 necessary to existence. Too great an elevation, as well as too great a depression of temperature, are incompatible with life. For the purpose of retaining heat generated in the body and withstanding the effects of cold, clothes are worn. The child before birth was maintained at an uniform temperature equal to that of the mother, through its peculiar connection with her; and when it is born and becomes exposed to external influences it is necessary to protect it from such as are productive of evil results. One of these is cold, and it is natural to expect that its effects on a newborn child might prove serious. This is indeed the case, and it becomes necessary not only to clothe the infant warmly, but often to expose it to artificial heat, either in bed with the mother or near the fire. The baby clothes are generally of flannel, and

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS. 279

are made of such length that they reach beyond the feet and can be folded up over them. In this manner all draughts are prevented from affecting the lower limbs and body of the infant.

Food.-The milk, which is the new-born child's natural food, is not formed in the breast usually until the third day. During this time the infant requires but little nourishment: a little sugar and water, or a little milk with a good deal of water and a little sugar, will be quite sufficient. The child should be put to the breast early for reasons already given, and the infant's first food comes to be the milk formed in the breast. This is called colostrum, and possesses irritating properties, and acts as a laxative on the child's bowels. The bowels generally act spontaneously during the first and second day, and the motions passed have a peculiar dark green colour. The action of the first milk carries all this substance away, and the matter passed assumes the natural yellow colour. Should the bowels remain without acting until the milk has formed in the breast, there is no need for anxiety or alarm; nor should laxatives, in the form of castor oil or brown sugar, be given. They may do harm by irritating the stomach and bowels, and set up an obstinate diarrheea. It is better to wait until the laxative prepared by nature can be administered. If the mother be strong and has sufficient milk, the child

should for the first seven months be fed with nothing else.

Circumstances may arise which render it impossible for the mother to nurse her infant. When this happens, one of two courses may be followed-a wet nurse may be obtained, or the child may be "brought up by hand." Of these there can be no question which is the better. The food best suited for the infant is breast milk, and when possible it should be obtained No wet nurse should be employed unless she has been seen and recommended by a doctor. The selection of one is a question of very great importance, for upon it will depend the health of the child. She should be between the ages of nineteen and twenty-eight; healthy, and from the country if possible; free from skin rashes or any disease which could be transmitted to the child. The breast should be well developed, secrete sufficient milk, and the nipple ought to be well formed and free from fissures or excoriations. Her child should be as nearly as possible of the age of the child which she is to nurse. If her child is strong, healthy, and well nourished, or if she has nursed previously in a satisfactory manner, it speaks greatly in her favour. Her diet should be carefully regulated. The belief that a woman cannot nurse unless she takes a certain quantity of stout or ale daily is much too prevalent, and mothers anxious for the welfare of their children not

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS.

uncommonly over-stimulate their nurses, and thus bring about evils they wish to avoid. As a rule, two glasses of ale or stout a day, are ample, and unless the nurse has been accustomed to take malt liquor she should be allowed none. The diet should be plain and easily digestible: meat, bread, and vegetables, in the quantities she has been used to. Over-feeding and over-stimulation is sure to upset the stomach and alter the character of the milk, so that it irritates the infantile stomach, sets up diarrhœa and vomiting, which are frequently difficult of control. It may even upset the secretion of milk, and in some cases suppress it altogether.

The second method—rearing the child by hand should be avoided, if possible; but circumstances may arise in which it becomes inevitable. In these circumstances the object should be to obtain a substitute for mothers' milk, which, at the same time, resembles it as nearly as possible in character. The milk of different animals varies much in composition, some containing an excess of water, others an excess of fat, or of casein or cheese-making material. The milk of the ass or of the goat resemble most that of the human mother, and form, perhaps, the best substitute for it, and when possible one of them should be obtained. This is, however, frequently not possible, and then it is necessary to fall back on cows' milk. Cows' milk is

much richer in solid matters, but poorer in sugar and fatty matter than mothers' milk. It is, indeed, too rich for the young infant, and when given in its natural state is sure to upset the stomach, give rise to indigestion, acidity, vomiting, and diarrhea. With a view to render cows' milk more like that of the mother, it is necessary to add water to dilute it, sugar to sweeten, and cream to supply the fatty material. One table-spoonful of good milk, two of water, one tea-spoonful of cream, and a little white sugar, form the best mixture. It should, however, be stated that when the milk is of a poor quality the quantity of water added should be less. No solid food should be given for the first six or seven months, and milk should in no case be thickened by means of corn-flour or meal of any kind, arrowroot, &c. Such substances the infant's stomach is unable to digest, and evil con sequences will surely follow their administration.

Mothers and nurses are often anxious to obtain milk from one cow. This, in the majority of instances, in large towns, is impossible, and, moreover, it is not desirable. It is better to obtain milk from cows feeding in the country than from those kept in stalls in town. The milk of any one company in large towns is usually obtained from several farms situated in the same district. The milk of several cows is mixed together, and there is no evidence that this mixture proves in

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS.

any way noxious to the infant. But we would repeat that the milk should be obtained from cows fed in the country. When a child grows and thrives, and becomes strong and fat, it is often thought that it requires not only more food, but requires solid food, or the addition of flour or arrowroot, or one of the many "infants' foods " invented. This is the greatest error. The strongest proof that the child takes sufficient food is the fact that it thrives-the very fact on which the erroneous belief is based. In such a case, we would strongly urge, "let well alone." As to the inventions called "infants' food," many of them exceedingly injurious from a chemical point of view, and advocated by the pettiest theories-we can only say, avoid them. They should never be administered, except when advised by a medical man. From the first, a child should be taught to feed at regular intervals. A healthy infant should sleep when it is not being fed or bathed. At first, it should be fed every two hours during the day. It should be taught to sleep the greater part of the night. If it is fed the last thing at night, about eleven o'clock, it requires nothing afterwards until four or five in the morning. At that time it may have a little milk and water, and brought to the mother about seven or eight o'clock.

The same rule should be observed when it is brought up by hand.

THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

Feeding Bottles.—These are of the greatest service when properly used. They are made so as to allow the child to suck its food gradually, and thus to prevent its mouth being too rapidly filled, and to imitate as far as possible the natural method of feeding. They are made of various shapes. Some have long india-rubber tubes attached to them, through which the food is sucked. These are the worst form, for it is almost impossible to keep them sweet and clean. The best form is that represented in the accompanying illus-



FEEDING BOTTLE.

tration. It can be obtained of any druggist. It has a teat of india-rubber; it ought to be made of natural black india-rubber, for the caoutchouc has an offensive This form is easily cleansed and pretaste and smell. For this purpose it should be kept, served sweet. when not in use, in cold water. In summer, when milk is more liable to turn sour, a very small pinch of carbonate of soda may be added to the water; but it should be thoroughly washed off before use. This bottle has the further advantage, that the child cannot go to sleep with the teat in its mouth. Both mothers and nurses are too fond of giving the child

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS.

the bottle to send it to sleep: it is a practice fraught with the greatest evil. The milk is retained in the child's mouth, turns sour, and sets up dyspepsia, diarrhœa, and vomiting. Whenever the child has taken food its mouth should be wiped with a soft piece of linen moistened with water, so as to cleanse the gums and sides of the cheeks from the adhering milk.

We have stated that the infant should be fed at regular intevals. Nothing should be allowed to interfere with this rule. The cry of a child is generally regarded as a sign that it requires nourishment, or at least that then it should be offered some, but it is frequently not the case. Many things cause the child to cry besides the want of food, as an uneasy position, cold, noise, and, not least, over-feeding. More children cry from the pain and evil produced by overfeeding than from under-feeding, and when this is borne in mind it will be seen that the breast or the bottle is not the proper remedy for the trouble.

Sleep.—We have said that a child should sleep during the intervals between feeding-times. As a rule, the more a child sleeps the better he thrives. Infants should not sleep with the mother or nurse, but in a cot. When it is absolutely necessary that an infant should sleep with its mother, it should never be allowed to do so with the nipple in its mouth: it is quite as bad as to have the teat of a bottle in it.

When a child is sleepless or restless, no sleepingdraughts or soothing-syrups should on any account be given. Indeed, no medicine of any kind, except a teaspoonful of castor oil, perhaps, should be given to an infant without the advice of a doctor. Patent medicines going by the name of soothing-syrup, or any other containing opium, are most dangerous in their effects, owing to the remarkably powerful influence exercised on the infant's constitution by soothingsyrups. Numerous deaths have resulted from their administration, besides incalculable injury to the health of many who have survived their poisonous effects.

If the rules just given with regard to feeding and sleep, and those about to be given about cleanliness; be accurately observed, children born healthy will thrive, and give but little trouble; on the other hand, if neglected, diseases are sure to follow—diseases which in many cases ultimately prove fatal.

Cleanliness.—Bathing is useful not only for cleanliness, but inducing sleep, allaying irritation, &c. A child should be bathed night and morning in warm water.

Dr. Combe says :--

"On account of the great susceptibility of cold which exists in infancy, and the difficulty with which the system resists the influence of any sudden change, the temperature of the water ought, at first, to be

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS.

nearly the same as that of the body, namely, about 96° or 98° Fahrenheit, and always to be regulated by a thermometer as the only test. If the nurse judge by the hand alone, she will often commit an error of several degrees, according to the varying state of her own health and sensations. The younger the infant, the more rigidly should this standard be adhered to; as it is not till after growth and strength have made some progress that it becomes safe to reduce the standard by a few degrees.

"In addition to the regular morning ablution, the tepid bath should be repeated every evening for a few minutes. Properly managed, and not too warm, it has the double advantage of soothing the nervous system, which is always irritable in infancy, and of sustaining an agreeable circulation of the blood towards the surface, and thus warding off internal disease. It ought not, however, to be too long continued, or used in a cold room, or immediately after nursing or feeding. With these precautions, the most unequivocal advantages often result from its use, especially in scrofulous and delicate children. For restless and irritable children, also, the bath is often of immense advantage, from the quiet and refreshing sleep which it rarely fails to induce. As a sedative, too, it is of great value in subduing nervous excitement. But when used too warm, or continued too long, the bath is apt to excite

THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

undue perspiration, and to increase the liability to cold.

"We occasionally, though rarely, meet with children who, from mismanagement or some other cause, are frightened by immersion in warm water, and with whom the bath decidedly disagrees. In such instances, of course, it should be given up, and simple washing and sponging with tepid water be substituted. But in all circumstances, the greatest care must be taken never to allow an infant to be exposed to the air with a skin even partially wet; for imprudent exposure may be productive of some serious inflammatory affection. Many of the complaints made against the use of the bath arise entirely from improper management and the neglect of proper precautions.

"Some physicians and parents prefer the cold to the tepid bath, even from birth; but reason and experience concur in condemning it, and it is only when the infant is strongly constituted that it escapes from the use of the cold bath unhurt. After the lapse of a few months, however, the temperature of the water used for the morning ablution should be gradually reduced, provided the child continue healthy and the season of the year be warm. But to make any sudden change in winter, or when considerable delicacy exists, would be attended with risk. I need scarcely add that when sufficient reaction and warmth do not

speedily ensue after the use of cold bathing, it ought to be immediately given up, and the tepid bath substituted in its stead."

Cleanliness should be, moreover, observed in the frequent change of napkins. A child should not be allowed to lie any time in its own urine or motion. As soon as these are expelled they should be removed, the child thoroughly cleaned and dried, and then greased with olive oil or lard. This is a very good plan: better than powder; for it not only prevents excoriation, but also, to a certain degree, the direct contact of the excreta with the skin. It protects the skin from their irritating effects. When this has been done, a new and clean napkin should be applied. The napkins which have been wet with urine are sometimes merely dried before the fire, and used again without being washed. This is a practice to be utterly condemned. The napkin thus prepared is not clean; it is loaded with substances which irritate the skin, and give rise to sore bottom. Napkins once used should be thoroughly washed and dried before they are again applied to the child's body.

Light, Air, and Exercise.—During the first months of infancy, all the exercise which the child can take is of a passive character. It should be carried about in the open air. Children are frequently tossed or even thrown into the air, and caught again as they descend.

T

This is a form of exercise which gives the child great pleasure, as is evidenced by the signs of joy manifested by it; at the same time, it is not quite free from danger, for the child may slip out of the hands, or be missed in its descent. In such an event it would be liable to severe injury.

Light and air are necessary to the health of children as well as to that of animals and plants; and it should be a rule to take infants out once or twice daily when the weather is fine, even from a very early age. After the first month, both summer and winter this should be done. At first the child cannot bear the light, and keeps his eyes always closed. His head and face should therefore be well protected by a covering. When he begins to look about him, a veil should be substituted for the head and face cover.

Diseases of Infancy.—The diseases which affect children during the first month are few. They chiefly regard the digestive organs, the stomach, and intestines. Diarrhœa is one of the commonest. It is due almost invariably to excess of or improper food. Children brought up on mothers' milk suffer little or not at all from this affection, while those brought up by hand invariably suffer at some period or other. The food given them is stronger than the stomach can digest. It is not assimilated; it remains in the intestinal canal as a residue, and sets up irritation of the

MANAGEMENT OF INFANTS.

bowels. In these cases the child is always crying, draws up its legs as if in pain, suffers from colic, flatulence, passes wind, vomits its food—if it takes milk it returns curdled; it refuses food, wastes, may become convulsed, and die. The motions may be passed ten, twelve, or twenty times in the twenty-four hours; they are of a greenish colour, and smell very offensively. The child's bottom becomes red, sore, and inflamed. Thrush may set in and the diarrhœa become still worse.

The treatment of such diarrhea should be the removal of the irritating matter from the bowels, and the administration of proper food. The first object is gained by a small dose (twenty or thirty drops) of castor oil. This the mother may venture to give to her infant; but on no account should any other drug be given, except by the doctor's order. Having cleared the bowels, feed the child in the manner already described, and it will in all probability recover.

Constipation occasionally occurs in children. In such cases it is a mistake to administer laxatives. The best treatment consists in the introduction of a piece of soap into the bowels, to be left there until expelled. This is usually sufficient to excite the action of the torpid organ.

Jaundice. —Young children are subject, sometimes, to jaundice soon after birth. The skin and whites

THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

292

of the eyes become yellow; the stools may be pale or retain their natural colour. This condition generally passes off in a few days without treatment. If the bowels be confined, an occasional tea-spoonful of castor oil will help the cure.

Thrush.—Sometimes the mouths of children the tongue, lips, and cheeks—become covered with numerous small white spots: this is thrush. It is due to imperfect nutrition, dependent on improper food.

Treatment.—Let the food be regulated, and the mouth be washed out with a weak solution of borax —about twenty grains of borax to the ounce of water.

Sore Bottom.—A child should rarely or never suffer from this. If care be taken in changing the napkins as soon as they have become soiled with urine or motions, to dry the parts properly at each change, to observe absolute cleanliness, and to anoint the part with olive oil, zinc ointment, or to apply fuller's earth, a sore bottom becomes almost impossible. In certain cases, however, when the child has become reduced and weakened by bad feeding, prolonged diarrhœa, vomiting, and thrush, the bottom may become sore in spite of all precautions. In such cases the treatment must be directed to the more serious mischief, and the aid of the doctor called in.

CHAPTER XVII.

MONTHLY NURSING.

MUCH has been already said—under the heads Management of Labour, Lying-in, the milk and the infant—of what pertains to the duties of the monthly nurse. There are, however, still a few points which come especially under this head.

Nurses are now trained for special branches as well as for general nursing. The time is gone when a woman who is unfit for any other occupation can turn nurse; and though an occasional "Sairah" may still be seen, yet the days of that genus are passed. Good monthly nurses are now trained in our lying-in hospitals, and there is, as a rule, no difficulty in obtaining one from these charities or from one of the nursing institutions.

A nurse should not be so young as to be giddy, nor so old as to be useless. She should be cleanly, sober, truthful, and, above all, have a well-governed tongue. The want of the latter quality totally disqualifies a woman for nursing, whatever other qualifications she may possess.

Her dress should be plainly made, and of a material

294 THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

that can be washed. She should have a light step and a kindly disposition; a light sleeper, for she should wake at the faintest cry of the infant as well as at the call of the mother.

The monthly nurse, if possible, should be a person known to the new mother or her friends.

It is desirable that the nurse should be in the house two or three days before labour sets in; in these she has time to arrange the bed and the lyingin room, and get everything ready for the expected event.

The following articles should be in the lying-in room ready for use :---

Baby's clothes.	Thread or Worsted for tying	
Basins and water, hot and cold.	the navel-string. A Flannel to receive the	
Cold cream or lard, and	child.	
olive oil.	Needles and thread.	
Napkins. Towels.	Scissors.	
Safety-pins.	Waterproof sheeting.	
Binder.	Powder-box.	
Sponges.	A Higginson enema syringe.	

When labour is about to begin, if the bowels have not already been freely moved, the nurse should give a clyster of soap and water. This will save future trouble and inconvenience.

Before, or as soon as labour sets in, the bed ought to be made ready. This is done in the following

MONTHLY NURSING.

manner:—Uncover the mattress, and over the lower half of it spread a sheet of mackintosh, and upon this again a sheet folded double; upon this the ordinary clean sheet upon which the patient is to lie after the labour is ended. Upon this sheet another piece of mackintosh should be spread, then a folded blanket, and lastly, a folded sheet. These should cover the lower half of the bed so as to reach up to the patient's waist.

When the labour is over, the upper piece of mackintosh, blanket, and sheet, are to be withdrawn, and a dry clean bed is left for the new mother to lie upon.

A patient should walk about during the process of labour, for the force of gravity favours the progress of the child. When she goes to bed, she should be dressed in such manner as to give rise to as little trouble as possible in the readjustment which is necessary when the process is ended. This is done as follows :—A clean chemise and night-dress are put on just before going to bed; they should be rolled up under the armpits; and the soiled dresses should be taken off and fastened round the waist, so as to form a covering for the body, and be removed without any serious trouble when the labour is over.

Thread or worsted for tying the cord should consist of several lengths of coarse white thread or worsted,

or a piece of narrow tape answers the purpose equally well.

The binder should be made of stout calico, folded, about two yards in length, and about a foot or fourteen inches in width.

Having seen that all the articles required are ready at hand, and labour having set in, new duties devolve upon the nurse. She should see that the bowels and bladder are thoroughly emptied at the commencement of labour, and the latter organ from time to time afterwards. Women complain of cramp in the limbs at some stage of the process; in such cases the nurse should gently rub the part in order to afford relief.

Small quantities of food may be given to, but not forced upon, the patient during labour; it should be fluid: beef tea, milk, and tea. Cold water may be given in small quantities, but big draughts of it should not be allowed. Solid food is not necessary; and stimulants should not be given at all, unless expressly ordered by the medical attendant.

Vomiting is of frequent occurrence during labour. It has no serious import; on the contrary, it is often considered to be a favourable sign, for it is said that u sick labour is a safe one.

When the pains assume a forcing character and go to the back, the waters having come away, the medical attendant should be hastily summoned. As

MONTHLY NURSING.

the pains in the back increase in severity, gentle pressure to support that part gives relief, and the lying-in patient generally expects it and calls for it. As the child is about coming into the world, the nurse is often requested to support the patient's knees, so as to separate the limbs, and relieve the patient of the effort required in maintaining it in an elevated position.

Should any unfavourable symptoms appear during the course of labour or of the lying in month, the nurse should at once send for the doctor and communicate the fact to him. Convulsions occasionally occur, and they are of grave import. At other times the patient may faint. In this case it is probably due to loss of blood, and the nurse should immediately examine to see if such is the case. She should press on the uterus, in the manner described under Labour, until the doctor comes. Nurses, under circumstances of this kind, are fond of foretelling the course that events will take; it is a very foolish practice, for it is not possible for them to form an accurate opinion, and consequently they are as often wrong as right; the only results of such imprudence is to give trouble to the family and attendant.

A nurse should keep a careful watch over her patient during the lying-in month. She should see the breasts, and find out if the secretion of milk is abundant and sufficient for the child; she should

THE DISEASES OF WOMEN.

carefully examine the discharges, observe the quantity and quality, and report to the medical attendant upon them. If they be deficient or offensive in character, if the patient complains of severe or lasting pain in the abdomen, the breasts, or the limbs, should she become feverish or have a shiver, the doctor should at once be made aware of it; for some of the diseases to which women are subject at this period yield rapidly when attacked early, but run a prolonged course when once they have taken firm hold of the patient.

For further treatment of the lying-in period and of the infant, see Management of Labour, &c.



Printed by CASSELL & COMPANY, LIMITED, La Belle Sauvage, London, E.C. 5,391

Illustrated, Fine-Art, and other Volumes.

Abbeys and Churches of England and Wales, The: Descriptive. Historical, Pictorial. Series 1 and 2, 215. each.

Adventure, The World of. Fully Illustrated. Vols. I. and II. 9s. each. American Library of Fiction. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. each.

A Latin-Quarter Courtship, By Henry Harland (Sidney	Karmel the Scout. Junr.	By Sylvanus Cobb,
Luska). "89." By Edgar Henry.		By Henry Harland

Anglomaniacs, The: A Story of New York Life of To-day. By Mrs. BURTON HARRISON. 3s. 6d.

Arabian Nights Entertainments, Cassell's Pictorial. 105. 6d.

Architectural Drawing. By PHENÉ SPIERS. Illustrated. 108.6d.

Art, The Magazine of. Yearly Vol. With 12 Photogravures, Etchings, &c., and several hundred choice Engravings. 16s.

Artistic Anatomy. By Prof. M. DUVAL. Translated by F. E. FENTON 55.

Bashkirtseff, Marie, The Journal of. Library Edition, in Two Vols. 245. Cheap Edition. 7S. 6d.

Birds' Nests, Eggs, and Egg-Collecting. By R. KEARTON. Illus-

trated with 16 Coloured Plates. 5s. Black America. A Study of the Ex-slave and his late Master. By W. LAIRD CLOWES. 6s. Black Arrow, The. A Tale of the Two Roses. By R. L. STEVENSON. 5s.

British Ballads. With 275 Original Illustrations. In Two Vols. 155.

British Battles on Land and Sea. By JAMES GRANT. With about 600 Illustrations. Three Vols., 4to, £1 75.; Library Edition, £1 105.

British Battles, Recent. Illustrated. 4to, 95.; Library Edition, 105. British Battles, Recent. Illustrated. 4to, 95.; Library Edition, 105. British Empire, The. By Sir GEORGE CAMPBELL, M.P. 35. Browning, An Introduction to the Study of. By A. SYMONS. 25. 6d. Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress and The Holy War, Cassell's Illus-trated Edition of. With 2co Original Illustrations. Cloth, 165.

Butterflies and Moths, European. With 61 Coloured Plates. 35s.

Canaries and Cage-Birds, The Illustrated Book of. With 56 Fac-

Canaries and Cage-Birds, The Indistrated Book of. With 50 Fac-simile Coloured Plates, 35s. Half-morocco, £2 5s.
Cannibals and Convicts. By JULIAN THOMAS ("The Vagabond"). 5s.
Captain Trafalgar. By WESTALL and LAURIE. Boards, 2s.
Cassell's Family Magazine. Yearly Vol. Illustrated. 9s.
Cathedrals, Abbeys, and Churches of England and Wales.
Description. Historical Pictorial. Potular Edition. Two Vols. 255.

Descriptive, Historical, Pictorial. Popular Edition. Two Vols. 258. Celebrities of the Century. Cheap Educion. 108. 6d. Choice Dishes at Small Cost. By A. G. PAYNE. 18. Cities of the World. Four Vols. Illustrated. 78. 6d. each. Civil Service, Guide to Employment in the. 38. 6d.

Civil Service .- Guide to Female Employment in Government Offices. 15. Climate and Health Resorts. By Dr. BURNEY YEO. Acto and

Cheaper Edition. 78.6d.

Clinical Manuals for Practitioners and Students of Medicine. A List of Volumes forwarded post free on application to the Publishers.

Clothing, The Influence of, on Health. By F. TREVES, F.R C.S. 2s. Colonist's Medical Handbook, The. By E. A. BARTON, M.R.C.S. 2s.6d. Colour. By Prof. A. H. CHURCH. With Coloured Plates. 3s.6d. Commerce, The Year-Book of. Second Year's Issue. 5s. Commercial Botany of the Nincteenth Century. By J. R. JACKSON,

A.L.S. Cloth gilt, 3s. 6d.

Commodore Junk. By G. MANVILLE FENN. 55. Conning Tower, In a. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER. Cloth, 15. Cookery, A Year's. By PHYLLIS BROWNE. 38.6d.

3 6 4.91

Cookery, Cassell's Dictionary of. Containing about Nine Thousand Recipes, 7s. 6d.; Roxburgh, 10s. 6d.

Cookery, Cassell's Popular. With Four Coloured Plates. Cloth gilt, 25. Cookery, Cassell's Shilling. 384 pages, limp cloth, 15.

Cooking by Gas, The Art of. By MARIE J. SUGG. Illustrated. Cloth, 3s. 6d.

Copyright, The Law of Musical and Dramatic. By Edward CUTLER, THOMAS EUSTACE SMITH, and FREDERIC E. WEATHERLY, Esquires, Barristers-at-Law. 38.6d.

Countries of the World, The. By ROBERT BROWN, M.A., Ph.D., &c. Complete in Six Vols., with about 750 Illustrations. 4to, 7s. 6d. each.

Cromwell, Oliver. By J. ALLANSON PICTON, M.P. 55.

Culmshire Folk. By the Author of " John Orlebar," &c. 38. 6d.

Cyclopædia, Cassell's Concise. With 12,000 subjects, brought down to the latest date. With about 600 Illustrations. Cheap Edition. 75.6d.

Cyclopædia, Cassell's Miniature. Containing 30,000 subjects. 35.6d. Dairy Farming. By Prof. J. P. SHELDON. With 25 Coloured Plates. 215. David Todd. By DAVID MACLURE. 55.

Dead Man's Rock. A Romance. By Q. 5s.

Dickens, Character Sketches from. FIRST, SECOND, and THIRD SERIES. With Six Original Drawings in each by F. BARNARD. 21S. each

Disraeli, Benjamin, Personal Reminiscences of. By HENRY LAKE. 3s. 6d.

Disraeli in Outline : being a Biography of the late Earl of BEACONSFIELD, and an abridgment of all his novels. By F. CARROLL BREWSTER, LL.D. 75.6d.

Dog, Illustrated Book of the. By VERO SHAW, B.A. With 28 Coloured Plates. Cloth bevelled, 35s.; half-morocco, 45s.

Dog, The. By IDSTONE. Illustrated. 28.6d.

Domestic Dictionary, The. Illustrated. Cloth, 7s. 6d.

Doré Gallery, The. With 250 Illustrations by Doré. 4to, 425.

Doré's Dante's Inferno. Illustrated by GUSTAVE DORÉ. 215.

Doré's Milton's Paradise Lost. Illustrated by Doré. 4to, 215.

Earth, Our, and its Story. By Dr. ROBERT BROWN, F.L.S. With Coloured Plates and numerous Wood Engravings. Three Vols. 9s. each.

Edinburgh, Old and New. With 600 Illustrations. Three Vols. 9s. each. Egypt: Descriptive, Historical, and Picturesque. By Prof. G. EBERS.

With 800 Original Engravings. Popular Edition. In Two Vols. 425. Electricity in the Service of Man. With nearly 850 Illustrations.

Cheap Edition. Price 98.

Electricity, Age of. By PARK BENJAMIN, Ph.D. 78.6d.

Electricity, Practical. By Prof. W. E. AVRTON. 75. 6d.

Employment for Boys on Leaving School, Guile to. By W. S. Beard, F.R.G.S. 1s. 6d.

Encyclopædic Dictionary, The. Complete in Fourteen Divisional Vols., 105. 6d. each; or Seven Vols., half-morocco, 215. each; halfrussia, 25s. English Dictionary, Cassell's. Giving definitions of more than

100,000 words and phrases. 75. 6d. England, Cassell's Illustrated History of. With 2,000 Illustrations.

Ten Vols., 4to, 9s. each. Revised Edition. Vols. I., II., III., and IV., 9s. each.

English History, The Dictionary of. Cheap Edicton. 105. 6d. English Literature, Dictionary of. By W. DAVENPORT ADAMS. Cheap Edition, 7s. 6d.; Roxburgh, 10s. 6d.

Selections from Cassell & Company's Publications.

English Literature, Library of. By Prof. HENRY MORLEY.

Vol. I.-SHORTER ENGLISH POEMS. 75. 6d. Vol. II.-Illustrations of English Religion. 75. 6d.

Vol. III.—ENGLISH PLAYS. 75. 6d. Vol. IV.—SHORTER WORKS IN ENGLISH PROSE. 75. 6d.

VOL. V.-SKETCHES OF LONGER WORKS IN ENGLISH VERSE AND PROSE. 7S. 6d.

English Literature, Morley's First Sketch of. Revised Edition, 75.6d.

English Literature, The Story of. By ANNA BUCKLAND. 35.6d.

English Writers. By Prof. HENRY MORLEY. Vols. I. to VI. 5s. each. Æsop's Fables. Illustrated by ERNEST GRISET. Cloth, 35. 6d.

Etiquette of Good Society. 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

Europe, Pocket Guide to, Cassell's. Leather. 6s.

Eye, Ear, and Throat, The Management of the. 3s. 6d.

Family Physician, The. By Eminent Physicians and Surgeons. New and Revised Edition. Cloth, 215.; Roxburgh, 255.

Fenn, G. Manville, Works by. Boards. 2s. each; cloth, 2s. 6d. each. POVERTY CORNER. DUTCH THE DIVER. Boards only. My PATIENTS. Being the Notes

THE VICAR'S PEOPLE.] In cloth of a Navy Surgeon. | Sweet Mace. THE PARSON O' DUMFORD. Boards only. only.

Field Naturalist's Handbook, The. By the Rev. J. G. Wood

and Rev. THEODORE WOOD. 5S.

Figuier's Popular Scientific Works. With Several Hundred Illustrations in each. 3s. 6d. each.

THE HUMAN RACE. REPTILES AND BIRDS.

THE INSECT WORLD. MAMMALIA.

Flower de Hundred, The Story of a Virginia Plantation. By Mrs. BURTON HARRISON, Author of the "Anglomaniacs," &c. 3s. 6d.

Flower Painting in Water Colours. With Coloured Plates. First and Second Series. 5s. each.

Flower Painting, Elementary. With Eight Coloured Plates. 3s.

Flowers, and How to Paint Them. By MAUD NAFTEL. With Coloured Plates. 55.

Fossil Reptiles, A History of British. By Sir RICHARD OWEN, K.C.B., F.R.S., &c. With 268 Plates. In Four Vols., £12 128.

France as It Is. By ANDRÉ LEBON and PAUL PELET. With Three Maps. Crown 8vo, cloth, 7s. 6d.

Garden Flowers, Familiar. By SHIRLEY HIBBERD. With Coloured Plates by F. E. HULME, F.L.S Complete in Five Series. 128.6d. each. Gardening, Cassell's Popular. Illustrated. 4 vols., 5s. each.

Geometrical Drawing for Army Candidates. By H. T. LILLEY, M.A. 28.

Geometry, First Elements of Experimental. By PAUL BERT. 13.6d. Geometry, Practical Solid. By MAJOR Ross. 28.

Gleanings from Popular Authors. Two Vols. With Original Illustrations. 4to, 95. each. Two Vols. in One, 155.

Gulliver's Travels. With 88 Engravings by MORTEN. Cheap Edition. Cloth, 3s. 6d.; cloth gilt, 5s.

Gun and its Development, The. By W. W. GREENER. With 500 Illustrations. 105.6d. GULS, Modern Shot. By W. W. GREENER. Illustrated. 55. Health at School. By CLEMENT DUKES, M.D., B.S. 75. 6d. Health, The Book of. By Eminent Physicians and Surgeons. Cloth,

21s. ; Roxburgh, 25s. Health, The Influence of Clothing on. By F. TREVES, F.R.G.S. 23.

Heavens, The Story of the. By Sir ROBERT STAWELL BALL, LL.D., F.R.S., F.R.A.S. With Coloured Plates. Popular Edition. 128.6d.

Heroes of Britain in Peace and War. In Two Vols., with 300 Original Illustrations. 5s. each; or One Vol., library binding, 10s. 6d.

Holiday Studies of Wordsworth. By Rev. F. A. MALLESON, M.A. 55. Horse, The Book of the. By SAMUEL SIDNEY. With 28 Fac-simile

Coloured Plates. Enlarged Edition. Demy 4to, 35s.; half-morocco, 45s.

Houghton, Lord: The Life, Letters, and Friendships of Richard Monckton Milnes, First Lord Houghton. By T. WEMYSS REID. In Two Vols., with Two Portraits. 325.

Household, Cassell's Book of the. Complete in Four Vols., 5s. each.

How Women may Earn a Living. By MERCY GROGAN. 6d.

Hygiene and Public Health. By B. ARTHUR WHITELEGGE, M.D. 78.6d. India, Cassell's History of. By JAMES GRANT. With about 400 Illustrations. Library binding. One Vol. 155. In-door Amusements, Card Games, and Fireside Fun, Cassell's

Book of. Cheap Edition. 28. Irish Union, The; Before and After. By A. K. CONNELL, M.A. 28. 6d. "Japanese" Library of Popular Works, Cassell's. Consisting of Twelve Popular Works, printed on thin paper. 18. 3d. each net.

Handy Andy. - Oliver Twist. - Ivanhoe. - Ingoldsby Legends .-The Last of the Mohicans .- The Last Days of Pompeii .- The Yellowplush Papers. - The Last Lays of Falmyra. - Jack Hinton, the Guardsman. - Selections from Hood's Works .-American Humour .- The Tower of London.

John Orlebar, Clk. By the Author of "Culmshire Folk." 28.

John Parmelee's Curse. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE. 25.6d.

Kennel Guide, The Practical. By Dr. GORDON STABLES. IS.

Khiva, A Ride to. By Col. FRED. BURNABY. 18.6d. Kidnapped. By R. L. STEVENSON. Illustrated Edition. 55.

King Solomon's Mines. By H. RIDER HAGGARD. Illustrated Edition. 55. Ladies' Physician, The. A Guide for Women in the Treatment of

their Ailments. By a Physician. 6s. Lady Biddy Fane, The Admirable. By FRANK BARRETT. 55.

By ROBERT MUNRO, M.D., M.A. Lake Dwellings of Europe.

Cloth, 31S. 6d.; Roxburgh, £2 2S. Law, How to Avoid. By A. J. WILLIAMS, M.P. IS. Cheap Edition. Legends for Lionel. By WALTER CRANE. Coloured Illustrations. 5S. Letts's Diaries and other Time-saving Publications published exclusively by CASSELL & COMPANY. (A list free on application.) Life Assurance, Medical Handbook of. By JAMES EDWARD POL-

LOCK, M.D., and JAMES CHISHOLM. 75.6d.

Loans Manual. A Compilation of Tables and Rules for the Use of Local Authorities. By CHARLES P. COTTON. 55.

Local Government in England and Germany. By the Right Hon. Sir ROBERT MORIER, G.C.B., &c. IS. London, Greater. By EDWARD WALFORD. Two Vols. With about 400 Illustrations. 9s. each. London, Old and New. Six Vols., each containing about 200

Illustrations and Maps. Cloth, 9s. each.

London Street Arabs. By Mrs. H. M. STANLEY (DOROTHY TENNANT) A Collection of Pictures. Descriptive Text by the Artist. 5s.

Master of Ballantrae, The. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON. 5S. Mathew, Father, His Life and Times. By F. J. MATHEW, a Grand-

nephew. 25.6d. Mechanics, The Practical Dictionary of. Containing 15,000 Draw-

ings. Four Vols. 21s. each. Medicine, Manuals for Students of. (A List forwarded post free.) Metropolitan Year-Book, The. Paper, 18. ; cloth, 28.

Metzerott, Shoemaker. Cr. 8vo, 5s. Modern Europe, A History of. By C. A. FYFFE, M.A. Complete in Three Vols. 128. each.

Music, Illustrated History of. By EMIL NAUMANN. Edited by the Rev. Sir F. A. GORE OUSELEY, Bart. Illustrated. Two Vols. 315.6d. National Library, Cassell's. In Volumes, each containing about

192 pages. Paper covers, 3d.; cloth, 6d. (A Complete List of the

Natural History, Cassell's Concise. By E. PERCEVAL WRIGHT, M.A., M.D., F.L.S. With several Hundred Illustrations. 7s. 6d.
 Natural History, Cassell's New. Edited by Prof. P. MARTIN DUNCAN, M.B., F.R.S., F.G.S. Complete in Six Vols. With about

2.000 Illustrations. Cloth, 9s. each. Nature's Wonder Workers. By KATE R. LOVELL. Illustrated. 5s. Nelson, The Life of. By ROBERT SOUTHEY. Illustrated with Eight plates. 3s. 6d. An Edition of Southey's "Nelson" is published as a Volume of the National Library, price 3d.

Noughts and Crosses: Stories, Studies, and Sketches. By Q. Cloth, 5s.

Nursing for the Home and for the Hospital, A Handbook of.

By CATHERINE J. WOOD. Cheap Edition. 18. 6d.; cloth, 2s. Nursing of Sick Children, A Handbook for the. By CATHERINE J. WOOD. 28. 6d. Oil Painting, A Manual of. By the Hon. JOHN COLLIER. 28. 6d.

Our Own Country. Six Vols. With 1,200 Illustrations. 7s. 6d. each. Pactolus Prime. A Novel. By ALBION W. TOURGÉE. 5S.

Painting, The English School of. By ERNEST CHESNEAU. Translated

by L. N. ETHERINGTON. With an Introduction by Professor RUSKIN. 55.

Painting, Practical Guides to. With Coloured Plates and full instructions :-

MARINE PAINTING. 58.

ANIMAL PAINTING. 58.

5s. each.

CHINA PAINTING. 58. FIGURE PAINTING. 78. 6d. ELEMENTARY FLOWER PAINT-

ING. 35. FLOWER PAINTING, Two Books,

NEUTRAL TINT. 55. SEPIA, in Two Vols., 3s. each ; or in One Vol., 5s.

WATER-COLOUR PAINTING. 58.

TREE PAINTING. 5S.

FLOWERS, AND HOW TO PAINT THEM. 5S.

Paxton's Flower Garden. By Sir JOSEPH PAXTON and Prof. LINDLEY.

With 100 Coloured Plates Price on application. People I've Smiled with. By MARSHALL P. WILDER. 25.; cloth, 25.6d. Peoples of the World, The. In Six Vols. By Dr. ROBERT BROWN.

Illustrated. 7s. 6d. each. Phantom City, The. By W. WESTALL. 55.

Photography for Amateurs. By T. C. HEPWORTH. Illustrated. IS .: or cloth, IS. 6d.

Phrase and Fable, Dictionary of. By the Rev. Dr. BREWER. Cheap

Edition, Enlarged, cloth, 3s. 6d.; or with leather back, 4s. 6d. Picturesque America. Complete in Four Vols., with 48 Exquisite Steel Plates and about 800 Original Wood Engravings. £2 2s. each.

Picturesque Australasia, Cassell's. With upwards of 1,000 Illustrations.

Picturesque Australasia, Cassell's. With upwards of 1,000 Illustrations. Complete in Four Vols., 75. 6d. each.
Picturesque Canada. With 600 Original Illustrations. 2 Vols. £3 35. each.
Picturesque Europe. Complete in Five Vols. Each containing 13 Exquisite Steel Plates, from Original Drawings, and nearly 200 Original Illustrations. ORIGINAL EDITION. Cloth, £21; half-morocco, £31 105.; morocco gilt, £52 105. The POPULAR EDITION is published in Five Vols., 185. each.
Picturesque Mediterranean. With Magnificent Original Illustrations by the leading Artists of the Day. Vol. I. £2 25.
Pigeon Keeper, The Practical. By LEWIS WRIGHT. Illustrated. 35. 6d.

Selections from Cassell & Company's Publications.

Pigeons, The Book of. By ROBERT FULTON. Edited and Arranged by L. WRIGHT. With 50 Coloured Plates, 315. 6d. ; half-morocco, £2 25.

Poems, Aubrey de Vere's. A Selection. Edited by J. DENNIS. 38. 6d. Poets, Cassell's Miniature Library of the :-

BURNS. Two Vols. 25. 6d. BYRON. Two Vols. 25. 6d. HOOD. Two Vols. 25. 6d.

MILTON. Two Vols. 25. Ed.

SCOTT. Two Vols. 28. 6d. [28. 6d.

SHERIDAN and GOLDSMITH. 2 Vols. WORDSWORTH. Two Vols. 25. 6d.

LONGFELLOW. Two Vols. 25. 6d. | WORDSWORTH. Two Vols SHAKESPEARE. Illustrated. In 12 Vols., in Case, 125.

Police Code, and Manual of the Criminal Law. By C. E. Howard VINCENT, M.P. 25. Polytechnic Series, The. Forty Lessons in Carpentry Workshop Practice. Cloth gilt, 15. Practical Plane and Solid Geometry, including Graphic Arithmetic. Vol. I.,

Elementary Stage. Cloth gilt, 35. Forty Lessons in Engineering Workshop Practice. 15. 6d.

Technical Scales. Set of Ten in cloth case, 15. Also on Celluloid in Case, 105. 6d, the set. Elementary Chemistry for Science Schools and Classes. Crown 8vo, 15, 6d.

Building Construction Plates. A Series of 40 Drawings. Royal folio size, 14d. each. Portrait Gallery, The Cabinet. Containing 36 Cabinet Photographs of Eminent Men and Women. With Biographical Sketches. First Series. 155.

Postage, Uniform Imperial. By ROBERT J. BEADON, M.A. Oxon. 6d. Poultry Keeper, The Practical. By LEWIS WRIGHT. With Coloured

Plates and Illustrations. 3s. 6d.

Poultry, The Book of. By LEWIS WRIGHT. Popular Edition. 105.6d. Poultry, The Illustrated Book of. By LEWIS WRIGHT. With Fifty

Coloured Plates. New and Revised Edition. Cloth, 315. 6d.

Pre-Raphaelites, The Italian, in the National Gallery. By Cosmo MONKHOUSE. Illustrated. IS.
Queen Victoria, The Life and Times of. By ROBERT WILSON. Com-plete in Two Vols. With numerous Illustrations. 9s. each.
Quiver, The. Yearly Volume. Illustrated. 7s. 6d.

Rabbit-Keeper, The Practical. By CUNICULUS. Illustrated. 35. 6d. Railway Guides, Official Illustrated. With Illustrations, Maps, &c. Price IS. each; or in cloth, 2s. each.

GREAT WESTERN RAILWAY. Revised and Enlarged.

GREAT NORTHERN RAILWAY.

LONDON, BRIGHTON AND SOUTH COAST RAILWAY.

LONDON AND NORTH-WESTERN RAILWAY. Revised and Enlarged. LONDON AND SOUTH-WESTERN RAILWAY.

MIDLAND RAILWAY.

SOUTH-EASTERN RAILWAY.

Railway Library, Cassell's. Crown 8vo, boards, 2s. each. UNDER A STRANGE MASK. By FRANK | THE YOKE OF THE THORAH.

- By SIDNEY LUSKA.
- THE COOMBSBERROW MYSTERY. By WHO IS JOHN NOMAN! By CHARLES HENRY BECKETT.
- JAMES COLWALL, DEAD MAN'S ROCK. By Q. A QUEER RACE. By W. WESTALL, CAPTAIN TRAFALGAR. By WESTALL and LAURIE.

BARRETT.

- THE PHANTOM CITY. By W. WESTALL.
- The above can also be obtained in cloth, 25. 6d. each.
 JACK GORDON, KNIGHT ERRANT, GOTHAM, 1883. By BARCLAY

NORTH. THE DIAMOND BUTTON. BY BARCLAY NORTH.

ANOTHER'S CRIME. By JULIAN HAW-THORNE.

- THE TRAGEDY OF BRINKWATER. By MARTHA L. MOODEY.
- HAWTHORNE.

SECTION 558; or, THE FATAL LETTER By JULIAN HAWTHORNE.

- THE BROWN STONE BOY. By W. H. BISHOP.
- TRAGIC MYSTERY. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE,

THE GREAT BANK ROBBERY. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE.

Redgrave, Richard, C.B., R.A. Memoir. Compiled from his Diary. By F. M. REDGRAVE. 105. 6d. Richard, Henry, M.P. A Biography. By CHARLES S. MIALL 75. 6d.

AN AMERICAN PENMAN. By JULIAN

Rivers of Great Britain, The: Descriptive, Historical, Pictorial. RIVERS OF THE EAST COAST. 42S. Rossetti, Dante Gabriel, as Designer and Writer. Notes by

WILLIAM MICHAEL ROSSETTI. 75. 6d. Royal River, The: The Thames, from Source to Sea. With Descrip-tive Text and a Series of beautiful Engravings. £2 28. Russo-Turkish War, Cassell's History of. With about 500 Illus-

trations. Two Vols., 9s. each. St. Cuthbert's Tower. By FLORENCE WARDEN. Cheap Edition. 5s. Saturday Journal, Cassell's. Yearly Volume, cloth, 75.6d.

Science for All. Edited by Dr. ROBERT BROWN. Revised Edition.

Illustrated. Five Vols. 9s. each. Sculpture, A Primer of. By E. ROSCOB MULLINS. With Illustrations 25.6d. Sea, The: Its Stirring Story of Adventure, Peril, and Heroism. By F. WHYMPER. With 400 Illustrations. Four Vols., 75. 6d. each.

Secret of the Lamas, The. A Tale of Thibet. Crown 8vo, 5s.

Shaftesbury, The Seventh Earl of, K.G., The Life and Work of. By EDWIN HODDER. Three Vols., 36s. Popular Edition, One Vol., 78.6d.

Shakespeare, The Plays of. Edited by Professor HENRY MORLEY. Complete in 13 Vols., cloth, 215. ; half-morocco, cloth sides, 425.

Shakespeare, Cassell's Quarto Edition. Containing about 600 Illustrations by H. C. SELOUS. Complete in Three Vols., cloth gilt, £3 3s.

Shakespeare, Miniature. Illustrated. In Twelve Vols., in box, 128.; or in Red Paste Grain (box to match), with spring catch, 218.

Shakespeare, The England of. By E. GOADBY. Illustrated. 28. 6d. Shakspere, The International. Edition de Luxe.

"OTHELLO." Illustrated by FRANK DICKSEE, A.R.A. £3 105.

"KING HENRY IV." Illustrated by EDUARD GRÜTZNER, £3 103. "AS YOU LIKE IT." Illustrated by ÉMILE BAVARD, £3 105.

"ROMEO AND JULIET." Illustrated by F. DICKSEE, A.R.A., £7 105. Shakspere, The Leopold. With 400 Illustrations. Cheap Edition. 3s. 6d. Cloth gilt, gilt edges, 5s. ; Roxburgh, 7s. 6d.

Shakspere, The Royal. With Steel Plates and Wood Engravings. Three Vols. 15s. each.

Social Welfare, Subjects of. By Sir LVON PLAYFAIR, K.C.B. 75.6d. Socialism, Lectures on Christianity and. By BISHOP BARRY. 38.6d. Splendid Spur, The. Edited by Q. 5s.

Standard Library, Cassell's. Stiff covers, IS. each; cloth, 2S. each.

Mary Barton. The Antiquary. Nicholas Nickleby

(Two Vols.). Jane Eyre. Wuthering Heights. Dombey and Son

(Two Vols.). The Prairie. Night and Morning. Kenlworth. The Ingoldsby Le-

gends. The Tower of

London. The Pioneers,

Charles O'Malley. Barnaby Rudge. Cakes and Ale. The King's Own. People I have Met. The Pathfinder. Evelina Scott's Poems.

Last of the Barons. Adventures Mr. of Ledbury. Ivanhoe Oliver Twist. Selections from Hood's Works. Longfellow's Prose Works. Sense and Sensibility. Lytton's Plays. Tales, Poems, and Sketches, Bret Harte. Martia Chuzzlewit (Two Vols.). Tho Prince of the House of David. Sheridan's Plays Uncle Tom's Cabin. Deerslayer. Rome and the Early Christians. The Trials of Margaret Lyndsay. Harry Lorrequer.

Eugene Aram. Jack Hinton. Poe's Works. Old Mortality. The Hour and the Man. Handy Andy. Scarlet Letter. Pickwick (Two Vols.). Last of the Mohicans. Pride and Prejudice. Yellowplush Papers. Tales of the Borders. Last Days of Palmyra. Washington Irving's Sketch-Book. The Talisman. Rienzi. Old Curiosity Shop. Heart of Midlothian. Last Days of Pompeii. American Humour. Sketches by Boz. Macaulay's Lays and Essays.

Sports and Pastimes, Cassell's Complete Book of. Cheap Edition.

With more than 900 Illustrations. Medium 8vo, 992 pages, cloth, 3s. 6d. Stanley in East Africa, Scouting for : a Record of the Adventures of Thomas Stevens in Search of H. M. Stanley. With 14 Illustrations. Cloth, 7s. 6d.

Star-Land. By Sir Robert Stawell Ball, LL.D., F.R.S., F.R.A.S. Illustrated. Crown 8vo, 6s.
Steam Engine, The. By W. H. NORTHCOTT, C.E. 3s. 6d.

Strange Doings in Strange Places. Complete Sensational Stories. 5s. Technical Education. By F. C. MONTAGUE. 6d. Thackeray, Character Sketches from. Six New and Original Draw-

ings by FREDERICK BARNARD, reproduced in Photogravure. 215. Treasure Island. By R. L. STEVENSON. Illustrated. 55. Treatment, The Year-Book of. A Critical Review for Practitioners of

Medicine and Surgery. Greatly Enlarged. 500 pages. 75. 6d.
Trees, Familiar. By G. S. BOULGER, F.L.S. Two Series. With 40 full-page Coloured Plates by W. H. J. BOOT. 125. 6d. each.
Troy Town, The Astonishing History of. By Q. 5s.
Two Women or One? By HENRY HARLAND. IS.

"Unicode": the Universal Telegraphic Phrase Book. Desk or Pocket Edition. 2s. 6d.

United States, Cassell's History of the. Dy the late EDMUND OLLIER, With 600 Illustrations. Three Vols. 98. each.

Universal History, Cassell's Illustrated. Four Vols. gs. each. Verdict, The. A Tract on the Political Significance of the Report of the Parnell Commission. By Prof. A. V. DICEY, Q.C. 28. 6d. Vicar of Wakefield and other Works by OLIVER GOLDSMITH.

Illustrated. 3s. 6d.; cloth, gilt edges, 5s.

Waterloo Letters. Edited, with Explanatory Notes, by MAJOR-GENERAL SIBORNE, C.B. With Plans and Diagrams. Demy 8vo, 16s.
Web of Gold, A. By KATHARINE PBARSON WOODS. Crown 8vo, 6s.
What Girls Can Do. By PHYLLIS BROWNE. 2s. 6d.
Wild Birds, Familiar. By W. SWAYSLAND. Four Series. With 40 Coloured Plates in each. 12s. 6d. each.
Wild Flowers, Familiar. By F. E. HULME, F.L.S., F.S.A. Five Series. With to Coloured Plates in each. 12s. 6d. each.

Series. With 40 Coloured Plates in each. 125. 6d. each. Wood, Rev. J. G., Life of the. By the Rev. THEODORE WOOD.

Demy 8vo, cloth, price 10s. 6d. rk. An Illustrated Magazine of Practice and Theory for all Work-Work. men, Professionaland Amateur. Yearly Vol., 75. 6d.

World of Wit and Humour, The. With 400 Illustrations. 75.6d. World of Wonders. Two Vols. With 400 Illustrations. 75.6d. each. Yule Tide. Cassell's Christmas Annual, 18.

ILLUSTRATED MAGAZINES.

The Quiver. ENLARGED SERIES. Monthly, 6d. Cassell's Family Magazine. Monthly, 7d. "Little Folks" Magazine. Monthly, 6d. The Magazine of Art. Monthly, 18. Cassell's Saturday Journal. Weekly, 1d.; Monthly, 6d. Work. Weekly, Id. ; Monthly, 6d.

Catalogues of CASSELL & COMPANY'S PUBLICATIONS, which may be had at all

Booksellers', or will be sent post free on application to the Publishers :--CASSELL'S COMPLETE CATALOGUE, containing particulars of upwards of One Thousand Volumes. CASSELL'S CLASSIFIED CATALOGUE, in which their Works are arranged

a cording to price, from Threepence to Fifty Guineas. CASSELL'S EDUCATIONAL CATALOGUE, containing particulars of CASSELL & COMPANY'S Educational Works and Students' Manuals.

CASSELL & COMPANY, LIMITED, Ludgate Hill, London

Bibles and Religious Morks.

Bible, Cassell's Illustrated Family. With goo Illustrations. Leather, gilt edges, £2 10s.

Bible Dictionary, Cassell's. With nearly 600 Illustrations. 75.6d.

Bible Educator, The. Edited by the Very Rev. Dean PLUMPTRE, D.D., Wells. With Illustrations, Maps, &c. Four Vols., cloth, 6s. each.

Bible Student in the British Museum, The. By the Rev. J. G. KITCHIN, M.A. IS.

Biblewomen and Nurses. Yearly Volume. Illustrated. 3s.

Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress and Holy War. With 200 Illustrations. With a New Life of Bunyan by the Rev. JOHN BROWN, B.A., D.D. Cloth, 16s.

Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress (Cassell's Illustrated). 4to. 7s. 6d. Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress. With Illustrations. Cloth, 2s. 6d.

Child's Bible, The. With 200 Illustrations. 150th Thousand. 75.6d. Child's Life of Christ, The. With 200 Illustrations. 75.6d.

"Come, ye Children." Illustrated. By Rev. BENJAMIN WAUGH. 55. Conquests of the Cross. With numerous Illustrations. Vols. I. and II., gs. each.

Doré Bible. With 238 Illustrations by GUSTAVE DORÉ. Small folio, best morocco, gilt edges, £15.

Early Days of Christianity, The. By the Ven. Archdeacon FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S. LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols., 24S.; morocco, £2 2S. POPULAR EDITION. Complete in One Volume, cloth, 6s.; cloth, gilt edges, 7s. 6d.; Persian morocco, 1os. 6d.; tree-calf, 15s.

Family Prayer-Book, The. Edited by Rev. Canon GARBETT, M.A., and Rev. S. MARTIN. Extra crown 4to, cloth, 5s. ; morocco, 18s.

Gleanings after Harvest. Studies and Sketches by the Rev. JOHN R VERNON, M.A. 6s.

"Graven in the Rock." By the Rev. Dr. SAMUEL KINNS, F.R.A.S., Author of "Moses and Geology." Illustrated. 125. 6d.

- "Heart Chords." A Series of Works by Eminent Divines. Bound in cloth, red edges, One Shilling each.

MY BIBLE. By the Right Rev. W. BOYD CARPENTER, Bishop of Ripon. MY FATHER. By the Right Rev. ASH-TON OXENDEN, late Bishop of Montreal.

WORK FOR GOD. By the Right MY

Rev. Bishop COTTERILL. OBJECT IN LIFE. By the Ven. Archdeacon FARRAR, D.D. ASPIRATIONS. By the Rev. G. MATHESON, D.D.

EMOTIONAL LIFE. By the Rev. Preb. CHADWICK, D.D. BODY. By the Rev. Prof. W. G. MY EMOTIONAL LIFE.

MY BLAIKIE, D.D.

- MY GROWTH IN DIVINE LIFE. By the Rev. Preb. REYNOLDS, M.A.
- MY SOUL. By the Rev. P. B. POWER, M.A.
- MY HEREAFTER. By the Very Rev. Dean BICKERSTETH.

MY WALK WITH GOD. By the Very Rev. Dean MONTGOMERY.

MY AIDS TO THE DIVINE LIFE. By the Very Rev. Dean BOYLE.

- MY SOURCES OF STRENGTH. By the Rev. E. E. JENKINS, M. A., Secretary of Wesleyan Missionary Society.
- Helps to Belief. A Series of Helpful Manuals on the Religious Difficulties of the Day. Edited by the Rev. TEIGNMOUTH SHORE, M.A., Canon of Worcester, and Chaplain-in-Ordinary to the Queen. Cloth IS. each.

CREATION. By the Lord Bishop of Carlisle.

THE DIVINITY OF OUR LORD. By

THE DIVINITY OF OUR LORD. By the Lord Bishop of Derry. THE MORALITY OF THE OLD TESTA-MENT. By the Rev. Newman Smyth, D.D.

MIRACLES. By the Rev. Brownlow Maitland, M.A.

- PRAYER. By the Rev. T. Toignmouth Shore, M.A.
- THE ATONEMENT. By the Lord Bishop of Peterborough.

3 B. 4.91

Holy Land and the Bible, The. By the Rev. CUNNINGHAM GEIKIE, D.D. Two Vols, with Map, 245.

- Lectures on Christianity and Socialism. By the Right Rev. ALFRED BARRY, D.D. Cloth, 3s. 6d.
- Life of Christ, The. By the Ven. Archdeacon FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S. ILLUSTRATED EDITION, morocco antique, 425. LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols. Cloth, 245.; morocco, 425. POPULAR EDITION, in One Vol., 8vo, cloth, 6s.; cloth, gilt edges, 7s. 6d.; Persian morocco, gilt edges, 105. 6d.; tree calf, 155.
- Marriage Ring, The. By WILLIAM LANDELS, D.D. New and Cheaper Edition. 38. 6d.
- Moses and Geology; or, The Harmony of the Bible with Science. By the Rev. SAMUEL KINNS, Ph.D., F.R.A.S. Illustrated. *Cheap Edition*, 6s.
- New Testament Commentary for English Readers, The. Edited by the Rt. Rev. C. J. ELLICOTT, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. In Three Volumes, 21S. each. Vol. I.—The Four Gospels. Vol. II.—The Acts, Romans, Corinthians, Galatians. Vol. III.—The remaining Books of the New Testament.
- New Testament Commentary. Edited by Bishop ELLICOTT. Handy Volume Edition. St. Matthew, 3s. 6d. St. Mark, 3s. St. Luke, 3s. 6d. St. John, 3s. 6d. The Acts of the Apostles, 3s. 6d. Romans, 2s. 6d. Corinthians I. and II., 3s. Galatians, Ephesians, and Philippians, 3s. Colossians, Thessalonians, and Timothy, 3s. Titus, Philemon, Hebrews, and James, 3s. Peter, Jude, and John, 3s. The Revelation, 3s. An Introduction to the New Testament, 3s. 6d.
- Old Testament Commentary for English Readers, The. Edited by the Right Rev. C. J. ELLICOTT, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. Complete in Five Vols., 215. each. Vol. I.—Genesis to Numbers. Vol. II.—Deuteronomy to Samuel II. Vol. III.—Kings I. to Esther. Vol. IV.—Job to Isaiah. Vol. V.—Jeremiah to Malachi.
- Old Testament Commentary. Edited by Bishop ELLICOTT. Handy Volume Edition. Genesis, 3s. 6d. Exodus, 3s. Leviticus, 3s. Numbers, 2s. 6d. Deuteronomy, 2s. 6d.
- Protestantism, The History of. By the Rev. J. A. WYLIE, LL.D. Containing upwards of 600 Original Illustrations. Three Vols., 9s. each.
- Quiver Yearly Volume, The. 250 high-class Illustrations. 78.6d.
- Religion, The Dictionary of. By the Rev. W. BENHAM, B.D. 215.; Roxburgh, 258.
- St. George for England; and other Sermons preached to Children. By the Rev. T. TEIGNMOUTH SHORE, M.A., Canon of Worcester. 58.
- St. Paul, The Life and Work of. By the Ven. Archdeacon FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S., Chaplain-in-Ordinary to the Queen. LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols., cloth, 24s.; calf, 42s. ILLUSTRATED EDITION, complete in One Volume, with about 300 Illustrations, £1 Is.; morocco, £2 2s. POPULAR EDITION. One Volume, 8vo, cloth, 6s.; cloth, gilt edges, 7s. 6d.; Persian morocco, 10s. 6d.; tree calf, 15s.
- Shall We Know One Another in Heaven? By the Rt. Rev. J. C. Ryle, D.D., Bishop of Liverpool. Cheap Edition. Paper covers, 6d.
- Signa Christi: Evidences of Christianity set forth in the Person and Work of Christ. By JAMES AITCHISON, Minister of Erskine Church, Falkirk. 5^s.
- "Sunday," Its Origin, History, and Present Obligation. By the Ven. Archdeacon HESSEY, D.C.L. Fifth Edition. 7s. 6d.
- Twilight of Life, The. Words of Counsel and Comfort for the Aged. By the Rev. JOHN ELIERTON, M.A. IS. 6d.

Educational Morks and Students' Manuals.

Alphabet, Cassell's Pictorial. 3s. 6d.

Arithmetics, The Modern School. By GEORGE RICKS, B.Sc. Lond. With Test Cards. (List on application.)

Atlas, Cassell's Popular. Containing 24 Coloured Maps. 3s. 6d.

Book-Keeping. By THEODORE JONES. For Schools, 28.; cloth, 38. For the Million, 2s. ; cloth, 3s. Books for Jones's System, 2s.

Chemistry, The Public School. By J. H. ANDERSON, M.A. 25.6d. Classical Texts for Schools, Cassell's. (A List post free on application.) Copy-Books, Cassell's Graduated. Eighteen Books. 2d. each. Copy-Books, The Modern School. Twelve Books. 2d. each.

Drawing Copies, Cassell's Modern School Freehand. First Grade,

IS. ; Second Grade, 2S. Drawing Copies, Cassell's "New Standard." Complete in Fourteen Books. 2d., 3d., and 4d. each.

Electricity, Practical. By Prof. W. E. AYRTON. 78.6d. Energy and Motion. By WILLIAM PAICE, M.A. Illustrated. 18.6d. English Literature, First Sketch of. By Prof. MORLEY. 78.6d. English Literature, The Story of. By ANNA BUCKLAND. 38.6d. Euclid, Cassell's. Edited by Prof. WALLACE, M.A. 18. Euclid, The First Four Books of. New Edition. In paper, 6d.; cloth, 9d.

Experimental Geometry. By PAUL BERT. Illustrated. 18. 6d.
 French, Cassell's Lessons in. New and Revised Edition. Parts I. and II., each 25. 6d.; complete, 45. 6d. Key, 15. 6d.
 French-English and English-French Dictionary. Entirely New

Entirely New and Enlarged Edition. 1,150 pages, 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. French Reader. Cassell's Public School. By G. S. CONRAD. 2s. 6d.

Galbraith and Haughton's Scientific Manuals :-

Plane Trigonometry, 2s. 6d. – Euclid, Books I., II., III., 2s. 6d. – Books IV., V., VI., 2s. 6d. – Mathematical Tables, 3s. 6d. – Mechanics, 3s. 6d. –Natural Philosophy, 3s. 6d. – Optics, 2s. 6d. – Hydrostatics, 3s. 6d. – Astronomy, 5s. – Steam Engine, 3s. 6d. – Algebra, Part I., cloth, 2s. 6d.: Complete, 7s. 6d. – Tides and Tidal Currents, with Tidal Cards, 3s.

Gaudeamus. Songs for Colleges and Schools. Edited by JOHN FARMER. 5s. Words only, paper covers, 6d. ; cloth, 9d.

German Dictionary, Cassell's New. German-English, English-German. Cheap Edition. Cloth, 3s. 6d.
 German of To-Day. By Dr. HEINEMANN. IS. 6d.
 German Reading, First Lessons in. By A. JAGST. Illustrated. IS.
 Hand-and-Eve. Training. By G. Ricks, B.Sc. a Vols. with 16 Coloured

Hand-and-Eye Training. By G. RICKS, B.Sc. 2 Vols., with 16 Coloured Plates in each Vol. Cr. 4to, 6s. each. Cards for Class Use, 5 sets, 1s. each. Handbook of New Code of Regulations. New and Revised Edition.

By JOHN F. Moss. 18.; cloth, 28. Historical Cartoons, Cassell's Coloured. Size 45 in. × 35 in., 28. each. Mounted on canvas and varnished, with rollers, 5s. each.

each. Mounted on canvas and varhished, with rollers, 5s. each.
Historical Course for Schools, Cassell's. Illustrated throughout.
I.—Stories from English History, 1s. II.—The Simple Outline of English History, 1s. 3d. III.—The Class History of England, 2s. 6d.
Latin-English Dictionary, Cassell's. By J. R. V. MARCHANT, 3s. 6d.
Latin Primer, The First. By Prof. POSTGATE. 1s.
Latin Primer, The New. By Prof. J. P. POSTGATE. Crown 8vo, 2s. 6d.
Latin Prose for Lower Forms. By M. A. BAYFIELD, M.A. 2s. 6d.

Laundry Work (How to Teach It). By Mrs. E. LORD. 6d. Laws of Every-Day Life. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER. 18. 6d. Little Folks' History of England. Illustrated. 18. 6d.

Making of the Home, The: A Bcok of Domestic Economy for School and Home Use. By Mrs. SAMUEL A. BARNETT. 18.6d.

Map-Building Series, Cassell's. Outline Maps prepared by H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER. Per Set of Twelve, 18.

Marlborough Books :- Arithmetic Examples, 3s. Arithmetic Rules, 1s. 6d.

French Exercises, 3s. 6d. French Grammar, 2s. 6d. German do., 3s. 6d. Mechanics and Machine Design, Numerical Examples in Practical. By R. G. BLAINE, M.E. With Diagrams. Cloth, 28. 6d.

"Model Joint" Wall Sheets, for Instruction in Manual Training. By

S. BARTER. Eight Sheets, 2s. 6d. each. Natural History Coloured Wall Sheets, Cassell's New. 18 Subjects. Size, 39 by 31 in. Mounted on rollers and varnished. 35. each.

New Poetry Readers, Cassell's. Illustrated. 12 Books, 1d. each; or Complete in One Vol., cloth, 1s. 6d. Object Lessons from Nature. By Prof. L. C. MIALL, F.L.S. 2s. 6d.

Perspective, The Principles of, as applied to Model Drawing and

Sketching from Nature. By GEORGE TROBRIDGE. Illustrated. Revised and Enlarged. Paper covers, 18. 6d.; cloth, 2s. 6d.

Popular Educator, Cassell's NEW. With Revised Text, New Maps, New Coloured Plates, New Type, &c. To be completed in 8 Vols. 5s. each

Popular Educator, Cassell's. Complete in Six Vols., 5s. each. Readers, Cassell's "Higher Class." (List on application.) Readers, Cassell's "Higher Class." (List on application.) Readers, Cassell's Historical. Illustrated. (List on application.) Readers, Cassell's Readable. Illustrated. (List on application.) Readers for Infant Schools, Coloured. Three Books. 4d. each. Reader, The Citizen. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER. Illustrated. Is. 6d. Reader, The Temperance. By Rev. J. DENNIS HIRD. Cr. 8vo, Is. 6d. Readers, The "Modern School" Geographical. (List on application.) Readers, The "Modern School." Illustrated. (List on application.) Readers, The "Modern School." Illustrated. (List on application.) Reckoning, Howard's Anglo-American Art of. By C. FRUSHER HOWARD. Paper covers, 1s. ; cloth, 2s.

HOWARD. Paper covers, 15.; cloth, 25.
School Certificates, Cassell's. Three Colours, 6¼ × 4¼ in., 1d.; Five Colours, 11⅔ × 9½ in., 3d.; Seven Colours and Gold, 9⅓ × 6⅓ in., 3d.
Science Applied to Work. By J. A. BOWER. IS.
Science of Everyday Life. By JOHN A. BOWER. II.
Shade from Models, Common Objects, and Casts of Ornament, How to. By W. E. SPARKES. With 25 Plates by the Author. 3s.
Shakspere's Plays for School Use. 5 Books. Illustrated. 6d. each.
Shakspere Reading Book, The. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.
Spelling, A Complete Manual of. By J. D. MORELL, LL.D. IS.
Technical Manuals, Cassell's. Illustrated throughout:— Handrailing and Staircasing, 3s. 6d.—Bricklayers, Drawing for, 3s.—

Handrailing and Staircasing, 3s. 6d.—Bricklayers, Drawing for, 3s.— Building Construction, 2s.—Cabinet-Makers, Drawing for, 3s.— Carpenters and Joiners, Drawing for, 3s. 6d.—Gothic Stonework. 3s. —Linear Drawing and Practical Geometry, 2s.—Linear Drawing and Provide the Construction of the Machinets and Fraville Projection. The Two Vols. in One, 38.6d.—Machinists and Enginee's, Drawing for, 48.6d.—Metal-Plate Workers, Drawing for, 38.—Model Drawing, 3s. - Orthographical and Isometrical Projection, 2s. - Practical Perspective, 3s.—Stonemasons, Drawing for, 3s.—Applied Mechanics, by Sir R. S. Ball, LL.D., 2s.—Systematic Drawing and Shading, 2s. Technical Educator, Cassell's. *Revised Edition*. Four Vols., 5s. each.

Technical Educator, Cassell's. Revised Edition. Four Vols., 5s. each.
Technology, Manuals of. Edited by Prof. AVRTON, F.R.S., and RICHARD WORMELL, D.Sc., M.A. Illustrated throughout :-The Dyeing of Textile Fabrics, by Prof. Hummel, 5s.-Watch and Clock Making, by D. Glasgow, 4s. 6d.-Steel and Iron, by Prof. W. H. Greenwood, F.C.S., M.I.C.E., &c., 5s.-Spinning Woollen and Worsted, by W. S. B. McLaren, M.P., 4s. 6d.-Design in Textile Fabrics, by T. R. Ashenhurst, 4s. 6d.-Practical Mechanics, by Prof. Perry, M.E., 3s. 6d.-Cutting Tools Worked by Hand and Machire by Prof. Smith, 3s. 6d. (A Prospectus on application.)
Test Cards, Cassell's Combination. In sets. 1s. each.

Test Cards, Cassell's Combination. In sets, 18. each. Test Cards, "Modern School," Cassell's. In Sets, 18. each.

CASSELL & COMPANY, LIMITED, Ludgate Hill, London.

Books for Young People.

"Little Folks " Half-Yearly Volume. Containing 432 4to pages, with about 200 Illustrations, and Pictures in Colour. Boards, 38.6d.; cloth, 5s.

Bo-Peep. A Book for the Little Ones. With Original Stories and Verses. Illustrated throughout. Yearly Volume. Boards, 28.6d. ; cloth, 38.6d.

Cassell's Pictorial Scrap Book, containing several thousand Pictures beautifully printed and handsomely bound in one large volume. Coloured boards, 15s. ; cloth lettered, 21s. Also in Six Sectional Vols., 3s. 6d. each.

Wanted-a King: or, How Merle set the Nursery Rhymes to Rights. By MAGGIE BROWNE. With Original Designs by HARRY

FURNISS. 3S. 6d. The Marvellous Budget: being 65,536 Stories of Jack and Jill. By the Rev. F. BENNETT. Illustrated. 28. 6d. Schoolroom and Home Theatricals. By ARTHUR WAUGH. Illus-

trated. 2s. 6d.

Magic at Home. By Prof. HOFFMAN. Illustrated. Cloth gilt, 5s. Flora's Feast. A Masque of Flowers. CRANE. With 40 Pages in Colours. 5s.

Legends for Lionel. With 40 Illustrations in Colour by WALTER CRANE. 55. "Little Folks" Painting Book, The New. Containing nearly 350

Outline Illustrations suitable for Colouring. Price 1S. ; post free, 1S. 2d.

Little Mother Bunch. By Mrs. MOLESWORTH. Illustrated. Cloth, 3s. 6d. Ships, Sailors, and the Sea. By R. J. CORNEWALL-JONES. Cheap Edition. Illustrated. Cloth, 2s. 6d.

Famous Sailors of Former Times. By CLEMENTS MARKHAM. Illustrated. 2s. 6d.

The Tales of the Sixty Mandarins. By P. V. RAMASWAMI RAJU. With an Introduction by Prof. HENRY MORLEY. Illustrated. 55.

By

- Books for Young People. Illustrated. Cloth gilt, 5s. each. The King's Command: A Story for Girls. By Maggie Symington. Under For Girls. By Maggie Symington. The Champion of Odin; or, Viking Life in the Days of Old. By J. Fred. Hodgetts. Bound by a Spell; or, The Hunted Witch of the Forest. By the Hon Mrs Grand
 - Hon. Mrs. Greene.

Books for Young People. Illustrated. Price 3s. 6d. each.

- Lost among White Africans. By David Ker.
- The Palace Beautiful. By L. T. Meade. On Board the "Esmeralda." By
 - John C. Hutcheson. In Quest of Gold. By A. St. John-
 - ston. For Queen and King. By Henry
 - Frith.

Books for Young People. Price 28. 6d. each. Heroes of Evaly-day Life. By Laura Lane. Illustrated.

Decisive Events in History. By Thomas Archer. With Original Illustrations

Under Bayard's Bancer.

The Romance of Invention. By James Burnley.

Polly: A New-Fashioned Girl. By L. T. Meade. For Fortune and Glory: A Story

"Follow My Leader." By Talbot

Baines Reed. [Pitt. The Cost of a Mistake. By Sarah A World of Girls: The Story of a School. By L. T. Meade.

of the Soudan War. By Lewis

Henry Frith.

Hough.

The True Robinson Crusoes.

- Early Explorers. The "Cross and Crown" Series.
 - Cross and Crown Series
 Strong to Suffer: A Story of the Jews. By E. Wynne.
 Heroes of the Indian Empire; or, Stories of Valour and Victory. By Ernest Foster.
 In Letters of Flame: A Story of the Waldenses. By C. L. Matéany

 - Matéaux
 - Through Trial to Triumph. By Made ne B. Hunt.

- Home Chat with our Young Folks. Illustrated throughout.
- Jungle, Peak, and Plain. Illustrated throughout.
- The World's Lumber-Room. By Selina Gaye. By Thomas Frost.

- Illustrated 25.6d. each. By Fire and Sword: A Story of the Huguenots. By Thomas Archer.
- Adam Hepburn's Vow: A Tale of Kirk and Covenant. By Annie S. Swan.
- No. XIII.: or, The Story of the Lost Vestal. A Tale of Early Christian Days. By Emma Marshall,

"Golden Mottoes" Series, The. Each Book containing 208 pages, with Four full-page Original Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth gilt, 2s. each. "Nil Desperandum." "Honour is my Guide." By Jeanie Hering (Mrs. Adams-Acton). "Aim at a Sure End." By Emily Searchfield. By the Rev. F. Langbridge, M.A. "Bear and Forbear." By Sarah Pitt. "He Conquers who Endures." By the Author of "May Cunningham's Trial," &c. "Foremost if I Can." By Helen Atteridge. Cheap Editions of Recent Popular Volumes for Young People. Wild Adventures in Id Adventures in Wild Places. By Dr. Gordon Stables, R.N. Illustrated, Price 25. 6d, Perils Afloat and Brigands Ashore. By Alfred Elwes, Price 25, 61, Pictures of School Life and Boy-hood. Selected from the best Au-thors. Edited by Percy Fitzgerald, By Alfred Elwes. Freedom's Sword: a Story of the Days of Wallace and Bruce. By Annie S. Swan. Price 25. 6d. Modern Explorers. By Thomas Frost. Illustrated. Price 25. 6d. Cassell's Picture Story Books. Each containing about Sixty Pages of Pictures and Stories, &c. Ed. each. Little Talks. Daisy's Story Book. Dot's Story Book. A Nest of Stories. Auntie's Stories. Bright Stars. Birdie's Story Book. Nursery Toys. Pet's Posy. Tiny Tales Little Chimes. Good-Night Stories. A Sheaf of Tales. Chats for Small Chatterers. Dewdrop Stories. Cassell's Sixpenny Story Books. All Illustrated, and containing Interesting Stories by well-known writers. The Smuggler's Cave. The Boat Club. Little Lizzie. Little Pickles. Little Bird, Life and Adven-The Elchester College Boys My First Cruise. The L'ttle Peacemaker. tures of. Luke Barnicott. The Delft Jug. Cassell's Shilling Story Books. All Illustrated, and containing Interesting Stories. Bunty and the Boys. Surly Bob. The Giant's Cradle. The Heir of Elmdale. The Mystery at The Grant's Craule. Aunt Lucia's Locket. The Magic Mirror. The Cost of Revenge. Shoneliff School. Claimed at Last, and Roy's Reward. Thorns and Tangles. Clever Frank. Among the Redskins. The Ferryman of Brill. Harry Maxwell. The Cuckoo in the Robin's Nest. John's Mistake. The History of Five Little Pitchers. A Banished Monarch. Diamonds in the Sand. Seventeen Cats. Illustrated Books for the Little Ones. Containing interesting Stories. All Illustrated. 1s. each ; cloth gilt, 1s. 6d. Scrambles and Scrapes. 2ittle Tattle Tales. Up and Down the Garden. All Sorts of Adventures. Our Sunday Stories. Our Holiday Hours. Indoors and Out. Some Farm Friends Wandering Ways. Dumb Friends. Those Golden Sands. Little Mothers & their Children. Our Pretty Pets. Our Schoolday Hours. Creatures Tame. Creatures Wild. Some Farm Friends.

Albums for Children. Price 3s. 6d. each. The Album for Home, School, and Play. Containing Stories by Popular Authors. Set in bold type, and Illustrate.l throughout. My Own Album of Animals. With Full-page Illustrations

Picture Album of All So.ts. With Full-page Illustrations.

The Chit-Chat Album. Illustrated throughout.

A Series of New and Original Volumes. The World's Workers. With Portraits printed on a tint as Frontispiece. IS. each.

Dr. Arnold of Rugby. By Rose E. Selfe. The Earl of Shaftesbury. By

The Earl of Shaftesbury. By Henry Frith.
Sarah Robinson, Agnes Wes-ton, and Mrs. Meredith. By E. M. Tomkinson.
Thomas A. Edison and Samuel F. B. Morse. By Dr. Denslow and J. Marsh Parker.
Mrs. Somerville and Mary Car-penter. By Phyllis Browne.
General Gordon. By the Rev. S. A. Swaine.
Charles Dickens. By his Eldest Daughter.

Daughter.

Sir Titus Salt and George Moore, By J. Burnley, David Livingstone, By Robert

Smiles.

- Florence Nightingale, Catherine Marsh, Frances Ridley Haver-gal, Mrs. Ranyard ("L. N. R."). By Lizzie Alldridge.
 Dr. Guthrie, Father Mathew, Elihu Burritt, George Livesey. By John W. Kirton, LL.D.
 Sir Henry Havelock and Colin Campbell Lord Clyde. By E. C. Phillips.
- Phillips

Abraham Lincoln. By Ernest Foster. George Müller and Andrew Reed. By E. R. Pitman. Richard Cobden. By R. Gowing.

Benjamin Franklin, By E. M. Tomkinson.

Handel. By Eliza Clarke. [Swaine. Turner the Artist. By the Rev. S. A. George and Robert Stephenson. By C. L. Matéaux.

•.• The above Works (excluding RICHARD COBDEN) can also be had Three in One Vol., cloth, gill edges, 3s.

Library of Wonders. Illustrated Gift-books for Boys. Paper, IS.; cloth, IS. 6d.

Wonderful Adventures. Wonders of Animal Instinct. Wonderful Balloon Ascents.

Wonders of Bodily Strength and Skill.

Cassell's Eighteenpenny Story Books. Illustrated. Wee Willie Winkie. Ups and Downs of a Donkey's Life. Three Wee Ulster Lassies. Up the Ladder. Dick's Hero; and other Stories. The Chip Boy. Raggles, Baggles, and the Emperor. Roses from Thorns.

- Gift Books for Young People. Original Illustrations in each. The Boy Hunters of Kentucky. By Edward S. Ellis.
 - Red Feather: a Tale of the American Frontier. By Edward S. Ellis.
 - Seeking a City.
 - Rhoda's Reward; or, "If
 - Wishes were Horses." Jack Marston's Anchor. Frank's Life-Battie; or, The Three Friends. Fritters. By Sarah Pitt. The Two Hardcastles. By Made-line Research Batter.

line Bonavia Hunt.

Cassell's Two-Shilling Story Books. Illustrated. Stories of the Tower. Mr. Burke's Nieces. May Cunningham's Trial. The Top of the Ladder: How to Little Flotsam. [Reach it.] Madge and Mor Friends. Madge and Her Friends. The Children of the Court. A Moonbeam Tangle. Maid Marjory. Peggy, and other Tales

Wonderful Escapes.

Faith's Father. By Land and Sea. The Young Eerringtons. Jeff and Leff. Tom Morris's Error. Worth more than Gold. "Through Flood-Through Fire:"

- and other Stories. The Girl with the Golden Locks.
- Stories of the Olden Time.

By Popular Authors. With Four Cloth gilt, 18. 6d. each.

Major Monk's Motto. By the Rev.

- F. Langbridge. Trixy. By Maggie Symington. Rags and Rainbows: A Story of Thanksgiving. Uncle William's Charges; or, The Broken Trust
- Broken Trust. Pretty Pink's Purpose; or, The Little Street Merchants. Tim Thomson's Trial. By Georg:
- Weatherly. Ursula's Stumbling-Block. By Julia
- Goddard. Ruth's Life-Work. By the Rev. Joseph Johnson.

The Four Cats of the Tippertons. Marion's Two Homes. Little Folks' Sunday Book. Two Fourpenny Bits. Poor Nelly. Tom Heriot. Through Peril to Fortune. Aunt Tabitha's Waifs. In Mischief Again. School Girls.

Selections from Cassell & Company's Publications.

NEW WORKS BY EDWARD S. ELLIS.

- Lost in Samoa. A Tale of Adventure in the Navigator Islands. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. Illustrated. 35. 6d.
- Tad; or, "Getting Even" with Him. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. Illus-trated. 3s. 6d.

The "Deerfoot" Series. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. With Four full-page Illustrations in each Book. Cloth, bevelled boards, 28. 6d. each. The Hunters of the Ozark. | The Camp in the Mountains. The Last War Trail.

The "Log Cabin" Series. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. With Four Fullpage Illustrations in each. Crown 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. each. The Lost Trail. Camp-Fire and Wigwam. Footprints in the Forest.

The "Great River" Series. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. Illustrated. Crown 8vo, cloth, bevelled boards, 2s. 6d. each. Down the Mississippi. Lost in the Wilds. Up the Tapajos; or, Adventures in Brazil.

The "Boy Pioneer" Series. By EDWARD S. ELLIS. With Four Fullpage Illustrations in each Book. Crown 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. each. Ned in the Woods. A Tale of Ned on the River. A Tale of Indian Early Days in the West. River Warfare. Ned in the Block House. A Story of Pioneer Life in Kentucky.

The "World in Pictures." Illustrated throughout. 25. 6d. each. A Ramble Round France. All the Russias. Chats about Germany The Land of the Pyramids (Egypt).

The Eastern Wonderland (Japar). Glimpses of South America. Round Africa. The Land of Temples (India). The Isles of the Pacific.

Peeps into China.

Half-Crown Story Books.

Little Hinges. Margaret's Enemy. Pen's Perplexities. Notable Shipwrecks. Golden Days. Wonders of Common Things. Truth will Out.

Three-and-Sixpenny Library of Standard Tales, &c. trated and bound in cloth gilt. Crown Svo. 35. 6d. each. The Half Sisters. Peggy Oglivie's Inheritance. The Family Honour.

Books for the Little Ones.

Rhymes for the Young Foik. By William Allingham, Beautifully Illustrated. 3s. 6d. The Pilgrim's Progress.

Coloured Illustrations. 2s. 6d. The History Scrap Book. With nearly 1,000 Engravings. 5s.; cloth, 7s. 6d.

Soldier and Patriot (George Washington). The Young Man in the Battle of Life. By the Rev. Dr. Landels. The True Glory of Woman. By the Rev. Dr. Landels. At the South 1 ole.

All Illus-

Krilof and his Fables. By W. R. S. Ralston, M.A. Fairy Tales. By Prof. Morley.

The Old Fairy Tales. With Original Illustrations. Boards, 1s.; cl., 1s. ed. My Diary, With 12 Coloured Plates and 366 Woodcuts, 1s.

The Sunday Scrap Book. With One Thousand Scripture Pictures. Boards, 55.; cloth, 75.6d.

Cassell & Company's Complete Catalogue will be sent fost free on application to

CASSELL & COMPANY, LIMITED, Ludgate Hill, London.







